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NOTI CE 
Thi s opi ni on i s subj ect  t o f ur t her  
edi t i ng and modi f i cat i on.   The f i nal  
ver si on wi l l  appear  i n t he bound 
vol ume of  t he of f i c i al  r epor t s.    
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STATE OF WI SCONSI N       :  I N SUPREME COURT 
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Cor nel i a G.  Cl ar k 
Cl er k of  Supr eme Cour t  

 
 

  

 

REVI EW of  a deci s i on of  t he Cour t  of  Appeal s.   Reversed and 

cause remanded.   

 

¶1 LOUI S B.  BUTLER,  JR. ,  J.    Ral ph Ar mst r ong seeks 

r evi ew of  an unpubl i shed cour t  of  appeal s '  deci s i on t hat  

af f i r med t he ci r cui t  cour t ' s  or der s denyi ng Ar mst r ong' s mot i ons 

t o vacat e hi s j udgment  of  convi ct i on and f or  r econsi der at i on.   

St at e v.  Ar mst r ong,  Nos.  2001AP2789 and 2002AP2979,  unpubl i shed 

sl i p.  op. ,  ¶1 ( Wi s.  Ct .  App.  May 27,  2004) .   The cour t  of  

appeal s det er mi ned t hat  newl y obt ai ned DNA t est s t hat  

est abl i shed Ar mst r ong was not  t he donor  of  cer t ai n bi ol ogi cal  

evi dence f ound at  a 1980 mur der  scene di d not  cr eat e a 
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r easonabl e pr obabi l i t y  t hat  t he out come woul d be di f f er ent  on 

r et r i al .  

¶2 We r ever se t he cour t  of  appeal s '  deci s i on.   Because 

( 1)  t he DNA evi dence excl udi ng Ar mst r ong as t he donor  of  t he 

physi cal  evi dence was r el evant  t o t he cr i t i cal  i ssue of  

i dent i f i cat i on;  ( 2)  t he j ur y di d not  hear  t hi s evi dence;  and ( 3)  

i nst ead,  t he St at e used t he physi cal  evi dence asser t i vel y and 

r epet i t i vel y as af f i r mat i ve pr oof  of  Ar mst r ong' s gui l t ,  we 

concl ude t hat  t he r eal  cont r over sy was not  f ul l y  t r i ed.   

Ther ef or e,  we r ever se t he ci r cui t  cour t ' s  or der  and r emand t hi s 

mat t er  t o t he c i r cui t  cour t  wi t h di r ect i ons t o gr ant  Ar mst r ong' s 

mot i on t o vacat e t he j udgment  of  convi ct i on and t o or der  a new 

t r i al . 1  

I  

¶3 On Mar ch 24,  1981,  Ral ph Ar mst r ong was convi ct ed of  

f i r st - degr ee sexual  assaul t  and f i r st - degr ee mur der  of  Char i se 

Kamps,  cont r ar y t o Wi s.  St at .  §§  940. 225( 1) ( a)  and 940. 01 

( 1979) .   Ar mst r ong was l at er  sent enced t o l i f e pl us 16 year s '  

i mpr i sonment .    

¶4 On t he af t er noon of  June 24,  1980,  Jane May,  

Ar mst r ong' s f i ancée,  di scover ed Kamps'  body i n Kamps'  apar t ment  

at  134 W.  Gor ham St r eet  i n Madi son,  Wi sconsi n.   Kamps was f ound 

                                                 
1 Accor di ng t o r epr esent at i ons made by t he St at e at  

Ar mst r ong' s l at est  post convi ct i on mot i on hear i ng,  Ar mst r ong has 
t o ser ve t he r emai nder  of  a 30-  t o 150- year  sent ence i n New 
Mexi co.  
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f ace down i n her  bed smear ed wi t h bl ood,  naked wi t h a bat hr obe 

bel t  dr aped acr oss her  back.  

¶5 Pat hol ogi st  Rober t  Hunt i ngt on concl uded t hat  Kamps 

most  l i kel y di ed f r om st r angul at i on.   He f ound subst ant i al  

i nj ur y t o Kamps'  anus,  vagi na,  and t hr oat  consi st ent  wi t h t he 

i nser t i on of  a bl unt ,  unyi el di ng obj ect . 2  He al so f ound si x 

br ui ses i n t i ssue bel ow t he scal p consi st ent  wi t h bei ng st r uck 

by a bl unt  obj ect .   Hunt i ngt on est i mat ed t hat  t he t i me of  deat h 

was bet ween mi dni ght  and 3: 00 a. m.  on June 24.  

¶6 Al t hough t he bed and pi l l ows wer e bl ood- soaked,  

i nvest i gat or s f ound no t r aces of  bl ood el sewher e i n t he 

apar t ment ,  i ncl udi ng t he bat hr oom.   The pol i ce al so f ound no 

i ndi cat i on t he k i l l er  at t empt ed t o c l ean t he scene or  hi msel f  or  

her sel f  i n t he apar t ment . 3  Pol i ce gat her ed f or ensi c evi dence,  

                                                 
2 Br i an Di l l man,  Kamps'  boyf r i end,  t est i f i ed t hat  a ni ne t o 

t en i nch t al l  gl ass f l ower  vase wi t h a wi de base and t aper i ng t o 
t he t op was mi ssi ng f r om Kamps'  ni ght st and when he vi ewed t he 
apar t ment  af t er  Kamps'  mur der .   Ther e i s no i ndi cat i on i n t he 
r ecor d t hat  t hi s gl ass vase was ever  r ecover ed or  t est ed.    

3 On t hi s poi nt ,  we not e t hat  Of f i cer  Dean Fi scher ,  a 
uni f or med speci al  i nvest i gat or  who wor ks cr i me scenes,  t est i f i ed 
t hat  he sear ched Kamps'  apar t ment  t o i dent i f y  anyt hi ng whi ch 
pot ent i al l y  was evi dence;  t hat  he di d not  obser ve bl ood or  
st ai ns anywher e el se i n t he apar t ment  asi de f r om t he bed;  t hat  
he speci f i cal l y  checked t he bat hr oom;  t hat  t he bat hr oom i n 
Kamps'  apar t ment  was " or der l y and cl ean" ;  t hat  he di d not  
obser ve any st ai ns i n t he bat hr oom;  and t hat  he f ound no bl ood 
i n t he bat hr oom.    
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i ncl udi ng f i nger pr i nt s,  head and pubi c hai r s f ound on and ar ound 

t he body and el sewher e i n t he apar t ment ,  pur por t ed bl ood 

evi dence,  and a bat hr obe f ound on t he f l oor  next  t o Kamps t hat  

l at er  r eveal ed semen st ai ns.  

¶7 Ar mst r ong and Kamps knew each ot her  and wer e f r i ends 

t hr ough Ar mst r ong' s f i ancée.   Ar mst r ong admi t t ed t o bei ng i n 

Kamps'  apar t ment  f or  a br i ef  per i od begi nni ng ar ound 9: 15 and 

9: 25 p. m.  t he eveni ng of  June 23,  j ust  hour s bef or e Kamps was 

mur der ed.   However ,  Ar mst r ong cl ai med t hat  he was not  t her e at  

t he t i mes when Kamps was mur der ed.    

¶8 The St at e bui l t  i t s  case agai nst  Ar mst r ong on t he 

f ol l owi ng:   ( 1)  t hat  Ar mst r ong coul d not  have been at  Kamps'  

apar t ment  bef or e her  mur der ;  ( 2)  t wo wi t nesses made obser vat i ons 

t hat  pl aced Ar mst r ong at  Kamps'  apar t ment  ar ound t he t i me she 

was mur der ed;  ( 3)  physi cal  evi dence concl usi vel y  and i r r ef ut abl y  

est abl i shed Ar mst r ong' s gui l t ,  i ncl udi ng ( a)  a f i nger pr i nt  

i dent i f i ed as Ar mst r ong' s f ound on a wat er  bong i n Kamps'  

apar t ment ;  ( b)  semen st ai ns on t he vi ct i m' s bat hr obe t hat  came 

                                                                                                                                                             
When speci f i cal l y asked,  " Was t her e any evi dence,  anyt hi ng 

whi ch you woul d have not i ced whi ch woul d have i ndi cat ed t hat  
somet hi ng had been cl eaned up?" ,  Fi scher  answer ed,  " Not hi ng t hat  
I  know of . "   When speci f i cal l y asked i f  any i nf or mat i on 
r egar di ng whet her  someone had c l eaned up i n t he bat hr oom had 
come t o hi s at t ent i on,  Fi scher  answer ed,  " No. "   When asked i f  
Fi scher  was " speci f i cal l y l ooki ng f or  anyt hi ng whi ch woul d be a 
c l ue, "  Fi scher  answer ed " Yes. "    

Thus,  t he j ur y  hear d t est i mony about  whet her  t he mur der er  
c l eaned up i n Kamps'  bat hr oom bef or e l eavi ng t he scene.   Compar e 
Roggensack,  J. ,  di ssent i ng,  ¶172 n. 4.   That  evi dence was t hat  
t he mur der er  di d not .   Compar e i d.    
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f r om a si mi l ar  secr et or  t ype as Ar mst r ong;  ( c)  f our  head hai r s 

f ound i n t he apar t ment  char act er i zed by t he St at e' s exper t  as 

" consi st ent "  and " s i mi l ar "  t o Ar mst r ong' s;  ( d)  t r aces of  bl ood 

under neat h Ar mst r ong' s f i nger nai l s and t oenai l s det ect ed t he 

eveni ng f ol l owi ng t he mur der ;  ( 4)  Ar mst r ong had a r omant i c 

i nt er est  i n Kamps t hat  she di d not  r et ur n;  and ( 5)  Ar mst r ong 

pai d Kamps $400 i n r epayment  of  a debt  and f ol l owi ng her  mur der ,  

t he $400 coul d not  be f ound i n her  apar t ment ,  whi l e Ar mst r ong 

made a $315 cash deposi t  t he next  day.    

¶9 The f ol l owi ng f act ual  backgr ound combi nes t he St at e' s 

poi nt s and spl i t s t hem i nt o t wo mai n subheadi ngs:   ( A)  

chr onol ogy of  event s on June 23 t hr ough June 24,  1980;  and ( B)  

evi dence t hat  pl aced Ar mst r ong at  t he scene.   Subsumed under  t he 

f i r st  subheadi ng i ncl udes Ar mst r ong' s expl anat i on,  and t he 

St at e' s r ef ut at i on,  of  hi s wher eabout s.   Subsumed under  t he 

second subheadi ng i ncl udes t he wi t nesses who pl aced Ar mst r ong at  

Kamps'  apar t ment  ar ound t he t i me of  her  deat h,  t he mi ssi ng money 

f r om Kamps'  apar t ment  t hat  i mpl i cat es Ar mst r ong as t he mur der er ,  

and,  f i nal l y,  t he physi cal  evi dence t he St at e c l ai med t hat  

" concl usi vel y"  and " i r r ef ut abl y"  est abl i shed Ar mst r ong was t he 

mur der er .  

A.  Chr onol ogy of  Event s on June 23 t hr ough June 24,  1980 

1.   Ear l y Eveni ng 

¶10 Char i se Kamps spent  t he eveni ng of  June 23,  1980,  i n 

t he company of  her  f r i ends,  i ncl udi ng Ral ph Ar mst r ong,  and hi s 

f i ancée,  Jane May.   May was Kamps'  c l ose f r i end and cowor ker  at  

t he Pi pef i t t er  on St at e St r eet ,  Madi son,  Wi sconsi n.   Kamps was 



No.  2001AP2789 & 2002AP2979   

 

6 
 

f r i ends wi t h Ar mst r ong t hr ough May.   I n t he ear l y eveni ng of  

June 23,  May i nvi t ed her  cowor ker s t o a smal l  par t y i n her  

apar t ment ,  l ocat ed above t he Pi pef i t t er  st or e at  519 St at e 

St r eet .   May,  Ar mst r ong,  Ar mst r ong' s br ot her  ( St eve) ,  Kamps,  and 

Ar mst r ong' s f r i end ( Gr eg Kohl har dt )  wer e t her e.   May' s 

cowor ker s,  Judy Mar t y and Bet sy Cor nel i us,  j oi ned t he par t y 

af t er  t he st or e c l osed ar ound 5: 30 p. m.    

¶11 Kamps,  Ar mst r ong,  and May al l  consumed al cohol  and 

used cocai ne at  t he par t y.   I n addi t i on,  Cor nel i us t est i f i ed 

t hat  Kamps,  St eve,  and Ar mst r ong al so smoked mar i j uana.    

¶12 Bot h Cor nel i us and Mar t y t est i f i ed t hey obser ved 

Ar mst r ong f l i r t i ng wi t h Kamps,  speci f i cal l y t hat  he sat  on her  

l ap and at t empt ed t o k i ss her .   Mar t y al so t est i f i ed t hat  she 

over hear d Ar mst r ong t el l  Kamps t hat  t hey woul d t al k l at er .   

Kohl har dt  t est i f i ed t hat  i t  was Kamps who sat  i n Ar mst r ong' s 

l ap,  and t hat  " They wer e j ust  bei ng——i t  seems f r i endl y t owar d 

each ot her ,  l aughi ng and st uf f . "  

¶13 At  about  6: 00 p. m. ,  Kamps'  boyf r i end,  Br i an Di l l man,  

t el ephoned May' s  apar t ment  f r om McGr egor ,  I owa,  and spoke wi t h 

Kamps.   Di l l man t est i f i ed t hat  he l oaned Ar mst r ong $500 f or  t he 

pur chase of  a car ,  and t hat  whi l e speaki ng wi t h Kamps at  t he 

par t y,  he over hear d Ar mst r ong gi v i ng Kamps money and i ndi cat i ng 

t hat  i t  was $400 i n par t i al  r epayment  f or  t he l oan.   May 

t est i f i ed t hat  bot h Kamps and Ar mst r ong had t ol d her  about  t he 

$400 r epayment .   Kohl har dt  t est i f i ed t hat  he al so wi t nessed 

Ar mst r ong gi v i ng money t o Kamps,  but  sai d t hat  he onl y saw t wo 

$20 bi l l s  pass bet ween t hem.  
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2.  6: 30 – 9: 00 p. m.  

¶14 Fol l owi ng t he par t y at  May' s apar t ment ,  May,  Kamps,  

Kohl har dt ,  St eve,  and Ar mst r ong went  t o a l ocal  r est aur ant  f or  

di nner  f r om about  6: 30 t o 8: 00 p. m. ,  and t hen bought  beer  on t he 

way t o Kohl har dt ' s house t o wat ch t he t el evi s i on pr ogr am MASH.   

A member  of  t he Madi son Pol i ce ver i f i ed a newspaper  t el evi s i on 

schedul e showi ng MASH pl ayed f r om 8: 00 t o 8: 30 p. m.  t hat  

eveni ng.   I mmedi at el y f ol l owi ng t he concl usi on of  MASH,  t he 

gr oup l ef t  Kohl har dt  at  Kohl har dt ' s house.   

¶15 Ther e i s some conf usi on as t o when t he gr oup dr ove t o 

Ar mst r ong' s apar t ment ,  l ocat ed at  5572 Gui l f or d i n Fi t chbur g,  

Wi sconsi n,  t o dr op of f  St eve f or  t he eveni ng.   May t est i f i ed 

t hat  t he gr oup went  t o Ar mst r ong' s apar t ment  af t er  di nner  and 

bef or e wat chi ng MASH at  Kohl har dt ' s house.    

¶16 However ,  Kohl har dt  t est i f i ed t hat  St eve j oi ned t hem 

wat chi ng MASH at  Kohl har dt ' s house f ol l owi ng di nner .   Fur t her  

suppor t i ng Kohl har dt ' s t est i mony was t he t est i mony of  

Ar mst r ong' s nei ghbor ,  Pat r i c i a Emmer i ch,  who st opped by 

Ar mst r ong' s apar t ment  t o meet  St eve a f ew mi nut es af t er  9 p. m.  

and sai d t hat  St eve,  Ar mst r ong,  and Kamps wer e pr esent .     

Ar mst r ong t est i f i ed t hat  May was al so wi t h t hem when Emmer i ch 

st opped by at  9: 00 p. m.  but  t hat  May was i n t he bedr oom at  t he 

t i me,  packi ng up her  t hi ngs f r om t he pr evi ous ni ght ' s v i s i t .    

3.   9: 00 p. m.  onwar d 

¶17 I t  i s  di sput ed what  occur r ed bet ween 9: 00 p. m.  and 

10: 00 p. m.  on t he eveni ng of  June 23,  but  t r i al  t est i mony 

cl ear l y shows t hat  ar ound 10: 00 p. m. ,  Ar mst r ong,  May,  and Kamps 
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ended up i n May' s apar t ment  and wat ched par t  of  t he 10: 00 p. m.  

news t oget her  whi l e usi ng cocai ne.   Bot h May and Ar mst r ong 

t est i f i ed t hat  Kamps l ef t  May' s apar t ment  at  about  a quar t er  t o 

11: 00 p. m.  and t hat  Ar mst r ong l ef t  about  15 mi nut es l at er .  

¶18 A f r i end of  Kamps,  Mi chael  Er denber ger ,  t est i f i ed at  

t r i al  t hat  Kamps cal l ed hi m at  hi s apar t ment  at  10: 52 p. m.  on 

June 23.   Er denber ger  sai d t hat  Kamps was l ooki ng f or  Di l l man.   

He al so sai d t hat  dur i ng t hei r  t wo- mi nut e conver sat i on,  Kamps 

di d not  seem exci t ed.    

¶19 May spoke wi t h Kamps by t el ephone at  some poi nt  

bet ween 11: 00 p. m.  and 11: 15 p. m.  t o di scuss pl ans t o go wat er -

ski i ng t he next  day.   May' s phone cal l  was t he l ast  t i me any 

wi t ness admi t t ed t o havi ng cont act  wi t h Kamps.     

¶20 Di l l man t est i f i ed t hat  he t r i ed t o r each Kamps sever al  

t i mes bet ween 2: 00 and 2: 30 a. m.  on June 24 but  r ecei ved a busy 

si gnal .   Di l l man cal l ed agai n bet ween 9: 30 and 10: 00 a. m.  wi t h 

t he same r esul t ,  and f i nal l y cal l ed May at  about  12: 15 p. m.  t o 

ask her  t o st op by Kamps'  apar t ment .  

¶21 May t est i f i ed t hat  at  about  12: 40 p. m. ,  she di scover ed 

Kamps'  body,  not i c i ng t hat  t he t el ephone r ecei ver  was of f  t he 

hook,  as i f  i t  had been i nt ent i onal l y pl aced asi de.   May t hen 

r an back t o t he Pi pef i t t er  and had one of  her  cowor ker s cal l  t he 

pol i ce.  

a.   Ar mst r ong' s Account  of  Hi s Wher eabout s  

¶22 Ar mst r ong t est i f i ed t hat  at  about  9: 00 p. m. ,  whi l e he,  

Kamps,  and May vi s i t ed hi s apar t ment  t o dr op of f  hi s br ot her ,  

St eve,  he t el ephoned Br ent  Goodman at  153 Har di ng St r eet ,  
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Madi son,  Wi sconsi n,  t o i nqui r e about  buyi ng mor e cocai ne.   

Goodman t est i f i ed t hat  he had sol d cocai ne t o Ar mst r ong ear l i er  

t hat  af t er noon and cor r obor at ed t he 9: 00 p. m.  t el ephone 

conver sat i on wi t h Ar mst r ong,  i n whi ch Ar mst r ong sai d t hat  he 

woul d st op by Goodman' s house i n a hal f - hour .  

¶23 Ar mst r ong t est i f i ed t hat  he,  Kamps,  and May l ef t  

Ar mst r ong' s apar t ment  and dr opped May of f  at  her  apar t ment .   I n 

t he par ki ng l ot  behi nd May' s apar t ment  bui l di ng,  Ar mst r ong sai d 

t hat  he and Kamps swi t ched f r om hi s t o Kamps'  vehi c l e,  whi ch was 

par ked i n t he same l ot .   

¶24 On t he way t o Goodman' s house,  Ar mst r ong t est i f i ed 

t hat  Kamps i nvi t ed Ar mst r ong up t o her  apar t ment  f or  a beer  

somet i me bet ween 9: 15 and 9: 25 p. m.   Ar mst r ong accept ed,  and he 

sai d he had a hal f - gl ass of  or ange j ui ce and a can of  beer .   He 

al so t est i f i ed t hat  he had t o move a gl ass bong of f  a t abl e so 

t hat  he coul d put  hi s dr i nk down,  expl ai ni ng why hi s f i nger pr i nt  

was f ound on t he bong i n Kamps'  apar t ment .   Ar mst r ong sai d he 

pl ayed some musi c on t he st er eo and t al ked wi t h Kamps f or  a 

shor t  whi l e bef or e t he t wo cont i nued on t o Goodman' s.   

¶25 At  Goodman' s,  Ar mst r ong t est i f i ed t hat  he and Kamps 

pur chased about  0. 4 gr ams of  cocai ne and t hen r et ur ned t o May' s 

apar t ment  bet ween 10: 00 and 10: 30 p. m. ,  wher e Ar mst r ong,  May,  

and Kamps used t he cocai ne and wat ched t el evi s i on.  

¶26 Ar mst r ong t est i f i ed t hat  Kamps l ef t  at  about  10: 45 

p. m. ,  and Ar mst r ong sai d t hat  he l ef t  about  15 mi nut es l at er  t o 

r et ur n t o hi s apar t ment  t o v i s i t  wi t h hi s br ot her .   Ar mst r ong 

st at ed t hat  af t er  he ar r i ved at  hi s apar t ment ,  he made sever al  
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phone cal l s,  at t empt i ng t o f i nd a di f f er ent  sour ce f or  mor e 

cocai ne,  but  was unsuccessf ul .   Ar mst r ong sai d he t hen t r i ed t o 

phone Kamps t o l et  her  know t hat  he was unabl e t o f i nd mor e 

cocai ne but  r ecei ved a busy si gnal .  

¶27 Ar mst r ong sai d he t hen dr ove back t o May' s apar t ment  

and est i mat ed t hat  he ar r i ved at  about  1: 00 a. m. ,  j udgi ng f r om 

t he bar  t r af f i c  ar ound St at e St r eet .   Ar mst r ong t est i f i ed t hat  

when he r et ur ned t o May' s apar t ment ,  he ent er ed t hr ough t he f i r e 

escape at  t he back of  t he bui l di ng,  not  t he f r ont  st ai r case.   

Ar mst r ong expl ai ned t hat  he woul d gener al l y ent er  t he bui l di ng 

usi ng t he f i r e escape,  because he di d not  have a key t o get  

t hr ough t he f r ont  door . 4 

¶28 May t est i f i ed t hat  she est i mat ed t he t i me Ar mst r ong 

r et ur ned t o her  apar t ment  f or  t he eveni ng was ar ound 1: 00 a. m. ,  

j udgi ng f r om t he noi se out si de r esembl i ng bar  t i me.   However ,  

May admi t t ed st at i ng at  t he John Doe hear i ng t hat  Ar mst r ong' s 

r et ur n coul d have been as l at e as 3: 00 or  3: 30 a. m.   Al so,  May 

acknowl edged t hat  she t ol d t wo cowor ker s t he next  mor ni ng t hat  

                                                 
4 Char l es Lul l i ng,  an i nvest i gat or  f or  t he def ense t est i f i ed 

t hat  t he door s t o t he f i r e escape wer e unl ocked.    

Ter r y Fi nk,  a r esi dent  i n May' s apar t ment  bui l di ng and who 
l i ves bel ow May' s apar t ment ,  t est i f i ed t hat  she had once used 
t he f i r e escape when she l ost  her  keys and coul d not  get  i nt o 
t he bui l di ng t hr ough t he f r ont .   However ,  Fi nk al so t est i f i ed 
t hat  shr ubs and bushes bl ocked t he pat h f r om t he al l ey behi nd 
t he apar t ment  bui l di ng t o t he f i r e escape and t hat  i t  i s  not  a 
pat h t hat  one woul d nor mal l y choose.   Addi t i onal l y,  Fi nk st at ed 
t hat  whi l e she was awake i n her  apar t ment  bet ween 3: 30 a. m.  and 
5: 00 a. m. ,  she hear d somebody come up t he f r ont  st ai r wel l .  
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Ar mst r ong was not  wi t h her  t hat  ni ght ,  l at er  expl ai ni ng t hat  i t  

was a f al se comment ,  a " f l i p r emar k. "  

b.  The St at e' s Ref ut at i on of  Ar mst r ong' s 

Wher eabout s 

¶29 The St at e pr esent ed t est i mony t hat  t he di st ances 

bet ween May' s,  Kamps'  and Goodman' s apar t ment s wer e t oo gr eat  

f or  Ar mst r ong' s ver si on of  event s t o be pl ausi bl e.   Madi son 

Pol i ce Det ect i ve Theodor e Mel l  t est i f i ed t hat  he dr ove t he 

r out es bet ween t he var i ous apar t ment s at  f i ve t o t en mi l es per  

hour  f ast er  t han t he speed l i mi t  and st at ed t hat  t he t i me 

bet ween Ar mst r ong' s apar t ment  at  5572 Gui l f or d and May' s  

apar t ment  at  519 St at e St r eet  was t en mi nut es and 27 seconds.   

He f ur t her  t est i f i ed t hat  t he dr i v i ng t i me bet ween May' s  

apar t ment  and Goodman' s,  l ocat ed at  153 Har di ng St r eet ,  was t en 

mi nut es and 22 seconds.   

¶30 As not ed above,  Emmer i ch t est i f i ed t hat  she v i s i t ed 

Ar mst r ong i n hi s apar t ment  a f ew mi nut es af t er  9: 00 p. m.   

Goodman t est i f i ed t hat  Kamps and Ar mst r ong st opped by at  about  

9: 30 p. m.   Goodman di d not  not e t he pr eci se t i me but  est i mat ed 

t hat  Ar mst r ong and Kamps l ef t  hi s home bet ween 9: 35 p. m.  and 

9: 45 p. m.   Ar mst r ong and Kamps r et ur ned t o May' s apar t ment  at  

about  10: 00 p. m.   The St at e ar gued t hat  gi ven t he dr i v i ng t i mes,  

Ar mst r ong coul d not  have vi s i t ed Kamps'  apar t ment  at  t he t i me 

Ar mst r ong st at ed——ar ound 9: 30 p. m. ——because Goodman pl aced 
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Ar mst r ong and Kamps at  hi s house t en mi nut es away,  at  t he same 

moment . 5 

¶31 To r ef ut e Ar mst r ong' s st or y t hat  he r et ur ned t o May' s 

apar t ment  at  about  1: 00 a. m. ,  t he St at e pr esent ed t wo r esi dent s 

of  May' s bui l di ng who t he St at e ar gued woul d have seen or  hear d 

Ar mst r ong i f  he had ent er ed at  t hat  hour .   Ter r y Fi nk t est i f i ed 

t hat  t he musi c i an Jackson Br owne was maki ng a pr omot i onal  f i l m 

on St at e St r eet ,  i ncl udi ng f i l mi ng out si de t he Pi pef i t t er .   Fi nk 

st at ed t hat  f r om f i ve or  t en mi nut es bef or e 1: 00 a. m.  unt i l  1: 45 

a. m. ,  she was on t he si dewal k wi t hi n t en f eet  of  t he f r ont  

apar t ment  door ,  obser vi ng t he f i l m cr ew and chat t i ng wi t h 

f r i ends.   Fi nk t est i f i ed t hat  she never  saw Ar mst r ong i n t he 

ar ea or  ent er  t he apar t ment s dur i ng t hat  t i me.  

¶32 Jef f  Zuba was t he r esi dent  manager  f or  t he apar t ment s 

di r ect l y above t he Pi pef i t t er .   Zuba t est i f i ed he was i n hi s 

apar t ment  at  9: 00 p. m. ,  wai t i ng f or  t he f i l m cr ew t o cont act  hi m 

about  t ur ni ng on t he st or e' s l i ght s,  and r emai ned i n hi s 

apar t ment  wi t h t he door  open t hr oughout  t he eveni ng.   The f r ont  

door  of  t he apar t ment  bui l di ng had a secur i t y l ock but  was 

pr opped open wi t h a br i ck t hat  ni ght  f or  t he benef i t  of  t he f i l m 

                                                 
5 Ar mst r ong ar gued t hat  t he dr i v i ng t i mes pr esent ed by t he 

St at e wer e unr easonabl e,  cr eat i ng an aver age dr i v i ng speed of  
s l i ght l y mor e t han 26 mi l es per  hour .   I f  Ar mst r ong had been 
dr i v i ng an aver age of  40 mi l es per  hour ,  t he di f f er ence i n speed 
woul d cr eat e enough t i me f or  Ar mst r ong' s expl anat i on of  hi s 
v i s i t  t o Kamps'  apar t ment  t o become r easonabl e.   Addi t i onal l y,  
Goodman was not  pr eci se about  t he t i me he pr ovi ded and gave 
r ough est i mat es of  t he t i me Ar mst r ong and Kamps ar r i ved and t he 
dur at i on of  t hei r  st ay.    
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cr ew.   Zuba t est i f i ed t hat  hi s apar t ment  door  was opposi t e t he 

door  at  t he t op of  t he f r ont  st ai r case and t hat  he coul d hear  

anyone ent er i ng or  l eavi ng t he bui l di ng.    

¶33 Zuba st at ed t hat  bet ween 10: 00 and 10: 15 p. m. ,  Kamps 

poked her  head i n t o say hel l o.   Zuba al so hear d Ar mst r ong' s 

voi ce i n t he st ai r way but  di d not  see hi m.    

¶34 Zuba sai d he went  downst ai r s t o t he s i dewal k i n f r ont  

of  t he Pi pef i t t er  t hr ee t i mes t hat  eveni ng t o check on t he 

cr ew' s pr ogr ess,  but  he cl ai med he di d not  wander  f ar  f r om t he 

apar t ment ' s ent r ance.   Zuba r et ur ned t o hi s apar t ment  f or  t he 

l ast  t i me about  12: 45 a. m.  and kept  hi s apar t ment  door  open 

unt i l  he went  t o bed at  about  1: 15 a. m.   He di d not  see or  hear  

Ar mst r ong l eave or  r et ur n t o t he bui l di ng.  

¶35 Wi t h r egar d t o Ar mst r ong' s t est i mony t hat  he r et ur ned 

t o May' s apar t ment  at  about  1: 00 a. m.  t hr ough t he f i r e escape at  

t he back of  t he bui l di ng,  Zuba admi t t ed t hat  he woul d not  have 

hear d someone ent er i ng or  l eavi ng by t he back st ai r way.      

¶36 A Madi son Pol i ce Of f i cer ,  Vi v i an Beckwi t h,  t est i f i ed 

on behal f  of  t he St at e dur i ng r ebut t al .   She i ssued a t i cket  f or  

Ar mst r ong' s vehi c l e shor t l y bef or e 11: 00 a. m.  on June 24 f or  

par ki ng i n t he pr i vat e l ot  adj acent  t o t he Pi pef i t t er .   The 

St at e ar gued t hat  t he t i cket  was concr et e evi dence t hat  

cont r adi ct ed Ar mst r ong' s t est i mony t hat  he par ked i n t he l ot  

behi nd t he bui l di ng t hat  made hi s ent r y t hr ough t he back door  

much l ess l i kel y.  

B.   Evi dence Pl aci ng Ar mst r ong at  t he Mur der  Scene 

 1.   Wi t nesses 
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¶37 The St at e pr esent ed t wo wi t nesses t o suppor t  i t s  

t heor y t hat  Ar mst r ong went  t o Kamps'  apar t ment  af t er  mi dni ght ,  

i nst ead of  bef or e 10: 00 p. m. ,  as Ar mst r ong asser t ed.    

a.   Laur a Chaf ee 

¶38 The f i r st  wi t ness was Laur a Chaf ee. 6  She l i ved at  134 

West  Gor ham i n t he apar t ment  di r ect l y bel ow Kamps'  and hear d 

some musi c,  whi ch seemed t o be comi ng f r om upst ai r s,  st ar t i ng at  

about  12: 05 a. m.   Chaf ee t est i f i ed t hat  she had not  hear d musi c 

f r om Kamps'  apar t ment  ear l i er  i n t he eveni ng.   Det ect i ves f r om 

t he Madi son Pol i ce Depar t ment  had Chaf ee si t  i n her  apar t ment  

and l i s t en t o musi c pl ayed i n Kamps'  apar t ment .   Chaf ee 

t est i f i ed t hat  t he sound was si mi l ar .   Josef  Rut ,  a Madi son 

Pol i ce Of f i cer ,  t est i f i ed t hat  he r emoved a Gr and Funk al bum 

f r om Kamps'  st er eo.   Di l l man,  Kamps'  boyf r i end,  t est i f i ed t hat  

Ar mst r ong had once pl ayed Gr and Funk Sur vi val  f or  hi m.   Di l l man 

sai d t hat  a copy of  t he al bum was on Kamps'  t ur nt abl e when he 

accompani ed i nvest i gat or s on a wal k- t hr ough of  her  apar t ment  

sever al  days af t er  her  mur der .   Judy Mar t y,  who wor ked at  t he 

Pi pef i t t er  and was at  May' s par t y on June 23,  al so t est i f i ed 

                                                 
6 Laur a Chaf ee' s r ecol l ect i ons wer e appar ent l y r ef r eshed 

t hr ough hypnosi s.   However ,  t hi s was not  expl or ed at  t r i al  by 
ei t her  t he St at e or  by Ar mst r ong.    
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t hat  Ar mst r ong had once t ol d her  t hat  Gr and Funk Sur vi val  was 

among hi s f avor i t es and t hat  he pl ayed t he al bum f or  her . 7   

b.   Ri cci e Or ebi a 

¶39 Ri cci e Or ebi a was t he second wi t ness t he St at e 

pr esent ed t o pl ace Ar mst r ong at  Kamps'  apar t ment  at  t he t i me of  

t he mur der . 8  Or ebi a l i ved at  120 W.  Gor ham and sat  on hi s por ch 

f r om shor t l y af t er  10: 30 p. m.  unt i l  al most  4 a. m.  on t he ni ght  

of  June 23 and dur i ng t he ear l y mor ni ng of  June 24.   Or ebi a di d 

not  have a wat ch or  c l ock avai l abl e,  but  asked a passer - by f or  

t he t i me and was t ol d i t  was about  11: 45 p. m.    

¶40 Based on t hat  t i me,  Or ebi a est i mat ed t hat  at  about  

12: 30 p. m. ,  he saw a whi t e car  wi t h a bl ack t op pass on West  

Gor ham and descr i bed t he dr i ver  as havi ng dar k,  shoul der - l engt h 

hai r . 9  Or ebi a saw t he car  pass a second t i me and par k out  of  

v i ew acr oss t he st r eet .    

¶41 About  f i ve or  t en mi nut es l at er ,  Or ebi a saw a per son 

wal k f r om t he di r ect i on of  t he par ki ng l ot ,  cr oss t he st r eet ,  

                                                 
7 At  t r i al ,  Ar mst r ong ar gued t hat  Gr and Funk Sur vi val  was a 

popul ar  al bum l i ked and owned by many,  i ncl udi ng Ar mst r ong,  May,  
and Kamps.   As pr evi ousl y not ed,  Ar mst r ong t est i f i ed t hat  he 
vi s i t ed Kamps'  apar t ment  bet ween 9: 00 and 10: 00 p. m.  Ar mst r ong 
coul d not  r emember ,  however ,  whet her  he put  a r ecor d on her  
st er eo or  j ust  t ur ned on her  r ecei ver .  

8 Ri cci e Or ebi a was l i v i ng as a t r ansvest i t e at  t he t i me of  
t r i al  and was r ef er r ed t o i n t he f emi ni ne.   I n t he r ecor d f r om 
t he post convi ct i on mot i on hear i ng and i n t he cour t  of  appeal s 
opi ni on,  Or ebi a i s i dent i f i ed i n t he mascul i ne.   We wi l l  do t he 
same.    

9 Ar mst r ong t est i f i ed t hat  he bought  a bl ack- over - whi t e 
Pl ymout h Sat el l i t e wi t h t he money he bor r owed f r om Di l l man.    
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and ent er  Kamps'  apar t ment  bui l di ng.   Or ebi a descr i bed t he 

per son he obser ved as l ean and ver y muscul ar . 10  About  f i ve t o 

t en mi nut es af t er  t hat ,  t he same man l ef t  t he bui l di ng and 

headed back t he di r ect i on he had come.   Or ebi a t est i f i ed t hat  

anot her  f i ve mi nut es passed,  and t he same per son cr ossed t he 

st r eet ,  ent er ed t he bui l di ng a second t i me,  and t hen,  af t er  

st ayi ng i nsi de anot her  f i ve mi nut es,  l ef t  agai n t hi s t i me 

wi t hout  wear i ng a shi r t .   Or ebi a st at ed t hat  f i ve mor e mi nut es 

passed,  and t he same per son r an acr oss t he st r eet  t o t he 

bui l di ng a t hi r d t i me,  st ayed f or  about  20 mi nut es,  and t hen 

l ef t  r unni ng ver y f ast ,  " shi ni ng"  as i f  he wer e oi l y.   Or ebi a 

t hen obser ved t he bl ack- over - whi t e car  speedi ng away f r om t he 

par ki ng l ot .  

¶42 Thomas Ander son,  anot her  r esi dent  i n Or ebi a' s 

bui l di ng,  t est i f i ed t hat  on t he af t er noon of  June 24,  Or ebi a 

shar ed t he f ol l owi ng descr i pt i on of  what  he obser ved t he ni ght  

bef or e:  a muscul ar  man wi t h l ar ge ar ms and a f l at  st omach r an i n 

and out  of  Kamps'  bui l di ng wi t hout  a shi r t  on and t hat  a bl ack-

over - whi t e vehi c l e sped away f r om t he scene.  

i .  Or ebi a' s Hypnot i cal l y Enhanced Memor y 

¶43 Sever al  days af t er  t he mur der  and pr i or  t o any pol i ce 

i dent i f i cat i on pr ocedur e,  Or ebi a under went  hypnosi s t o enhance 

hi s memor y. 11  Dr .  Roger  A.  McKi nl ey per f or med t he hypnosi s,  and 

                                                 
10 Gr eg Kohl har dt ,  Ar mst r ong' s f r i end,  t est i f i ed t hat  

Ar mst r ong was par t i cul ar l y st r ong and t hat  he had once wi t nessed 
Ar mst r ong r i p a f ul l  deck of  car ds i n hal f .  

11 I n r esponse t o Ar mst r ong' s at t ack on Or ebi a' s cr edi bi l i t y  
wi t h r egar d t o hi s r ecant at i ons and t he ef f ect  of  hypnosi s,  t he 
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Det ect i ve Rober t  Lombar do of  t he Madi son Pol i ce Depar t ment  was 

pr esent  dur i ng t he pr ocess t o pr ovi de McKi nl ey wi t h i nf or mat i on 

about  i mpor t ant  ar eas t o cover .   McKi nl ey t est i f i ed t hat  pr i or  

t o hypnosi s,  Or ebi a gave hi m a descr i pt i on of  t he man Or ebi a 

obser ved,  i ndi cat i ng t hat  he had shoul der - l engt h hai r ,  a 

muscul ar  bui l d,  and t hat  he was r unni ng and sweat i ng when he 

l ef t  t he scene.  

¶44 McKi nl ey t est i f i ed t hat  dur i ng t he hypnot i c sessi on,  

Or ebi a descr i bed par t i cul ar  f eat ur es of  t he suspect ' s f ace,  

i ncl udi ng t hat  t he suspect  had a l ong nose and bushy eyebr ows.   

McKi nl ey admi t t ed t hat  i f  Or ebi a woul d not  have been abl e t o 

make out  t he det ai l  of  Ar mst r ong' s f ace because of  l i ght i ng 

condi t i ons,  t hen any descr i pt i on he gave of  Ar mst r ong' s nose,  

eyebr ows,  and ot her  f eat ur es woul d have t o be " conf abul at i on. " 12 

¶45 Phot ogr aphs of  Ar mst r ong and t he vehi c l e wer e passed 

bet ween Lombar do and McKi nl ey dur i ng t he hypnot i c sessi on,  i n 

f r ont  of  Or ebi a.   McKi nl ey t est i f i ed t hat  i n hi s pr esence Or ebi a 

was never  shown phot ogr aphs of  Ar mst r ong.   However ,  Lombar do 

st at ed t hat  Or ebi a saw phot ogr aphs of  Ar mst r ong' s vehi c l e when 

he handed t hem t o McKi nl ey dur i ng t he sessi on and t hat  Or ebi a 

                                                                                                                                                             
St at e emphasi zed t hat  Or ebi a' s ear l y descr i pt i on mat ched hi s 
t r i al  t est i mony.  

 
12 Dr .  Ki hl st r om,  Ar mst r ong' s hypnosi s exper t ,  def i ned 

" conf abul at i on"  as t he cr eat i on or  al t er at i on of  memor i es 
t hr ough such suggest i on t hat  t he subj ect  coul d wake f r om t he 
hypnot i c st at e and r emember  somet hi ng t hat  act ual l y never  
occur r ed.    
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had al so seen phot os of  t he car  pr i or  t o hypnosi s.   McKi nl ey 

def ended hi s hypnosi s pr ocedur e wi t h Or ebi a as non- suggest i ve.   

¶46 At  t r i al ,  Ar mst r ong was cr i t i cal  of  t he deci s i on t o 

subj ect  Or ebi a t o hypnosi s.  Lombar do ar gued t hat  pr i or  t o 

hypnosi s Or ebi a st at ed he woul d have been abl e t o i dent i f y t he 

per son he had seen. 13  

¶47 Ar mst r ong pr esent ed t he t est i mony of  Dr .  John F.  

Ki hl st r om,  a psychol ogy pr of essor  who t est i f i ed t o t he ef f ect s  

of  hypnosi s on memor y.   Ki hl st r om st at ed t hat  hypnosi s can be 

used t o access memor i es t hat  ar e not  or di nar i l y  memor abl e i n t he 

wakened st at e,  but  t he hypnot i st  al so r uns an equal  r i sk of  

conf abul at i on. 14  Ki hl st r om st at ed t hat  pr ecaut i ons t o l i mi t  t he 

i nt r oduct i on of  i nadver t ent  suggest i on i ncl ude keepi ng t he 

hypnot i st  bl i nd t o t he f act s of  t he case,  and t o conduct  t he 

sessi on out  of  t he pr esence of  an i nvest i gat or  who coul d suggest  

par t i cul ar  v i ews.  

¶48 Dur i ng hi s t est i mony,  Ki hl st r om pr esent ed excer pt s 

f r om t he vi deot aped sessi on bet ween McKi nl ey and Or ebi a.   

Ki hl st r om not ed t hat  Lombar do was i n t he r oom dur i ng t he 

sessi on,  and t hat  Or ebi a i ni t i al l y  descr i bed t he suspect  as 

bei ng f i ve- f eet ,  t hr ee i nches t o f i ve- f eet  f i ve- i nches t al l ,  but  

McKi nl ey suggest i vel y i nqui r ed about  a hei ght  of  s i x f eet  t al l  

                                                 
13 Or ebi a al so t est i f i ed t hat  he woul d have been abl e t o 

make a posi t i ve i dent i f i cat i on wi t hout  hypnosi s and t hat  t he 
suggest i on t o under go hypnosi s was Lombar do' s.  

14 See f oot not e 11 f or  Ar mst r ong' s  exper t ' s  def i ni t i on of  
conf abul at i on.  
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unt i l  Or ebi a agr eed wi t h t hat  hei ght .   Ar mst r ong' s at t or ney 

st at ed t hat  Ar mst r ong i s s i x- f eet ,  t wo i nches t al l .    

i i .   Or ebi a' s Li ne- up I dent i f i cat i on of  Ar mst r ong 

¶49 I n t he ear l y mor ni ng hour s of  Jul y 1,  1980,  af t er  

Or ebi a had under gone hypnosi s,  t he Madi son Pol i ce Depar t ment  

ar r anged a l i ne- up pr ocedur e at  134 West  Gor ham.   Ar mst r ong' s 

at t or ney at  t he t i me,  Denni s Bur ke,  i nst r uct ed Ar mst r ong not  t o 

cooper at e and Ar mst r ong compl i ed wi t h Bur ke' s di r ect i on.   The 

pol i ce t hen r et ur ned Ar mst r ong t o j ai l . 15  The l i ne- up was 

r eschedul ed and hel d i n t he ear l y mor ni ng hour s of  Jul y 3,  1980.   

Agai n,  Bur ke had i nst r uct ed Ar mst r ong not  t o cooper at e.   

Det ect i ve Fr anci s McCoy t est i f i ed t hat  at  about  4: 00 a. m.  on 

Jul y 3,  he r equest ed t hat  Ar mst r ong put  on a shi r t ,  a pai r  of  

j eans and a pai r  of  cowboy boot s t o mat ch t he ot her  l i ne- up 

par t i c i pant s,  but  Ar mst r ong r ef used.   

¶50 At  t he l i ne up,  t wo pol i ce of f i cer s wal ked wi t h each 

of  t he f i ve l i ne- up par t i c i pant s acr oss West  Gor ham,  up t o t he 

por ch of  Kamps'  apar t ment  at  134 West  Gor ham,  and t hen back t he 

opposi t e di r ect i on.   Ar mst r ong was t he second per son t o go and 

he went  l i mp as soon as he and t he t wo of f i cer s accompanyi ng hi m 

came i nt o v i ew of  t he obser ver s st andi ng on t he por ch of  120 

West  Gor ham.   Det ect i ve Roger  At t oe and a pat r ol man accompani ed 

Ar mst r ong and dr agged hi m up t o t he por ch of  Kamps'  apar t ment  

and back agai n.   Det ect i ve At t oe t est i f i ed t hat  Ar mst r ong l ost  

                                                 
15 Ar mst r ong was pr evi ousl y ar r est ed i n connect i on wi t h 

Kamps'  mur der .    
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hi s shoes al ong t he way and made t he st at ement ,  " bet t er  a l i t t l e 

pai n now t han l i f e i mpr i sonment  l at er . "   The pol i ce t ook t he 

t hr ee r emai ni ng par t i c i pant s al ong t he same r out e.   

¶51 The f i ve l i ne- up par t i c i pant s wer e t hen each hel d by 

t wo pol i ce of f i cer s i n f r ont  of  a pol i ce van and Or ebi a was 

br ought  down t o t he par ki ng l ot  t o obser ve.   Or ebi a wal ked down 

t o v i ew t he par t i c i pant s at  a di st ance of  about  25 f eet .   The 

t est i mony of  t he St at e' s wi t ness,  Det ect i ve McCoy,  and t he 

def ense' s wi t ness,  At t or ney Bur ke,  di f f er  as t o whet her  

Ar mst r ong was sl umpi ng or  st andi ng at  f ul l  hei ght  at  t he t i me 

Or ebi a v i ewed t he l i ne- up i n f r ont  of  t he van.   

¶52 At  t r i al ,  Or ebi a t est i f i ed t hat  upon seei ng 

Ar mst r ong' s head come i nt o v i ew dur i ng t he f i r st  por t i on of  t he 

l i ne- up,  he gasped and ment i oned t o pol i ce of f i cer s st andi ng 

wi t h hi m t hat  Ar mst r ong was t he per son he saw l eavi ng t he mur der  

scene.  

¶53 Or ebi a al so st at ed t hat  he r ecogni zed t hat  t he ot her  

l i ne- up par t i c i pant s,  i ncl udi ng t he f i r st  par t i c i pant ,  wer e 

wear i ng shoul der - l engt h wi gs and ment i oned t hat  obser vat i on t o 

t he of f i cer s st andi ng wi t h hi m.   Or ebi a t est i f i ed t hat  t he 

pol i ce t ol d hi m t hat  t hey had a man i n cust ody who woul d be i n 

t he l i ne- up,  however ,  t he pol i ce al so i nst r uct ed Or ebi a not  t o 

pi ck anyone unl ess he was sur e.   Or ebi a admi t t ed t o t el l i ng 

At t or ney Bur ke t hat  as f ar  as he was concer ned,  t he l i ne- up was 

f i xed.   
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i i i .   Or ebi a' s Abi l i t y  t o Make Obser vat i ons.  

¶54 Ar mst r ong pr esent ed Dr .  John Four ni er ,  an 

opht hal mol ogi st ,  t o r ef ut e t he abi l i t y  of  Or ebi a t o make cer t ai n 

obser vat i ons.   Four ni er  measur ed t he di st ances and l i ght i ng 

condi t i ons f r om Or ebi a' s vant age poi nt  on t he por ch of  120 West  

Gor ham t o t he r out e of  t he per son he obser ved.   Four ni er  

t est i f i ed t hat  ni ght  v i s i on acui t y i s about  1/ 10 t hat  of  dayt i me 

vi s i on,  and t hat  gi ven t he condi t i ons under  whi ch Or ebi a made 

hi s obser vat i ons——a di st ance of  100 t o 134 f eet  and l ow 

i l l umi nat i on f r om t he st r eet  l amps wi t h gl ar e i n t he f or egr ound—

—i t  was not  physi cal l y possi bl e f or  a per son i n Or ebi a' s 

posi t i on t o make out  f aci al  f eat ur es.  

i v .   Or ebi a' s Recant at i on 

¶55 On November  5,  1980,  Or ebi a gave a st at ement  under  

oat h at  Ar mst r ong' s at t or ney' s of f i ce ( At t or ney Edwar d Kr ueger ) ,  

i n t he pr esence of  a cour t  r epor t er  and Ar mst r ong' s at t or ney' s 

i nvest i gat or ,  Char l es Lul l i ng,  i n whi ch Or ebi a di r ect l y 

cont r adi ct ed hi s i dent i f i cat i on of  Ar mst r ong t o t he pol i ce.   I n 

t hat  st at ement ,  Or ebi a sai d t hat  Ar mst r ong absol ut el y coul d not  

have been t he per son he saw r unni ng i n and out  of  134 West  

Gor ham.    

¶56 Or ebi a gave a second st at ement  i n At t or ney Kr ueger ' s 

of f i ce on November  10,  1980,  i ndi cat i ng t hat  he had r ead t hr ough 

t he st at ement  he had gi ven f i ve days pr i or  and t hat  i t  was t r ue 

and cor r ect .  

¶57 However ,  at  t r i al  Or ebi a r ecant ed hi s r ecant at i on and 

st at ed t hat  he was posi t i ve t hat  Ar mst r ong was t he per son he saw 



No.  2001AP2789 & 2002AP2979   

 

22 
 

ent er  and l eave Kamps'  apar t ment  bui l di ng t hr ee t i mes on t he 

ni ght  of  June 24,  1980.   Or ebi a t est i f i ed t hat  t he st at ement s he 

gave on November  5 and 10,  1980,  wer e pur posel y unt r ut hf ul ,  t ol d 

as del i ber at e l i es t o under mi ne hi s cr edi bi l i t y  as a wi t ness and 

t o hopef ul l y r esul t  i n hi s wi t hdr awal  as a wi t ness.  

2.  Mi ssi ng Money f r om Kamps'  Apar t ment  

¶58 The St at e al so t heor i zed t hat  af t er  Ar mst r ong mur der ed 

Kamps,  he st ol e t he $400 f r om Kamps t hat  he had gi ven her  

ear l i er  i n t he eveni ng.   I n t he ear l y af t er noon of  June 24,  

1980,  t he St at e est abl i shed t hat  Ar mst r ong deposi t ed $315 i n 

cash i nt o hi s bank account .   I n bot h t he openi ng and cl osi ng 

st at ement s,  t he St at e emphasi zed t he $400 mi ssi ng f r om Kamps'  

apar t ment  and Ar mst r ong' s $315 cash deposi t  t he f ol l owi ng 

af t er noon,  asser t i ng t hat  bot h i nst ances t oget her  wer e an 

i ndi cat i on of  Ar mst r ong' s gui l t .  

¶59 Kar en Renzagl i a,  a bank t el l er  at  Fi r st  Wi sconsi n West  

Towne Bank,  was f ami l i ar  wi t h Ar mst r ong and t est i f i ed on behal f  

of  t he St at e.   She sai d t hat  Ar mst r ong di d not  usual l y deposi t  

l ar ge bi l l s  or  l ar ge amount s,  but  on June 24,  1980,  he gave her  

at  l east  one $100 bi l l  and at  l east  t wo $50 bi l l s ,  al ong wi t h 

f i ve 20s,  a t en and a f i ve,  and t hen a check.   Whi l e Ar mst r ong 

was t ypi cal l y t al kat i ve,  he was qui et  t hat  af t er noon. 16  

                                                 
16 Ar mst r ong expl ai ned t hat  i f  he was any l ess t al kat i ve i n 

t he dr i ve- t hr ough,  i t  was because he was chat t i ng wi t h hi s 
br ot her  s i t t i ng i n t he passenger  seat .   Renzagl i a t est i f i ed t hat  
she coul d not  be sur e i f  Ar mst r ong was al one i n t he vehi c l e.   
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¶60 The St at e pr esent ed t est i mony f r om sever al  det ect i ves 

t hat  i nvest i gat or s wer e unabl e t o f i nd t he $400 i n cash t hat  

Ar mst r ong gave t o Kamps t o par t i al l y  sat i sf y hi s debt  t o Kamps'  

boyf r i end,  Di l l man.   Dean Fi sher ,  a uni f or med speci al  

i nvest i gat or  wi t h t he Madi son Pol i ce Depar t ment  t est i f i ed t hat  

he and anot her  of f i cer  l ooked i n " j ust  about  any concei vabl e 

pl ace we f i gur ed t her e woul d be money hi dden.   Dr awer s,  

dr esser s,  cabi net s,  anyt hi ng, "  i ncl udi ng cl ot hi ng,  i n Kamps'  

apar t ment  wi t hout  f i ndi ng t he $400.   

¶61 James Mei cher ,  a member  of  t he Dane Count y Sher i f f ' s  

Depar t ment ,  assi st ed Fi sher  wi t h t he scene.   Mei cher  t est i f i ed 

t hat  he f ound $136 i n a pai r  of  bl ue j eans t hat  was l ocat ed 

hal f way f r om t he t op of  a f ai r l y  l ar ge pi l e of  c l ot hi ng i n 

Kamps'  apar t ment ,  st at i ng t hat  t he denomi nat i ons wer e si x $20 

bi l l s ,  t hr ee f i ve dol l ar  bi l l s ,  and a s i ngl e one dol l ar  bi l l .   

Di l l man t est i f i ed t hat  on t he mor ni ng of  June 23,  1980,  when 

Kamps l ef t  hi s home i n McGr egor ,  I owa,  he gave her  $133 i n cash—

—si x 20' s,  a t en,  and t hr ee ones.   The St at e at t r i but ed t he $136 

f ound i n Kamps'  apar t ment  t o Di l l man and ar gued t hat  t he $400 

i nvest i gat or s coul d not  l ocat e coul d be f ound i n Ar mst r ong' s 

bank account  and i n t he $61 on hi s per son when he was t aken i nt o 

cust ody.  

¶62 Ar mst r ong t est i f i ed t hat  hi s br ot her ,  St eve,  gave hi m 

$300,  i n r epayment  f or  c l ot hes Ar mst r ong bought  hi m and f or  
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St eve' s summer  r ent . 17  At  t r i al ,  Ar mst r ong al so expl ai ned t hat  

he was i nvol ved i n a car  acci dent  i n t he mi ddl e of  May and 

r ecei ved an i nsur ance check on June 20 f or  $600 f r om hi s 

i nsur ance company.   He al so sol d t he sal vaged car  t o hi s 

r oommat e f or  anot her  $250.   May t est i f i ed at  t he John Doe 

hear i ng t hat  she was wi t h Ar mst r ong when he cashed t he i nsur ance 

check and t hat  she wi t nessed Ar mst r ong r ecei ve l ar ge bi l l s .  

3.   Physi cal  Evi dence at  t he Cr i me Scene 

¶63 The pol i ce col l ect ed hai r  speci mens and semen sampl es 

f r om Kamps'  apar t ment ,  as wel l  as t wo f i nger pr i nt s t hat  wer e 

f ound on a bong.   The pol i ce al so gat her ed what  pur por t ed t o be 

bl ood evi dence f r om under neat h Ar mst r ong' s f i nger nai l s and 

t oenai l s.   The St at e ar gued t o t he j ur y t hat  t he physi cal  

evi dence " concl usi vel y"  and " i r r evocabl y"  est abl i shed Ar mst r ong 

as t he k i l l er .  

a.   Fi nger pr i nt s  

¶64 Josef  Rut ,  a Madi son Pol i ce Of f i cer ,  t est i f i ed t hat  

one of  t he t wo f i nger pr i nt s on t he bong mat ched Ar mst r ong and 

t hat  t he sour ce of  t he ot her  pr i nt  was unknown.  

                                                 
17 The St at e pr esent ed evi dence t o r ef ut e whet her  St eve had 

$300 t o gi ve t o Ar mst r ong.   On June 23,  Ar mst r ong spent  $140 on 
cl ot hes f or  St eve,  who had l ost  hi s l uggage on t he bus r i de t o 
Madi son.   Ar mst r ong al so admi t t ed t hat  sever al  weeks bef or e 
St eve ar r i ved,  St eve had asked Ar mst r ong t o send money t o cover  
hi s t r avel  cost s.   

Addi t i onal l y,  wi t h r egar d t o Ar mst r ong' s ot her  sour ces of  
money,  Br ent  Goodman t est i f i ed t hat  Ar mst r ong had t o bor r ow cash 
f r om Kamps t o pur chase cocai ne f r om Goodman on t he ni ght  of  June 
23,  as Goodman hear d Ar mst r ong t el l  Kamps he was a l i t t l e shor t .   
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b.   Semen St ai ns on t he Robe 

¶65 Coi l a J.  Wegner ,  a mi cr oanal yst  at  t he St at e Cr i me 

Labor at or y Bur eau,  t est ed semen sampl es f ound on t he bat hr obe 

r ecover ed f r om t he f l oor  next  t o Kamps'  body.   Wegner  t est i f i ed 

t hat  she f ound ni ne ar eas on t he r obe t hat  t est ed posi t i ve f or  

t he pr esence of  semi nal  mat er i al .   She t est ed t he st ai n near est  

t he hem of  t he r obe and det er mi ned t hat  i t  was i ndi cat i ve of  a 

t ype A secr et or .   Wegner  t est i f i ed t hat  bot h Ar mst r ong and 

Di l l man ar e t ype A secr et or s,  as ar e 80 per cent  of  t he wor l d' s  

popul at i on.  

¶66 On cr oss- exami nat i on,  Wegner  t est i f i ed t hat  t he 

l ocat i on of  at  l east  seven of  t he ni ne semi nal  st ai ns on t he 

r obe wer e consi st ent  wi t h a per son havi ng sexual  i nt er cour se and 

t hen si t t i ng down whi l e wear i ng t he r obe.   Wegner  st at ed t hat  

t hese st ai ns woul d r emai n on t he r obe unt i l  t he gar ment  was 

washed.   Di l l man t est i f i ed t hat  Kamps'  wor e t he r obe of t en,  

usual l y i n t he mor ni ng bef or e she got  dr essed and when she 

r et i r ed i n t he eveni ng.  

¶67 The St at e ar gued t he f ol l owi ng about  t he semen 

evi dence i n c l osi ng ar gument :   

Thi s pi ct ur e shows Char i se Kamps'  r obe.   
( I ndi cat i ng. )   I t ' s  r i ght  next  t o t he bed.   You hear d 
t est i mony about  t hat  r obe.   J i l l  Wegner  per f or med 
t est s on i t  and she l ooked f or  semi nal  mat er i al  and 
she f ound i t .   Found spot s of  i t .   She di d an anal ysi s 
on t hat .   She was t r y i ng t o det er mi ne t he bl ood t ype 
of  t he per son who put  semi nal  f l ui ds on t he r obe.   So,  
she anal yzed i t  and f ound t hat  i t  came f r om a per son 
wi t h t ype A bl ood who secr et ed hi s bl ood t ype i n hi s 
body f l ui d,  i n hi s semen,  i n hi s sal i va,  i n hi s t ear s.   
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And she anal yzed Ral ph Ar mst r ong' s bl ood and hi s 
sal i va.   Ral ph Ar mst r ong' s a t ype A secr et er .  

c.   Bl ood Evi dence -  Hemost i cks  

¶68 Ar mst r ong dr ove t o t he pol i ce st at i on at  about  2: 15 

p. m.  on t he af t er noon of  June 24 t o wai t  f or  May,  who was asked 

t o gi ve a st at ement  t o pol i ce.   Af t er  ar r i v i ng at  t he st at i on,  

Ar mst r ong was asked by Of f i cer  Hat howay t o gi ve a st at ement .   

Af t er  t hr ee i nt er vi ews,  at  about  8: 30 p. m. ,  Ar mst r ong si gned 

consent  f or ms f or  sear ches of  hi s per son,  car ,  and apar t ment .   

Wegner  t ook sampl es f r om Ar mst r ong,  i ncl udi ng a st andar d head 

hai r ,  pubi c hai r ,  a sal i va sampl e,  and t est ed Ar mst r ong' s hands 

and f eet  f or  t r aces of  bl ood.  

¶69 Wegner  t est i f i ed t hat  af t er  r unni ng hemost i cks——

pl ast i c st r i ps wi t h t r eat ed absor bent  pads t hat  r eact  t o t he 

pr esence of  cer t ai n pr ot ei ns f ound i n bl ood——under  t he nai l s of  

Ar mst r ong' s f i nger s and t oes and ar ound t he cut i c l es,  she f ound 

a pr esumpt i ve posi t i ve r eact i on on ever y f i nger  and on sever al  

t oes. 18   

¶70 Wegner  t hen scr aped mat er i al  f r om under neat h 

Ar mst r ong' s t humbs and l ar ge t oes,  t est ed t he sampl es,  and 

det er mi ned t hat  t he mat er i al  i ndi cat ed bl ood of  human or i gi n.   

However ,  Wegner  t est i f i ed t hat  she di d not  have suf f i c i ent  

mat er i al  t o r un addi t i onal  t est s and coul d not  i dent i f y f r om 

whom t he bl ood came or  how ol d i t  was.   I n f act ,  Wegner  agr eed 

                                                 
18 Wegner  al so used hemost i cks on Ar mst r ong' s wat ch,  f i ndi ng 

a pr esumpt i ve posi t i ve f or  bl ood,  but  di d not  have suf f i c i ent  
amount s t o det er mi ne t he bl ood' s or i gi n.  
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t hat  i n her  exper i ence,  she had bl ood over  one- year  ol d pr oduce 

posi t i ve hemost i ck r esul t s.    

¶71 Wegner  agr eed t hat  t he sensi t i v i t y of  t he hemost i cks 

i s one i n 300, 000 t o t r i gger  a pr esumpt i ve posi t i ve.   She al so 

agr eed t hat  t he hemost i cks s i mpl y r eact  t o par t i cul ar  chemi cal s 

wi t hi n bl ood——i r on,  and pl ant  per oxi de——whi ch ar e al so f ound i n 

ot her  subst ances besi des bl ood.  

¶72 Ar mst r ong pr esent ed evi dence suppor t i ng al t er nat i ve 

expl anat i ons f or  t he pr esence of  human bl ood under  hi s  

t humbnai l s and l ar ge t oenai l s.   Dur i ng t he t est s i n t he eveni ng 

of  June 24,  1980,  i n t he pr esence of  Det ect i ves Roger  At t oe and 

Rudol f  Jer govi c,  and at  t r i al ,  Ar mst r ong st at ed t hat  he had 

f al l en and scr aped hi s el bow and hi s knee t he pr evi ous day i n a 

f oot r ace wi t h hi s br ot her  i n t he Ar bor et um.   Ar mst r ong al so 

expl ai ned t hat  i n t he days pr ecedi ng t he t est s he had sex and 

had t aken shower s wi t h hi s f i ancée,  May,  whi l e she was 

exper i enci ng her  menst r ual  per i od and t hat  she t ended t o bl eed 

pr of usel y.  

¶73 I ndeed,  Wegner  t est i f i ed t hat  Ar mst r ong showed her  t he 

scab on hi s knee when she conduct ed t he t est s,  and Ar mst r ong 

pr esent ed phot ogr aphs of  hi s  scr apes i n a t r i al  exhi bi t .   

Wegner ' s t est i ng al so f ound bl ood on t he i nsi de of  Ar mst r ong' s 

pant s t hat  was consi st ent  wi t h hi s scr aped knee.   No ot her  

t r aces of  bl ood wer e f ound on Ar mst r ong' s c l ot hi ng or  i nsi de or  

out si de of  hi s boot s.  

¶74 May' s t est i mony cor r obor at ed Ar mst r ong' s expl anat i on 

about  hi s f al l  dur i ng t he f oot r ace and about  Ar mst r ong' s and 
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May' s physi cal  i nt i macy dur i ng her  menst r ual  per i od.   May 

speci f i cal l y st at ed t hat  she sought  medi cal  at t ent i on r egar di ng 

her  par t i cul ar l y heavy bl eedi ng i n t he days pr i or  t o Kamps'  

mur der .   May t est i f i ed t hat  she was bl eedi ng heavi l y dur i ng a 

shower  wi t h Ar mst r ong and t hat  she l at er  had sur ger y t o cor r ect  

her  condi t i on.  

¶75 Wegner  al so t est i f i ed t hat  she spent  t wo f ul l  wor ki ng 

days exami ni ng t he i nt er i or  of  Ar mst r ong' s car  f or  t r aces of  

bl ood.   Wegner  t est ed f or  bl ood i n t he car ' s i nt er i or ,  i ncl udi ng 

t he t r unk compar t ment ,  and f ocused on t he st eer i ng wheel ,  

gear shi f t  l ever ,  l ock but t on on t he dr i ver ' s door ,  t he f l oor ,  

cei l i ng,  and t he f r ont  and r ear  seat s.   Wegner  f ound no t r aces 

of  bl ood anywher e wi t hi n t he vehi c l e and t est i f i ed t hat  i t  di d 

not  appear  as i f  t her e had been an at t empt  t o c l ean t he car .  

¶76 The St at e char act er i zed Wegner ' s f i ndi ngs of  t r ace 

amount s of  bl ood under neat h Ar mst r ong' s f i nger s and t oenai l s i n 

c l osi ng wi t h t he f ol l owi ng:  

The def endant ' s f i nger s wer e t est ed down at  t he 
pol i ce st at i on.   J i l l  Wegner  r an t he hemost i cks ar ound 
t he cut i c l es and under  t he t humb and under  t he nai l s 
and ar ound t he cut i c l es of  ever y f i nger  and l o and 
behol d t her e was bl ood under  ever y f i nger nai l ,  ever y 
s i ngl e one.   That  was Char i se Kamps'  bl ood.   ( Emphasi s 
added. )  

d.   Hai r  Evi dence 

¶77 Wegner  assi st ed Dr .  Hunt i ngt on wi t h hi s post mor t em 

exami nat i on of  Kamps'  body.   Wegner  r ecover ed pubi c hai r  

combi ngs and head and pubi c hai r  st andar ds f r om Kamps f or  

compar i son.   
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¶78 A number  of  hai r s wer e r ecover ed f r om Kamps'  

apar t ment ,  whi ch Wegner  compar ed t o t he st andar d head and pubi c  

hai r s f r om Ar mst r ong,  Kamps,  and Di l l man.   At  t r i al ,  Wegner  

expl ai ned her  pr ocess of  compar i son t o t he j ur y,  el abor at i ng on 

t he char act er i st i cs of  i mpor t ance——t he scal es on t he hai r ' s  

sur f ace,  or  cut i c l e;  t he f or m,  col or ,  and di st r i but i on of  

pi gment at i on;  t he consi st ency of  t he cent er ,  or  medul l a,  of  t he 

hai r ;  whet her  t he hai r  has been shed,  br oken,  or  f or c i bl y 

r emoved;  any unusual  char act er i st i cs,  such as doubl e medul l a or  

cr acked cut i c l es;  and physi cal  condi t i on of  t he hai r .    

¶79 Wegner  t est i f i ed t hat  t her e ar e 60 t o 70 

char act er i st i cs she compar es bet ween hai r s t o det er mi ne whet her  

t wo ar e " s i mi l ar "  or  " consi st ent . "   Onl y a maj or i t y i s needed t o 

det er mi ne t wo hai r s ar e " consi st ent . "   Wegner  st at ed t hat  i n 

al most  al l  i nst ances——99. 9 per cent ——one coul d not  say t hr ough 

mi cr oscopi c anal ysi s t hat  a speci f i c  hai r  came f r om a speci f i c  

i ndi v i dual .   Wegner  t est i f i ed t hat  hai r  anal ysi s  can i ncl ude or  

excl ude a per son but  coul d not  i dent i f y t hem.  

¶80 Wegner  t est i f i ed t hat  t wo head hai r s and one pubi c 

hai r  wer e r emoved f r om t he bat hr obe bel t  t hat  was dr aped acr oss 

Kamps'  body.   One head hai r  was consi st ent  and one was si mi l ar  

wi t h Ar mst r ong' s  hai r .   The pubi c hai r  r emoved f r om t he bel t  was 

consi st ent  wi t h Kamps.   

¶81 Fr om Kamps'  bat hr oom si nk,  i nvest i gat or s r ecover ed t wo 

head hai r s and t wo head hai r  f r agment s.   Wegner  t est i f i ed t hat  

one head hai r  was si mi l ar  wi t h Kamps,  t wo wer e consi st ent  wi t h 

Ar mst r ong,  and one coul d not  be at t r i but ed t o ei t her  Kamps or  
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Ar mst r ong.   Ar mst r ong' s counsel  el i c i t ed t est i mony f r om May t hat  

May,  Kamps,  and Ar mst r ong r out i nel y shar ed t he same hai r br ushes,  

and May i dent i f i ed a hai r br ush i n t he phot ogr aph of  Kamps'  

bat hr oom count er  as one of  May' s own.  

¶82 Wegner  anal yzed 13 hai r s f r om bl ood and f ecal - l i ke 

mat t er  col l ect ed at  t he scene,  i ncl udi ng f i ve head hai r s,  f our  

pubi c hai r s,  t hr ee body hai r s,  and one ani mal  hai r .   Of  t hose,  

Wegner  f ound one head hai r  t hat  was consi st ent  wi t h Ar mst r ong' s.   

Al l  f our  of  t he pubi c hai r s wer e consi st ent  wi t h Kamps.  

¶83 Fr om t he f an i n Kamps'  apar t ment ,  i nvest i gat or s 

r ecover ed f our  head hai r s,  one of  whi ch was si mi l ar  t o 

Ar mst r ong' s,  and t hr ee wer e consi st ent  wi t h Kamps.   Wegner  

at t r i but ed one head hai r  r ecover ed f r om Kamps'  apar t ment  t o 

Di l l man.  

¶84 Fr om t he r obe i t sel f ,  Wegner  col l ect ed one head hai r ,  

whi ch was consi st ent  wi t h Kamps,  and t hr ee pubi c hai r s.   Two of  

t he pubi c hai r s r emoved f r om t he r obe wer e consi st ent  wi t h 

Kamps,  and one was not  cons i st ent  wi t h ei t her  Kamps or  

Ar mst r ong.  

¶85 On t he bedspr ead f r om Kamps apar t ment ,  Wegner  f ound 

one head hai r  and ni ne pubi c hai r s.   Fi ve pubi c hai r s wer e 

consi st ent  wi t h Kamps,  and f our  pubi c hai r s,  whi ch had been 

" f or c i bl y r emoved, " 19 wer e i nconsi st ent  wi t h bot h Kamps and 

Ar mst r ong.   

                                                 
19 Wegner  t est i f i ed t hat  one coul d det er mi ne whet her  a hai r  

had been cut ,  shed,  br oken,  or  f or c i bl y r emoved,  based on t he 
condi t i on of  t he hai r  and pr esence or  l ack of  a f ol l i c l e.  
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¶86 Of  t he hai r s  col l ect ed i n t he vacuum sweepi ng ar ound 

t he bed, 20 none wer e f ound t o be consi st ent  wi t h Ar mst r ong.   Ten 

pubi c hai r s,  f i ve of  whi ch wer e f or c i bl y r emoved,  i n t he vacuum 

sweepi ngs wer e not  at t r i but abl e t o ei t her  Kamps or  Ar mst r ong.  

¶87 Wegner  agr eed t hat  i n about  hal f  of  al l  sexual  assaul t  

cases pubi c hai r  i s  t r ansf er r ed f r om t he assai l ant  t o t he v i ct i m 

or  f r om t he vi ct i m t o t he assai l ant .   Wegner  st at ed t hat  no 

pubi c hai r s col l ect ed f r om Kamps'  apar t ment  wer e det er mi ned t o 

be consi st ent  wi t h Ar mst r ong,  and no hai r s wer e f ound on 

Ar mst r ong,  or  on ar t i c l es sei zed i n t he sear ch of  Ar mst r ong' s 

apar t ment ,  t hat  wer e consi st ent  wi t h Kamps.  

¶88 I n c l osi ng ar gument s,  t he St at e ar gued t hat  t he t wo 

head hai r s f ound on t he bat hr obe bel t  dr aped acr oss Kamps'  body 

( one of  whi ch Wegner  det er mi ned t o be consi st ent  wi t h and t he 

ot her  t o be si mi l ar  t o Ar mst r ong' s hai r ) ,  t he t wo head hai r s 

f ound i n t he s i nk ( whi ch wer e consi st ent  wi t h Ar mst r ong' s hai r ) ,  

t he head hai r  f ound i n t he f an ( whi ch was si mi l ar  t o Ar mst r ong' s  

hai r ) ,  and t he head hai r  f ound i n t he f ecal  mat t er  near  Kamps'  

body ( whi ch was consi st ent  wi t h Ar mst r ong' s hai r )  pr oved t hat  

Ar mst r ong mur der ed Kamps.   The St at e made t he f ol l owi ng 

st at ement s char act er i z i ng t he hai r  evi dence:  

Now,  you have an oppor t uni t y t o see what  t hat  
scene l ooked l i ke r i ght  af t er  Ral ph Ar mst r ong 

                                                 
20 Wegner  t est i f i ed t hat  seven head hai r s,  s i x head hai r  

f r agment s,  20 pubi c hai r s,  t wo pubi c hai r  f r agment s,  seven 
ani mal  hai r s,  and t hr ee body hai r s wer e r ecover ed f r om t he 
vacuum sweeper .  
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commi t t ed t he mur der  ( i ndi cat i ng) . 21  That ' s what  t hey 
saw on t he bed ( i ndi cat i ng) .   Char i se Kamps.   That  was 
Char i se Kamps.   I  want  you t o l ook at  t he smear  mar ks 
on t he l egs.   You can' t  see i t  r eal  wel l  f r om t hi s 
angl e ( i ndi cat i ng) .   You have hear d Of f i cer  Fi sher  
descr i be i t .   You hear d Jane May descr i be i t .   I t  says 
i t  was l i ke f i nger  pai nt s ( i ndi cat i ng) . 22  So,  Char i se 
Kamps was f ound l y i ng i n bl ood and f eces and on her  
bed wi t h t hat  r obe on.   Thi s i s i t  ( i ndi cat i ng)  l y i ng 
on t op of  Char i se Kamps'  body.   Two of  t he def endant ' s 
hai r s wer e on t hi s r obe.   One of  Char i se Kamps'  hai r s 
r i ght  t her e acr oss t he body ( i ndi cat i ng) .   

 .  .  .  .  

They l ooked f or  hai r s.   Wher e di d t hey f i nd t he 
hai r  i n t hat  apar t ment ?  Found i t  i n t he bat hr oom 
si nk.   Found i t  i n,  on t he r obe t i e.   Found i t  i n t he 
f an,  and t hey f ound i t  i n a pi l e of  f eces on t he f l oor  
under neat h t he body.   The def endant ' s hai r  i n ever y 
pl ace i n t hat  apar t ment  was consi st ent  wi t h hi s 
k i l l i ng Char i se Kamps.  

The cabi net  i n t he bat hr oom was open.   Ri ght  
wher e t he t owel s wer e kept  wer e open.   The def endant  
had gone i n t her e t o c l ean up af t er  he mur der ed 
Char i se and hi s hai r  was i n t hat  s i nk. 23  

                                                 
21 The i ndi cat i ons t he St at e made wer e t o cr i me scene 

phot ogr aphs depi ct i ng Kamps'  body " nude,  l y i ng on her  f ace,  wi t h 
bl ood smear ed on her  back,  but t ocks and t hi ghs. "   St at e v.  
Ar mst r ong,  110 Wi s.  2d 555,  579,  329 N. W. 2d 386 ( 1983) .   These 
ar e t he same phot ogr aphs t hi s cour t  concl uded i n Ar mst r ong' s 
di r ect  appeal  wer e pr oper l y sent  back t o t he j ur y r oom t o ai d 
t he j ur y i n i t s assessment  of  t he physi cal  evi dence pr oduced at  
t r i al .   I d.   Thi s cour t  st at ed,  " We concl ude t hat  t he t r i al  
j udge coul d r easonabl y deci de t hat  t he phot ogr aph i n quest i on 
coul d assi st  t he j ur y i n t hei r  assessment  of  t he physi cal  
evi dence connect i ng t he def endant  t o t he cr i me and t hat  t he 
pur pose was not  mer el y t o i nf l ame or  pr ej udi ce t he j ur y. "   I d.  

22 As not ed,  t her e was no i ndi cat i on t he k i l l er  c l eaned 
hi msel f  or  her sel f  at  Kamps'  apar t ment .   Fur t her ,  Wegner  f ound 
no t r aces of  bl ood i n Ar mst r ong' s car .   

23 As not ed above,  t he pol i ce f ound no i ndi cat i on,  and t her e 
was no evi dence t o est abl i sh,  t hat  t he k i l l er  c l eaned hi msel f  or  
her sel f  at  Kamps'  apar t ment  f ol l owi ng t he mur der .  
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The def endant  woul d want  you t o bel i eve t hat  hai r  
k i nd of  f l oat s ar ound and l ands wher e i t  was and has a 
mi nd of  i t s  own.   Ther e i s  no expl anat i on f or  why t hat  
hai r  was f ound i n ever y pl ace t hat  t he def endant  was 
except  t hat  he mur der ed Char i se Kamps.   ( Emphasi s 
added. )  

¶89 I n c l osi ng,  Ar mst r ong di sput ed t he St at e' s 

char act er i zat i on of  hai r  evi dence at  l engt h.   Speci f i cal l y,  

Ar mst r ong ar gued t hat  t he shar i ng of  hai r br ushes among Kamps,  

May,  and Ar mst r ong pr ovi ded an i nnocent  expl anat i on f or  why 

Ar mst r ong' s hai r  was f ound i n Kamps'  bat hr oom si nk.   Ar mst r ong 

not ed t hat  many f or ci bl y r emoved pubi c hai r s wer e f ound at  t he 

scene,  al l  of  whi ch wer e i nconsi st ent  wi t h Ar mst r ong' s hai r ,  and 

asser t ed t hat  t he hai r s bel ong t o t he per son who ki l l ed Kamps.   

¶90 The j ur y convi ct ed Ar mst r ong on al l  count s.  

C.   Pr ocedur al  Hi st or y and Newl y Di scover ed Evi dence.  

¶91 Af t er  t he convi ct i ons,  Ar mst r ong f i l ed a 

post convi ct i on mot i on t hat  r equest ed a new t r i al ,  ar gui ng:   ( 1)  

Or ebi a' s i dent i f i cat i on of  Ar mst r ong shoul d have been 

i nadmi ssi bl e because of  t he St at e' s use of  hypnosi s t o enhance 

hi s memor y;  ( 2)  t he l i ne- up i dent i f i cat i on of  Ar mst r ong was 

unr el i abl e and was t her ef or e i nadmi ssi bl e;  ( 3)  t he t r i al  cour t  

er r oneousl y exer ci sed i t s di scr et i on by al l owi ng t wo col or  

mur der  scene phot ogr aphs of  Kamps'  t o be sent  t o t he j ur y r oom;  

and ( 4)  t he St at e br eached i t s dut y t o di scl ose excul pat or y 

evi dence by f ai l i ng t o pr ovi de an accur at e copy of  a par ki ng 

t i cket  r ecei ved by t he def endant .   See St at e v.  Ar mst r ong,  110 

Wi s.  2d 555,  559- 60,  329 N. W. 2d 386 ( 1983) .   Thi s cour t  

af f i r med.   The Sevent h Ci r cui t  Cour t  of  Appeal s l at er  deni ed 
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Ar mst r ong' s pet i t i on f or  a wr i t  of  habeas cor pus.   Ar mst r ong v.  

Young,  34 F. 3d 421  ( 7t h Ci r .  1994) .  

¶92 On Febr uar y 26,  1991,  Ar mst r ong moved f or  a new t r i al  

based on newl y di scover ed evi dence,  speci f i cal l y DNA evi dence 

t hat  excl uded hi m as t he sour ce of  semen on Kamps'  r obe.   The 

ci r cui t  cour t  f or  Dane Count y,  Honor abl e Mi chael  B.  Tor phy,  Jr . ,  

deni ed t he mot i on,  concl udi ng t hat  t hi s evi dence woul d not  

pr obabl y pr oduce a di f f er ent  r esul t  on r et r i al .   See St at e v.  

Ar mst r ong,  No.  1992AP232- CR,  unpubl i shed sl i p op.  at  2 ( Wi s.  Ct .  

App.  June 17,  1993) .   The cour t  of  appeal s af f i r med.   I d.  at  1.   

¶93 The cour t  of  appeal s det er mi ned t hat  t he semen 

evi dence was " an i nsi gni f i cant  pi ece of  c i r cumst ant i al  evi dence 

l i nki ng Ar mst r ong t o Kamps and t o her  apar t ment . "   I d.  at  2.   

Fur t her ,  t he cour t  of  appeal s st at ed:  

Of  much gr eat er  i mpor t ance t o t he st at e' s case 
was t he unshaken t est i mony of  Kamps'  nei ghbor  who saw 
Ar mst r ong act i ng st r angel y whi l e goi ng i n and out  of  
Kamps'  apar t ment  bui l di ng dur i ng t he hour s when t he 
cr i me occur r ed.   Ar mst r ong at t empt ed t o pr esent  an 
al i bi  f or  t hat  t i me t hat  t he st at e ef f ect i vel y  
demol i shed.   Ot her  physi cal  ev i dence,  such as bl ood 
and hai r  sampl es f ound on hi s body and at  t he cr i me 
scene,  al so i ncul pat ed Ar mst r ong.   Addi t i onal l y,  t he 
day af t er  t he mur der  Ar mst r ong made an unusual l y  l ar ge 
deposi t  of  $315 i n cash i n hi s bank account .   Kamps 
was known t o have had $400 i n her  apar t ment  t he 
pr evi ous day t hat  was never  f ound.   Ar mst r ong was 
awar e of  t he cash because i t  was he who had pai d i t  t o 
her  t o sat i sf y a debt .   Thi s evi dence woul d l i kel y 
pr oduce a gui l t y ver di ct  on r et r i al  even wi t h 
Ar mst r ong' s concl usi ve pr oof  t hat  he di d not  l eave hi s 
semen i n Kamps'  apar t ment .  

I d.  at  3.   
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¶94 On May 17,  2001,  Ar mst r ong f i l ed anot her  mot i on f or  a 

new t r i al  based on newl y di scover ed evi dence.   Thi s mot i on was 

based on t hr ee f i ndi ngs,  whi ch t he St at e di d not  di sput e.    

¶95 Fi r st ,  DNA t est i ng conduct ed by Dr .  Edwar d Bl ake 

excl uded Ar mst r ong,  as wel l  as Kamps'  boyf r i end,  Di l l man,  as t he 

sour ce of  t he t wo hai r s f ound on t he r obe bel t .   As not ed above,  

at  t r i al ,  t he St at e' s f or ensi c  exper t  t est i f i ed t hat  usi ng 

mi cr oscopi c anal ysi s,  she concl uded t hat  one hai r  was " s i mi l ar "  

and one " consi st ent "  wi t h Ar mst r ong' s hai r .   Second,  Bl ake f ound 

no t r aces of  bl ood when exami ni ng a pi ece of  c l ot h accompanyi ng 

sl i des al l egedl y  pr epar ed f r om t he hemost i ck swabs and scr api ngs 

f r om Ar mst r ong' s t humbs and l ar ge t oes.   Thi r d,  Ar mst r ong 

r easser t ed t hat  t he DNA anal ysi s conduct ed i n 1990 excl uded 

Ar mst r ong as t he sour ce of  t he semen on t he Kamps'  bat hr obe.  

¶96 The onl y i ssue was whet her  t hi s new evi dence cr eat ed a 

r easonabl e pr obabi l i t y  t hat  t he r esul t  woul d be di f f er ent  at  a 

t r i al .   Ar mst r ong cl ai med t hat  i t  di d,  whi l e t he St at e 

cont ended:  

[ O] ne of  t he t hi ngs you do,  when you anal yze t hat  i s,  
what  was t he st r engt h of  t he sci ent i f i c  evi dence t hat  
we pr esent ed? 

Fr ankl y——and you al l uded t o t hi s ear l i er ——
[ Ar mst r ong' s counsel ]  di d a super b j ob of  cr oss-
exami ni ng Mi ss Wegner  i n def l at i ng t he s i gni f i cance of  
t hi s evi dence.  

He br ought  out  t he f act  t hat  80 per cent  of  t he 
popul at i on i s secr et or s.   I t  was cl ear ,  by t he t i me 
she was done t est i f y i ng,  t hat  t he boyf r i end or  t he 
def endant  coul d have been cont r i but or s of  t he semen,  
but  we di dn' t  know——we coul dn' t  say pr eci sel y who.  
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He cr oss- exami ned her  and el i c i t ed t hat  t her e 
wer e,  I  t hi nk,  54 pubi c hai r s on t he bed spr ead 
f or ci bl y ext r act ed of  unknown or i gi n.    

I  bel i eve t hat  t her e wer e 50 not  consi st ent  wi t h 
ei t her  t he v i ct i m or  t he def endant .   Fi ve i n t he 
vacuum sweepi ngs ar ound t he bed wi t h t he same 
char act er i st i cs.   One on t he bat hr obe i t sel f .  

Ther e was a bevy of  hai r  t hat  was t est i f i ed t o 
t hat  woul d not  have i ncl uded ei t her  t he def endant  or  
t he v i ct i m,  but  was at t r i but abl e t o no one t hat  we 
knew of  at  t hat  poi nt .   

And [ Ar mst r ong' s counsel ]  ar gued ver y ef f ect i vel y 
t hat  t he hai r  evi dence was not  t hat  s i gni f i cant .  

.  .  .  .   

 .  .  .   He t al ked about  hai r  goes ever ywher e.   He 
i nt r oduced evi dence concer ni ng t he shar i ng of  
hai r br ushes bet ween Char i se Kamps,  Jane May,  who was 
t he def endant ' s  gi r l f r i end,  and t he def endant .   I  
t hi nk t wo of  t hose hai r br ushes wer e at  t he scene.    

And,  beyond,  whi ch we have t he def endant ' s 
admi ssi on,  t hat  he was i n t he apar t ment  on t he ni ght  
of  t he mur der .  

So t he f act  t hat  t her e' s hai r  t her e,  t hat  i s  seen 
as consi st ent  wi t h t he def endant ,  i s  no sur pr i se.   

Now I  t hi nk t he Cour t  cor r ect l y poi nt ed out  t hat  
t he def endant ' s cont ent i on t hat  t hese hai r s ar e now——
t hat  Mi ss Wegner ' s t est i mony,  t hat  t he hai r s  wer e 
" consi st ent  wi t h"  or  " s i mi l ar  t o"  t he def endant ' s,  
does not  f al l ——i t ' s c l ear  t hat  t o t he ext ent  somebody 
want s you t o dr aw t he i nf er ence t hat  t hose hai r s ar e 
t he def endant ' s,  t hat  you can' t  dr aw t hat  i nf er ence 
anymor e,  but  she st at ed what  was known t o her  at  t he 
t i me,  and t her e' s no i ndi cat i on,  t hat  i n f act ,  i n t he 
k i nd of  char act er i st i cs she was l ooki ng at ,  t hat  t hese 
hai r s ar en' t  " consi st ent "  or  " s i mi l ar  t o"  t he 
def endant ' s.   They si mpl y ar en' t  t he def endant ' s.  

¶97 I n r esponse,  Ar mst r ong ar gued t he f ol l owi ng:  
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[ Y] ou don' t  even need a cr i me scene exper t  t o see,  as 
t he Cour t  has al r eady i ndi cat ed,  f r om your  pr ef ace 
her e,  t he cr i t i cal  i mpor t ance of  t hi s;  because i t  i s  
t he bel t ,  t hat  t her e' s a good chance was t he 
i nst r ument  of  deat h,  but  beyond t hat ,  i t ' s  r i ght  over  
t he body wher e t he ki l l er  had t o have been dur i ng t he 
cour se of  t he mur der ,  and t he hai r s ar e on t op of  i t ,  
and I  can' t  t hi nk of  a f or ensi c exper t ,  a cr i me scene 
exper t ,  who woul d be t he appr opr i at e exper t  i n t hi s 
case,  who woul dn' t  say t hat  t hat  was ext r emel y 
pr obat i ve,  hi ghl y pr obat i ve.   That  i t  was deposi t ed at  
or  ar ound t he t i me of  t he mur der .  

I t ' s  common sense.   I t ' s  what  t hey woul d say,  
because i t ' s  i n accor d wi t h t he usual  t r ansf er  of  
pr i nci pl es and,  i ndeed,  you know,  who sai d t hat  t o t he 
j ur y?  [ The pr osecut i ng at t or ney. ]   He di dn' t  j ust  say 
i ndi cat i ve of  gui l t ,  as he sai d i n hi s ar gument ;  he 
sai d concl usi ve,  i r r evocabl e,  and he sai d i t  
per suasi vel y,  not wi t hst andi ng our  pr ai se of  our  
col l eague,  [ Ar mst r ong' s t r i al  counsel , ]  f or  poi nt i ng 
out  t her e' s an 80 per cent  chance t he ser ol ogy coul d 
have meant  somebody el se.   That  wasn' t  i t .    

What ' s i mpor t ant  her e?  The f act ,  ver y f act  t hat  
you' r e i sol at i ng on,  and t hat  i s  t hese ar e ver y,  ver y 
pr obat i ve pi eces of  evi dence.   The hai r s r i ght  on t op 
of  t he bel t ,  r i ght  over  t he cr i me scene,  wi t h t he 
semen bel ow.   

A j ur or  l ooki ng at  t hi s evi dence,  r easonabl y 
l i s t eni ng t o what  [ t he pr osecut i ng at t or ney]  sai d,  
what  t he r ebut t al  was,  about  t i mi ng and expl anat i ons 
f or  al l  t hese di f f er ent  k i nd of  t hi ngs,  and Or ebi a' s 
oppor t uni t y t o obser ve,  and ever yt hi ng el se,  what  do 
peopl e or di nar i l y  do i n a common sense way? 

They say show me t he physi cal  evi dence t hat ' s 
most  hi ghl y pr obat i ve,  t hat  we can use one way or  
anot her  t o cor r obor at e,  and what  t he St at e sai d her e,  
i n ver y f or cef ul  t er ms,  i t ' s  concl usi ve,  i t ' s  
i r r evocabl e,  t he hai r  i s  t her e,  obvi ousl y t hat ' s hai r ,  
and t hat  t her e' s a hi gh l i kel i hood,  ext r aor di nar i l y  
hi gh l i kel i hood l ef t  by t he k i l l er ,  because of  wher e 
i t ' s  f ound,  and t he semen bel ow,  t hat  obvi ousl y coul d 
not  be demonst r at ed at  t he t r i al  concl usi vel y di dn' t  
come f r om Ar mst r ong.   



No.  2001AP2789 & 2002AP2979   

 

38 
 

Bot h t he hai r  and t he semen,  i t ' s  not  goi ng t o be 
a quest i on of  opi ni on;  i t ' s  a quest i on of  f act .   They 
ar e not  f r om Ral ph Ar mst r ong.  

That  was somet hi ng t hat  t hi s j ur y,  I ' m sur e,  
woul d r el y on when t hey consi der ed ever yt hi ng,  as t he 
t i ppi ng poi nt ,  because i t  i s  so hi ghl y pr obat i ve.   I t  
i s  so cr i t i cal  t o who commi t t ed t hi s cr i me.  

¶98 The ci r cui t  cour t  f or  Dane Count y,  Honor abl e Pat r i ck 

J.  Fi edl er ,  deni ed Ar mst r ong' s mot i on.   Regar di ng t he hemost i ck 

t est s and how t hey di d not  show t he pr esence of  any bl ood,  t he 

c i r cui t  cour t  f ound t hat  Wegner ' s anal ysi s expended al l  of  t he 

bl ood f ound.   The cour t  f ur t her  concl uded t hat  Wegner ' s 

t est i mony r egar di ng f i ndi ng bl ood under neat h Ar mst r ong' s nai l s 

was pr oper .    

¶99 Regar di ng t he semen,  t he c i r cui t  cour t  det er mi ned t hat  

t hi s evi dence was mi nor .   Mor eover ,  t he cour t  obser ved t hat  

Ar mst r ong est abl i shed t hat  80 per cent  of  t he popul at i on ar e Type 

A secr et or s and t hat  t her e was no way of  knowi ng when t he semen 

st ai ns wer e pl aced on t he r obe.   Thus,  t he c i r cui t  cour t  

concl uded,  t he j ur y was wel l - appr i sed of  t he wei ght  t o be gi ven 

t o t he evi dence.    

¶100 Wi t h r egar d t o t he hai r  evi dence,  t he cour t  

acknowl edged t hat  t he bul k of  t he sci ent i f i c  evi dence concer ned 

t he hai r  anal ysi s.   However ,  t he new hai r  DNA t est s di d not  

suf f i c i ent l y t i p t he scal e i n Ar mst r ong' s f avor ,  t he c i r cui t  

cour t  concl uded.   The cour t  was per suaded by t he f act  t hat  t he 

evi dence was pr oper l y admi t t ed gi ven t he sci ence of  t he t i mes 

and t hat  t he St at e made a f ai r  pr esent at i on of  t he evi dence i n 

i t s openi ng and cl osi ng ar gument s.   Al so,  v i ewi ng t he ent i r et y 
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of  t he St at e' s pr esent at i on of  i t s  c l osi ng ar gument ,  t he cour t  

concl uded t he hai r  evi dence pl ayed but  a smal l  r ol e i n t he 

St at e' s case.   I f  t he case wer e t o be r et r i ed,  t he c i r cui t  cour t  

posi t ed:  

I  am sat i sf i ed t he j ur y woul d al so hear  t hat  i t  i s  
i mpossi bl e t o ascer t ai n wi t h any pr eci s i on when t he 
hai r s f ound t hei r  way on t he bel t .   That  t hi s  woul d be 
consi st ent  wi t h ot her  hai r s,  t o whi ch we cannot  gi ve 
owner shi p t o,  t hat  ar e f ound i n t he apar t ment ,  
i ncl udi ng t hat  of  an ani mal ,  and t hat  wi t h t he 
advancement  i n sci ence over  t he cour se of  t he l ast  20 
year s,  whi l e i t  may be t hat  t he hai r  anal ysi s woul d 
cer t ai nl y be di f f er ent ,  I  am sat i sf i ed,  gi ven t he way 
t hat  i t  woul d be deal t  wi t h i n i t s ent i r et y,  t hat  t he 
r esul t  woul d r emai n t he same.  

¶101 The cour t  sai d t hat  t he most  cr i t i cal  evi dence was t he 

t i me- di st ance t est i mony as i t  r el at ed t o Ar mst r ong' s 

wher eabout s.   Thus,  t he cour t  concl uded t hat  Ar mst r ong di d not  

meet  hi s bur den of  c l ear  and convi nci ng evi dence t hat  t he newl y 

di scover ed evi dence cr eat ed a r easonabl e pr obabi l i t y  t hat  t he 

out come woul d be di f f er ent  on r et r i al .  

¶102 Ar mst r ong appeal ed,  and t he cour t  of  appeal s af f i r med.   

The cour t  of  appeal s f i r st  det er mi ned t hat  j udi ci al  est oppel  di d 

not  l i e agai nst  t he St at e.   Ar mst r ong,  Nos.  2001AP2789- CR and 

2002AP2979- CR,  unpubl i shed sl i p op. ,  ¶31.   Ar mst r ong not ed t hat  

at  hi s t r i al  i n 1981,  t he St at e ar gued t hat  t he semen and hai r s 

f ound on t he vi c t i m' s bat hr obe unmi st akabl y i mpl i cat ed Ar mst r ong 

as t he mur der er .   I d. ,  ¶30.   I n l i ght  of  t he new DNA t est s,  t he 

St at e now ar gued t hat  nei t her  t he semen nor  hai r  was connect ed 

t o t he mur der  and t hat  i nnocuous r easons expl ai n why t hat  

physi cal  evi dence was pr esent .   I d.   Ar mst r ong cl ai med t he St at e 



No.  2001AP2789 & 2002AP2979   

 

40 
 

shoul d be j udi c i al l y  est opped f r om maki ng t hi s t ur nabout .   I d.   

The cour t  of  appeal s di sagr eed,  concl udi ng t hat  because 

Ar mst r ong was asser t i ng newl y di scover ed evi dence,  t he f act s 

coul d not  be t he same.   I d. ,  ¶31.   Ther ef or e,  t he cour t  of  

appeal s r easoned,  j udi c i al  est oppel  di d not  l i e agai nst  t he 

St at e.   I d.  

¶103 The cour t  of  appeal s next  t ur ned t o Ar mst r ong' s newl y 

di scover ed DNA t est s.   I d. ,  ¶¶32- 34.   I ni t i al l y ,  t he cour t  of  

appeal s had t o deci de whet her  t he newl y di scover ed evi dence t est  

appl i ed.   I d. ,  ¶32.   Ar mst r ong pr oposed t hat  i t  di d not  and t hat  

a har ml ess er r or  t est  di d.   I d. ,  ¶33.   Rat her  t han seeki ng t o 

add new and r el evant  evi dence t o t he f ol d,  Ar mst r ong sought  t o 

r emove a power f ul  i nf er ence of  gui l t  f r om t he hai r  and semen 

t hat  i s now known t o be ut t er l y i r r el evant  t o est abl i shi ng hi s 

gui l t .   See i d.   As i t  was now known t hat  t he evi dence was 

er r oneousl y i nt r oduced and used,  Ar mst r ong ar gued t he St at e bor e 

t he bur den of  pr ovi ng t he er r or  was har ml ess.   I d.  

¶104 The cour t  of  appeal s concl uded t hat  t he newl y 

di scover ed evi dence t est  was pr oper ,  but  wr est l ed wi t h t hi s 

concl usi on,  wr i t i ng:  

Whi ch t est  we use i s of  pot ent i al  s i gni f i cance.   
Thi s i s an ext r emel y c l ose case.   I t  i s  not  possi bl e 
t o t el l  f r om t hi s r ecor d whet her  Ar mst r ong i s  i nnocent  
or  gui l t y.   Whi l e we af f i r m t he t r i al  cour t ' s  deci s i on 
t o use t he newl y di scover ed evi dence t est ,  t he use of  
a har ml ess- er r or  t est  woul d pr obabl y r esul t  i n our  
r ever si ng t he t r i al  cour t ' s  or der .   We agr ee wi t h 
Ar mst r ong' s ar gument  t hat  i nnovat i ons i n sci ence cast  
doubt  on evi dence admi t t ed at  t r i al .   These 
advancement s i n t echnol ogy,  however ,  do not  r ender  t he 
t r i al  cour t ' s  evi dent i ar y r ul i ngs er r oneous at  t he 
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t i me t hey wer e made.   " A mot i on f or  a new t r i al  based 
on newl y- di scover ed evi dence does not  c l ai m t hat  t her e 
wer e er r or s i n t he conduct  of  t he t r i al  or  def i c i ency 
i n t r i al  counsel ' s per f or mance. "   [ St at e v.  Br unt on,  
203 Wi s.  2d 195,  206- 07,  552 N. W. 2d 452 ( Ct .  App.  
1996) . ]   The di st i nct i on Ar mst r ong makes bet ween newl y 
di scover ed evi dence not  pr esent ed t o t he j ur y  and 
evi dence l at er  shown t o be f al se i s a r at i onal  
di st i nct i on.   Addi t i onal  evi dence i s concept ual l y 
di f f er ent  f r om evi dence f r om whi ch t he St at e ar gued 
f al se concl usi ons.   But  t hi s di st i nct i on has not  been 
r ecogni zed and we cannot  escape t he undi sput ed f act  
t hat  Ar mst r ong' s  DNA evi dence i s  newl y di scover ed.   I t  
may be anomal ous t hat  we use a mor e st r i ct  t est  wher e 
t he St at e benef i t s f r om f al se f act ual  concl usi ons t han 
wher e t he St at e benef i t s f r om an er r oneous evi dent i ar y 
r ul i ng.   But  t he t est  f or  newl y di scover ed evi dence i s 
t he t est  t he supr eme cour t  and t hi s cour t  cont i nue t o 
use.  

I d. ,  ¶34.    

¶105 The St at e di sput ed onl y whet her  Ar mst r ong had " cl ear l y 

and convi nci ngl y"  pr oven t hat  t he new " ' evi dence cr eat e[ s]  a 

r easonabl e pr obabi l i t y  t hat  t he out come woul d be di f f er ent  on 

r et r i al . ' "   I d. ,  ¶36 ( quot i ng St at e v.  Aver y,  213 Wi s.  2d 228,  

234,  570 N. W. 2d 573 ( Ct .  App.  1997) ) .   The cour t  of  appeal s 

obser ved t hat  Aver y det er mi ned t hat  " ' [ i ] f  t her e i s a r easonabl e 

pr obabi l i t y  t hat  a j ur y woul d har bor  a r easonabl e doubt  as t o 

gui l t ,  i t  f ol l ows t hat  t her e exi st s a r easonabl e pr obabi l i t y  of  

a di f f er ent  r esul t . ' "   I d.  ( quot i ng Aver y,  213 Wi s.  2d at  241) .   

The cour t  of  appeal s det er mi ned t hat  " [ i t s ]  j ob i s not  t o 

det er mi ne how,  i f  at  al l ,  t he f al se evi dence i nf l uenced t he j ur y 

i n t he f i r st  t r i al . "   I d. ,  ¶37.   I nst ead,  t he pr oper  i nqui r y,  

t he cour t  of  appeal s st at ed,  " i s  whet her  a hypot het i cal ,  f ut ur e 

j ur y at  r et r i al  woul d f i nd Ar mst r ong not  gui l t y based on t he 
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t ot al i t y of  t he evi dence,  i ncl udi ng t he new evi dence obt ai ned 

f r om advances i n DNA t est i ng. "   I d.    

¶106 Af t er  r evi ewi ng t he r ecor d,  t he cour t  concl uded t hat  

" [ d] espi t e t he c l oseness of  t hi s case,  Ar mst r ong has not  

per suaded us t hat  t he newl y di scover ed evi dence woul d r easonabl y  

cause a new j ur y t o di scr edi t  t he i ncr i mi nat i ng c i r cumst ant i al  

evi dence. "   I d. ,  ¶44.   Al t hough " i t  i s  easi l y possi bl e t hat  a 

new j ur y coul d r each a di f f er ent  ver di ct , "  i d. ,  t he cour t  of  

appeal s hel d t hat  " Ar mst r ong has not  shown t hat  t he newl y 

di scover ed evi dence cl ear l y and convi nci ngl y cr eat es a 

r easonabl e pr obabi l i t y  t hat  t he out come woul d be di f f er ent  on 

r et r i al . "   I d. ,  ¶44.  

¶107 Fi nal l y,  t he cour t  of  appeal s quest i oned whet her  i t  

had t he aut hor i t y t o gr ant  a new t r i al  i n t he i nt er est s of  

j ust i ce because t he case was not  on di r ect  appeal ,  but  i t  

deci ded t hat  even i f  i t  had t he power ,  i t  woul d decl i ne t o 

exer ci se i t .   I d. ,  ¶¶4,  46- 47.   The cour t  of  appeal s 

di st i ngui shed St at e v.  Hi cks,  202 Wi s.  2d 150,  153,  549 N. W. 2d 

435 ( 1996) ,  wher e t hi s cour t  concl uded t hat  t he r eal  cont r over sy 

of  i dent i f i cat i on was not  f ul l y  t r i ed when " t he St at e used t he 

hai r  evi dence asser t i vel y and r epet i t i vel y as af f i r mat i ve pr oof  

of  Hi cks'  gui l t "  and when l at er  DNA t est s excl uded Hi cks as t he 

donor  of  t he hai r .   I d.  at  48.  The cour t  of  appeal s st at ed:  

Her e,  t he sol e i ssue of  t he case was whet her  
Ar mst r ong mur der ed Kamps.   The j ur y consi der ed eye 
wi t ness t est i mony,  al ong wi t h ot her  c i r cumst ant i al  
evi dence,  and f ound t hat  Ar mst r ong mur der ed Kamps.   
The mi sl eadi ng hai r  and semen evi dence di d not  " so 
c l oud"  or  di st r act  t he j ur y f r om del i ber at i ng t hi s 
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i ssue.   Li kewi se,  t he DNA evi dence excl udi ng Di l l man 
[ t he v i ct i m' s boyf r i end]  as t he sour ce of  t he hai r  and 
semen i s not  i mpor t ant  enough t est i mony bear i ng on t he 
cont r over sy t o war r ant  a new t r i al .   We concl ude t hat  
t he r eal  cont r over sy was t r i ed f ul l y .  

I d. ,  ¶50.    

¶108 Ar mst r ong seeks r evi ew.    

I I  

¶109 Ar mst r ong r ai ses mul t i pl e ar gument s as t o why t hi s 

cour t  shoul d r ever se,  one of  whi ch i s t hat  we shoul d use our  

di scr et i onar y r ever sal  power .   Ar mst r ong r equest s t hat  t hi s 

cour t  or der  a new t r i al  i n t he i nt er est  of  j ust i ce because t he 

r eal  cont r over sy has not  been f ul l y t r i ed.   We agr ee wi t h 

Ar mst r ong t hat  t he physi cal  evi dence now known t o excl ude 

Ar mst r ong as t he donor  was used i n a manner  such t hat  we cannot  

say wi t h any degr ee of  cer t ai nt y t hat  t he r eal  cont r over sy has 

been f ul l y t r i ed.   

A 

 ¶110 At  t he out set ,  t he St at e,  c i t i ng St at e v.  Al l en,  159 

Wi s.  2d 53,  464 N. W. 2d 426 ( Ct .  App.  1990) ,  di sput es whet her  

t hi s cour t  can or der  a new t r i al  i n t he i nt er est s of  j ust i ce,  as 

Ar mst r ong' s cur r ent  appeal  i s  not  a di r ect  appeal ,  but  r at her  i s 

pr emi sed on an or der  denyi ng hi m r el i ef  under  

Wi s.  St at .  § 974. 06 ( 2001- 02) .   We concl ude t hat  even i f  Al l en 

i s cor r ect ,  we have t he i nher ent  aut hor i t y t o or der  a new t r i al ,  

even wher e a def endant ' s appeal  i s  not  di r ect .  

 ¶111 I n Al l en,  159 Wi s.  2d at  55- 56,  t he cour t  of  appeal s 

concl uded t hat  i t  di d not  have st at ut or y  aut hor i t y under  

Wi s.  St at .  § 752. 35 ( 1989- 90)  t o di scr et i onar i l y  r ever se Al l en' s 
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j udgment  of  conv i ct i on because Al l en' s appeal  was f r om an or der  

denyi ng hi m r el i ef  under  Wi s.  St at .  § 974. 06 ( 1989- 90) . 24  Ther e,  

i n a § 974. 06 mot i on,  Al l en cont ended t hat  he was deni ed due 

pr ocess because t he j ur y i nst r uct i ons i mpr oper l y shi f t ed t he 

bur den of  pr oof  t o hi m.   I d.   He conceded t hat  he had not  r ai sed 

a cont empor aneous obj ect i on at  t he j ur y i nst r uct i on conf er ence 

and t hus l ost  t he r i ght  t o appel l at e r evi ew.   I d.   However ,  he 

asked t he cour t  of  appeal s t o exer ci se i t s di scr et i onar y 

r ever sal  power  under  Wi s.  St at .  § 752. 35 and r ever se hi s 

j udgment  of  convi ct i on.   I d.  at  55- 56.  

¶112 The cour t  of  appeal s r ej ect ed Al l en' s r equest .   The 

cour t  of  appeal s c i t ed t o i t s st at ut or y power  of  di scr et i onar y 

                                                 
24 The cour t  of  appeal s not ed t hat  i t s st at ut or y 

di scr et i onar y r ever sal  power  st at ed:  

I n an appeal  t o t he cour t  of  appeal s,  i f  i t  
appear s f r om t he r ecor d t hat  t he r eal  cont r over sy has 
not  been f ul l y t r i ed,  or  t hat  i t  i s  pr obabl e t hat  
j ust i ce has f or  any r eason mi scar r i ed,  t he cour t  may 
r ever se t he j udgment  or  or der  appeal ed f r om,  
r egar dl ess of  whet her  t he pr oper  mot i on or  obj ect i on 
appear s i n t he r ecor d and may di r ect  t he ent r y of  t he 
pr oper  j udgment  or  r emi t  t he case t o t he t r i al  cour t  
f or  ent r y of  t he pr oper  j udgment  or  f or  a new t r i al ,  
and di r ect  t he maki ng of  such amendment s i n t he 
pl eadi ngs and t he adopt i on of  such pr ocedur e i n t hat  
cour t ,  not  i nconsi st ent  wi t h st at ut es or  r ul es,  as ar e 
necessar y t o accompl i sh t he ends of  j ust i ce.  

 
St at e v.  Al l en,  159 Wi s.  2d 53,  55 n. 2,  464 N. W. 2d 426 ( Ct .  App.  
1990)  ( quot i ng Wi s.  St at .  § 752. 35 ( 1979) )  ( emphasi s added by 
cour t  of  appeal s) .  
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r ever sal ,  whi ch pr ovi ded i t  " may r ever se t he j udgment  or  or der  

appeal ed f r om,  .  .  .  and may di r ect  t he ent r y of  t he pr oper  

j udgment  or  r emi t  t he case t o t he t r i al  cour t  f or  ent r y of  t he 

pr oper  j udgment  or  f or  a new t r i al  .  .  .  . "   I d.  at  55 n. 2 

( quot i ng Wi s.  St at .  § 752. 35 ( 1989- 90) ) .   However ,  t he cour t  of  

appeal s st at ed t hat  " [ w] hen an appeal  i s  t aken f r om an 

unsuccessf ul  col l at er al  at t ack under  [ § 974. 06,  St at s.  ( 1989-

90) ]  agai nst  a j udgment  or  or der ,  t hat  j udgment  or  or der  i s not  

bef or e us. "   I d.  at  55.   I nst ead,  " [ a] l l  t hat  i s  bef or e us i s an 

or der  whi ch r ef uses t o vacat e and set  t he j udgment  of  convi ct i on 

asi de or  t o gr ant  a new t r i al  or  t o cor r ect  a sent ence. "   I d.  at  

55- 56.   Thus,  t he cour t  of  appeal s concl uded t hat  i t s st at ut or y 

di scr et i onar y r ever sal  power  di d not  per mi t  i t  " t o go behi nd a 

[ § 974. 06]  or der  t o r each t he j udgment  of  convi ct i on. "  I d.  at  

56.    

 ¶113 Whi l e t he cour t  of  appeal s '  and t hi s cour t ' s 

di scr et i onar y r ever sal  power s ar e cot er mi nous,  Vol l mer  v.  Luet y,  

156 Wi s.  2d 1,  18,  456 N. W. 2d 797 ( 1990) ,  we need not  deci de 

whet her  our  st at ut or y power  i s const r ai ned accor di ng t o Al l en 

because t hi s cour t  has " bot h i nher ent  power  and expr ess 

st at ut or y aut hor i t y t o r ever se a j udgment  of  convi ct i on and 

r emi t  a case f or  a new t r i al  i n t he i nt er est  of  j ust i ce,  even 

wher e t he ci r cui t  cour t  has exer ci sed i t s power  t o or der  or  t o 

deny a new t r i al . " 25  Hi cks,  202 Wi s.  2d at  159;  St at e v.  

                                                 
25 Al l en' s exceedi ngl y nar r ow vi ew of  t he br oad gr ant  of  

power  of  di scr et i onar y r ever sal  i s  st r ange.   Thi s cour t ' s  
st at ut or y di scr et i onar y r ever sal  power  st at es:  
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I n an appeal  i n t he supr eme cour t ,  i f  i t  appear s f r om 
t he r ecor d t hat  t he r eal  cont r over sy has not  been 
f ul l y t r i ed,  or  t hat  i t  i s  pr obabl e t hat  j ust i ce has 
f or  any r eason mi scar r i ed,  t he cour t  may r ever se t he 
j udgment  or  or der  appeal ed f r om,  r egar dl ess of  whet her  
t he pr oper  mot i on or  obj ect i on appear s i n t he r ecor d,  
and may di r ect  t he ent r y of  t he pr oper  j udgment  or  
r emi t  t he case t o t he t r i al  cour t  f or  t he ent r y  of  t he 
pr oper  j udgment  or  f or  a new t r i al ,  and di r ect  t he 
maki ng of  such amendment s i n t he pl eadi ngs and t he 
adopt i on of  such pr ocedur e i n t hat  cour t ,  not  
i nconsi st ent  wi t h st at ut es or  r ul es,  as ar e necessar y 
t o accompl i sh t he ends of  j ust i ce.  

Wi s.  St at .  § 751. 06 ( 2003- 04)  ( emphasi s added) .  

 Fr om t he st at ut e' s f ace,  t hi s cour t  can " r ever se t he 
j udgment  or  or der  appeal ed f r om .  .  .  and may di r ect  t he ent r y  
of  t he pr oper  j udgment  or  r emi t  t he case t o t he t r i al  cour t  f or  
t he ent r y of  t he pr oper  j udgment  or  f or  a new t r i al . "   I d.   The 
f i r st  par t  of  t he sent ence cl ear l y says t hat  t hi s cour t  can 
r ever se an " or der  appeal ed f r om. "   The cour t  or der  appeal ed f r om 
her e i s t he or der  t hat  r ef used t o vacat e and set  asi de t he 
or i gi nal  j udgment  of  convi ct i on and or der  a new t r i al .    

However ,  i f  an appeal  i s  her e f r om t hat  or der ,  i t  does not  
f ol l ow t hat  t hi s cour t  i s  power l ess t o r ever se t he under l y i ng 
j udgment .   Not e t hat  t he second par t  of  t he sent ence pr ovi des 
t he power  " t o r emi t  t he case t o t he t r i al  cour t  f or  ent r y of  t he 
pr oper  j udgment  or  f or  a new t r i al . "   The f act  t hat  t he wor d 
" or der "  i s not  i n t hi s l anguage may not  af f ect  t hi s cour t ' s  
power  t o r ever se t he under l y i ng j udgment .   That  i s,  i f  an appeal  
i s  t aken f r om an or der ,  we may st i l l  r et ai n t he power  t o or der  a 
new t r i al  or  r each t he under l y i ng j udgment  v i a our  di scr et i onar y 
r ever sal  power .   

Nonet hel ess,  even i f  our  power  t o di r ect l y r each t he 
under l y i ng j udgment  i s r est r i ct ed because t he wor d " or der "  i s 
not  cont ai ned i n t hat  sent ence,  t hen by t he st at ut e' s l anguage,  
t hi s cour t  may st i l l  pr oper l y r ever se t he or der  t hat  deni ed 
Ar mst r ong' s mot i on f or  a new t r i al  and r emi t  t he case f or  a new 
t r i al .   We can vacat e t he t r i al  cour t ' s  or der  denyi ng t he mot i on 
f or  new t r i al  wi t h di r ect i ons f or  t he c i r cui t  cour t  t o gr ant  t he 
mot i on.   I n any event ,  we l eave r esol ut i on of  t hi s i ssue f or  
anot her  day.  
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Peni gar ,  139 Wi s.  2d 569,  577,  408 N. W. 2d 28 ( 1987) ;  St i var i us 

v.  Di Val l ,  121 Wi s.  2d 145,  153,  358 N. W. 2d 530 ( 1984) ;  St at e v.  

McConnohi e,  113 Wi s.  2d 362,  369- 70,  334 N. W. 2d 903 ( 1983) .    

¶114 Under  bot h our  i nher ent  power s and our  st at ut or y 

aut hor i t y,  " Thi s cour t  appr oaches a r equest  f or  a new t r i al  wi t h 

gr eat  caut i on.   We ar e r el uct ant  t o gr ant  a new t r i al  i n t he 

i nt er est  of  j ust i ce,  and t hus we exer ci se our  di scr et i on onl y i n 

except i onal  cases. "   Mor den v.  Cont i nent al  AG,  2000 WI  51,  ¶87,  

235 Wi s.  2d 325,  611 N. W. 2d 659 ( c i t at i ons omi t t ed) .    We 

concl ude t hi s i s an except i onal  case,  and i nvoke our  i nher ent  

power s and r ever se t he ci r cui t  cour t ' s  or der  denyi ng Ar mst r ong' s  

r equest  f or  a new t r i al  and r emand t hi s case wi t h di r ect i ons t o 

gr ant  Ar mst r ong a new t r i al . 26 

B 

¶115 As not ed i n Vol l mer ,  t hi s cour t  has concl uded t hat  t he 

r eal  cont r over sy was not  f ul l y  t r i ed wher e i mpor t ant  evi dence 

was er r oneousl y excl uded or  wher e t he evi dence was admi t t ed t hat  

shoul d have been excl uded.   Vol l mer ,  156 Wi s.  2d at  19- 20.   As 

was t he case i n Hi cks,  t hi s case i mpl i cat es bot h of  t hese 

                                                 
26 We wi l l  assume,  but  not  deci de,  t hat  our  i nher ent  

aut hor i t y appl i es t he same cr i t er i a as our  st at ut or y 
di scr et i onar y r ever sal  power .   Under  t he st at ut or y di scr et i onar y 
r ever sal  power ,  when t he r eal  cont r over sy has not  been f ul l y 
t r i ed,  t he cour t  i s  not  r equi r ed t o f i nd a subst ant i al  
pr obabi l i t y  of  a di f f er ent  r esul t  on r et r i al .   Vol l mer  v.  Luet y,  
156 Wi s.  2d 1,  19,  456 N. W. 2d 797 ( 1990) .  

We al so add t hat  our  di scr et i onar y r ever sal  power ,  al t hough 
t o be i nvoked i n except i onal  c i r cumst ances,  i s pl enar y and not  
necessar i l y  r est r ai ned by any ot her  possi bl e means of  r el i ef .   
Compar e Roggensack,  J. ,  di ssent i ng,  ¶¶164,  188.  



No.  2001AP2789 & 2002AP2979   

 

48 
 

s i t uat i ons.   See Hi cks,  202 Wi s.  2d at  161.   Fi r st ,  t he j ur y di d 

not  hear  i mpor t ant  DNA evi dence t hat  bor e on an i mpor t ant  i ssue 

of  t he case.   Second,  t he St at e pr esent ed physi cal  evi dence as 

af f i r mat i ve pr oof  of  gui l t ,  an asser t i on t hat  was i nconsi st ent  

wi t h what  t he l at er  DNA anal ysi s r eveal ed.   See i d.   Thus,  t he 

cr uci al  i ssue of  i dent i f i cat i on was cl ouded.   See i d.  

¶116 Because of  t he st r i k i ng s i mi l ar i t i es bet ween t he 

pr esent  case and Hi cks,  we set  f or t h a det ai l ed di scussi on of  

t he Hi cks case.  

C 

¶117 I n Hi cks,  t he def endant  was convi ct ed of  bur gl ar y,  

r obber y,  and t wo count s of  sexual  assaul t .   Hi cks,  202 Wi s.  2d 

at  152.   The convi ct i ons st emmed f r om al l egat i ons t hat  t he 

def endant ,  who was a bl ack man,  ent er ed t he apar t ment  of  t he 

v i ct i m,  who was a whi t e f emal e,  wi t h i nt ent  t o commi t  a f el ony,  

f or ced t he vi ct i m i nt o t wo separ at e act s of  sexual  i nt er cour se,  

and t hen st ol e $10.   I d.  at  153.    

¶118 At  t r i al ,  t he v i ct i m t est i f i ed t hat  whi l e she was 

get t i ng r eady f or  wor k one mor ni ng,  she hear d a knock at  her  

apar t ment  door  ar ound 7: 25 a. m.   I d.  at  153- 54.   She l ooked 

t hr ough t he door ' s peephol e and saw a bl ack man.   I d.  at  153.   

The vi ct i m sai d t he man i dent i f i ed hi msel f  as her  upst ai r s 

nei ghbor  and asked t o use her  phone,  as he sai d hi s phone was 

br oken.   I d.   I t  was st i pul at ed t o t hat  t he def endant  l i ved i n 

t he same apar t ment  compl ex as t he v i ct i m and t hat  t hei r  

apar t ment s wer e wi t hi n 90 seconds wal ki ng di st ance of  each 

ot her .   I d.  at  154.  



No.  2001AP2789 & 2002AP2979   

 

49 
 

¶119 The vi ct i m l et  t he man i nt o her  apar t ment ,  showed hi m 

wher e t he phone was,  and t hen went  t o t he bat hr oom t o f i ni sh 

get t i ng r eady f or  wor k.   I d.  at  153.   She t hen saw t he man' s  

f ace behi nd her  i n t he mi r r or .   I d.   The man t hr ew a scar f  

ar ound her  head and neck t o bl i nd her  and t hen sexual l y 

assaul t ed her  t wi ce over  t he next  30 mi nut es.   I d.  at  153- 54.   

Dur i ng t he assaul t ,  t he v i ct i m caught  gl i mpses of  t he man' s f ace 

and hear d t he man speak t o her  i nt er mi t t ent l y.   I d.  at  154.   The 

vi ct i m st at ed t he assai l ant  l ef t  t he apar t ment  ar ound 7: 55 a. m.   

I d.  

¶120 Two days l at er ,  t he v i ct i m i dent i f i ed t he def endant  as 

t he assai l ant  f r om an ei ght - man l i ne- up.   I d.   Af t er  t he 

def endant  was ar r est ed,  t he pol i ce sei zed a " Caucasi an"  head-

hai r  t hey f ound on t he i nsi de of  t he pant s t he def endant  was 

wear i ng.   I d.   The pant s wer e appar ent l y not  t he same pant s t he 

v i ct i m sai d t he def endant  was wear i ng at  t he t i me of  t he 

assaul t .   I d.  

¶121 A " Negr o"  head hai r  was f ound on t he vi ct i m' s 

comf or t er .   I n addi t i on,  15 days af t er  t he assaul t ,  t he pol i ce 

conduct ed a vacuum sweep of  t he v i ct i m' s apar t ment  f or  physi cal  

evi dence and f ound f our  " Negr o"  pubi c hai r s.   I d.   The vi ct i m 

sai d onl y one ot her  bl ack per son had been i n her  apar t ment  

bef or e t he assaul t s,  a woman t wo year s ear l i er  who asked t o 

bor r ow a bl anket .   I d.  at  155.    

¶122 Al so r ecover ed f r om t he apar t ment  wer e speci mens of  

semen,  bl ood,  and sal i va.   I d.  at  155.   However ,  DNA anal yses of  
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t he speci mens wer e i nconcl usi ve due t o i nsuf f i c i ent  sampl i ng 

s i zes.   I d.  at  155.    

¶123 To bol st er  t he v i ct i m' s i dent i f i cat i on of  t he 

def endant  as t he assai l ant ,  t he St at e pr esent ed t est i mony f r om a 

St at e Cr i me Lab anal yst  who conduct ed anal yses of  t he var i ous 

hai r s t hat  had been r ecover ed.   I d.  at  154.   The anal yst  opi ned 

t hat  t he physi cal  char act er i st i cs of  f our  of  t he f i ve hai r s 

f ound i n t he apar t ment  wer e " consi st ent , "  whi l e t he ot her  hai r  

was " s i mi l ar , "  wi t h hai r s obt ai ned f r om t he def endant .   I d.  at  

154,  166.   The anal yst  al so opi ned t hat  t he physi cal  

char act er i st i cs of  t he hai r  r ecover ed f r om t he def endant ' s pant s  

was " consi st ent "  wi t h t he v i ct i m' s hai r .   I d.  at  154.  The 

anal yst  agr eed t hat  unl i ke f i nger pr i nt s,  mi cr oscopi c hai r  

compar i sons can never  y i el d a def i ni t i ve i dent i f i cat i on.   I d.   

Thus,  she st at ed t o a r easonabl e degr ee of  sci ent i f i c  cer t ai nt y,  

t hat  t he hai r s r ecover ed " coul d have"  come f r om t he def endant  

and t he vi ct i m.   I d.  at  154- 55.   The St at e c l ai med t hat  al l  of  

t he hai r s came f r om t he same per son,  t he def endant .   I d.  at  166.   

However ,  t he St at e di d not  have DNA t est s conduct ed on t he 

hai r s.   I d.  at  155.  

¶124 The def endant ' s t heor y at  t r i al  was t hat  he had never  

been i n t he v i ct i m' s apar t ment .   I d.  at  163.   The def endant ' s 

gi r l f r i end,  who was l i v i ng wi t h t he def endant  at  t he t i me,  

t est i f i ed t hat  on t he day of  t he assaul t s,  t he def endant  l ef t  

t he apar t ment  ar ound 6: 40 a. m.  t o go t o wor k.   I d.  at  155.   

However ,  she st at ed he r et ur ned about  20 mi nut es l at er  because 

he was not  f eel i ng wel l .   She st at ed she l ef t  t he apar t ment  at  
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7: 00 a. m.  t o go t o Rockf or d,  I l l i noi s.   I d.   She al so pr esent ed 

a t el ephone bi l l  t hat  showed a cal l  made f r om t hei r  apar t ment  at  

8: 12 a. m.  t o her  mot her ' s house i n Rockf or d.   The gi r l f r i end 

t est i f i ed t hat  t he def endant  made t hi s cal l .   I d.   The 

def endant ' s empl oyer  al so t est i f i ed t hat  t he def endant  cal l ed i n 

s i ck somet i me bet ween 7: 00 a. m.  and 7: 30 a. m.   I d.  

¶125 I n ot her  wor ds,  t he def endant  coul d not  ot her wi se 

account  f or  hi s wher eabout s dur i ng t he t i me of  t he assaul t  f r om 

7: 25 a. m.  unt i l  7: 55 a. m.  

¶126 The St at e used t he hai r  evi dence t o show t hat  i t  was 

" mor e l i kel y t hat  [ t he def endant ]  commi t t ed t he cr i me. "   I d.  at  

167.   I ndeed,  at  t r i al ,  t he St at e char act er i zed t he evi dence as 

" power f ul "  and " st r ong"  evi dence of  gui l t .   I d.   Dur i ng t he 

St at e' s c l osi ng ar gument ,  i n addi t i on t o r el y i ng on t he vi ct i m' s 

i dent i f i cat i on,  t he St at e r el i ed heavi l y on t he exper t ' s  opi ni on 

t hat  t he hai r s f ound at  t he scene wer e consi st ent  wi t h or  

" mat ched"  t hose pr ovi ded by t he def endant .   I d.  at  167- 69.   The 

St at e ar gued:  

Not  onl y do we have a posi t i ve——as posi t i ve as i t  
get s——i dent i f i cat i on by t he v i ct i m of  t hi s cr i me of  
[ t he def endant ] ;  but   .  .  .  [ i ] n addi t i on t o t hat ,  
t her e ar e t he hai r  st andar ds,  t he hai r  st andar ds and 
unknowns,  t hat  wer e compar ed and f ound consi st ent .  

.  .  .  .   

[ Def ense counsel ]  compl ai ns about  15 days!   The 
mi ght y and power f ul  Madi son Pol i ce Depar t ment  wai t s 15 
days t o vacuum up t he f oot  of  [ t he v i ct i m' s]  bed!   

Wel l ,  l et  me r emi nd you t hat  one of  t hose hai r  
sampl es came f r om t he comf or t er .   One of  t he hai r  
sampl es,  t hat  mat ched hi s,  t hat  was consi st ent  wi t h 
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hi s,  came f r om t he comf or t er  t hat  was sei zed t hat  ver y 
mor ni ng.  

The ot her  hai r  sampl es came f r om t he vacuumi ngs.  

And di d i t  mat t er  t hat  t hey wer e 15 days l at er ? 

Ther e wer e st i l l  hai r s t her e t hat  wer e consi st ent  
wi t h hi s!   They wer e st i l l  l ayi ng t her e.   .  .  .   Those 
hai r s wer e st i l l  t her e,  wher e t hey had been,  wher e 
t hey had f al l en when he was i n t hat  apar t ment .   They 
wer e st i l l  t her e,  t o be mat ched up wi t h hi s.  

I d.  167- 69 ( emphasi s added. )  

¶127 Regar di ng t he consi st ency wi t h t he hai r  r ecover ed f r om 

t he def endant ' s l eg,  t he St at e c l ai med:  

The ot her  hai r s.   Remember ,  t he one t hat  came out  of  
hi s pant s,  t hat  mat ched her  head,  was t aken di l i gent l y 
when [ t he v i ct i m]  was t aken f or  an exam and her  hai r  
st andar ds wer e pul l ed.  

And when he' s  t aken i nt o cust ody,  t hose pant s  ar e 
t aken i nt o cust ody.   And,  l o and behol d,  t hat ' s wher e 
her  compar i son,  her  hai r  compar i son comes f r om!  

I d.  at  169.  

 ¶128 The St at e best  summar i zed i t s case wi t h t he f ol l owi ng 

ar gument  i n c l osi ng:  

" Her e' s a guy t hat  mat ches t he descr i pt i on.   
Let ' s put  hi m i n a l i ne- up. "  

And,  l o and behol d,  [ t he v i ct i m]  says,  " That ' s 
hi m.   I ' m cer t ai n t hat ' s hi m. "  

And,  l o and behol d,  he l i ves r i ght ——a mi nut e and 
a hal f  away f r om her !  

And,  l o and behol d,  hi s hai r  mat ches up.  

And her  hai r  i s  i n hi s c l ot hes!   Her  hai r  i s  i n 
hi s c l ot hes.  

I d.  at  169- 70 ( emphasi s added. )  
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 ¶129 The j ur y convi ct ed t he def endant  on al l  char ges.  

 ¶130 Post convi ct i on DNA t est i ng,  however ,  r eveal ed 

i nconcl usi ve r esul t s as t o t he sour ce of  t he hai r  f ound on t he 

def endant ' s pant s,  t he head hai r  obt ai ned f r om t he vi ct i m' s 

comf or t er ,  and t wo of  t he pubi c hai r s obt ai ned f r om t he vacuum 

sweep.   I d.  at  156.   Of  t he ot her  t wo pubi c hai r s,  one of  t hem 

act ual l y r eveal ed t he pr esence of  t wo di f f er ent  DNA sour ces,  

wi t h t he ot her  DNA sour ce possi bl y st emmi ng f r om bl ood or  semen 

on t he hai r .   I d.   The def endant  was excl uded as t he mai n sour ce 

of  DNA,  but  t he DNA t est i ng exper t  coul d not  f or m a concl usi on 

as t o hi s connect i on wi t h t he ot her  DNA sour ce.   I d.   Fr om DNA 

t est i ng of  t he ot her  pubi c hai r ,  whi ch t he exper t  agr eed may 

al so have cont ai ned t wo di f f er ent  DNA sour ces,  t he exper t  

t est i f i ed t hat  t he def endant  was not  t he sour ce of  t hat  pubi c 

hai r .   I d.   

 ¶131 The ci r cui t  cour t  deni ed t he def endant ' s mot i on f or  a 

new t r i al .   I d.  at  157.   I n an i nef f ect i ve assi st ance of  counsel  

anal ysi s,  t he t r i al  cour t  concl uded t hat  i t  was not  r easonabl y 

pr obabl e t hat  t he DNA t est i mony woul d r esul t  i n a di f f er ent  

ver di ct  at  a new t r i al .   I d.  at  157.   The cour t  of  appeal s  

r ever sed,  concl udi ng t hat  t he def endant ' s counsel  was 

i nef f ect i ve f or  f ai l i ng t o have t he pubi c hai r  subj ect ed t o DNA 

anal ysi s.   I d.  at  152.   Thi s cour t  af f i r med,  but  on di f f er ent  

gr ounds.   Thi s cour t  used i t s di scr et i onar y r ever sal  power s 

because t he r eal  cont r over sy was not  f ul l y  t r i ed.   I d.  at  152-

53.  
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¶132 Thi s cour t  det er mi ned t hat  t he sol e i ssue i n t he case 

was i dent i f i cat i on:   " whet her  [ t he def endant ]  was t he man t hat  

ent er ed [ t he v i ct i m' s]  apar t ment  and assaul t ed her . "   I d.  at  

163.   However ,  t he j ur y " di d not  have an oppor t uni t y t o hear  and 

eval uat e evi dence of  DNA t est i ng whi ch excl uded [ t he def endant ]  

as t he sour ce of  one of  t he f our  pubi c hai r s f ound at  t he 

scene. "   I d.   Qui t e t o t he cont r ar y,  t he St at e pr esent ed t he 

hai r  consi st ency evi dence as " af f i r mat i ve pr oof  of  gui l t , "  an 

asser t i on l at er  di scr edi t ed by t he DNA t est s.   I d.  at  161,  163.   

Because t he def endant ' s t heor y was t hat  he had never  been i n t he 

v i ct i m' s apar t ment ,  and because of  t he i nconcl usi veness of  t he 

ot her  DNA r esul t s,  t hi s cour t  concl uded t he concl usi ve DNA t est  

t hat  excl uded t he def endant  as t he sour ce of  t he hai r  " coul d 

have been a cr uci al ,  mat er i al  pi ece of  evi dence. " 27  I d.  at  164.    

¶133 That  DNA t est s wer e l at er  done,  however ,  di d not  of  

i t sel f  war r ant  di scr et i onar y r ever sal ,  t hi s cour t  st at ed.   

I nst ead,  t he det er mi nat i ve f act or  was " t hat  t he St at e 

asser t i vel y and r epet i t i vel y used hai r  evi dence t hr oughout  t he 

cour se of  t he t r i al  as af f i r mat i ve pr oof  of  [ t he def endant ' s]  

gui l t . "   I d.   Thi s cour t  obser ved:  

The St at e went  t o gr eat  l engt hs t o est abl i sh t hat  t he 
hai r s f ound at  t he scene came f r om t he assai l ant .   I n 
openi ng and cl osi ng ar gument s,  t he St at e r el i ed 
heavi l y upon i t s  exper t ' s  opi ni on t hat  t he hai r s  f ound 
at  t he scene wer e consi st ent  wi t h known st andar ds 

                                                 
27 Thi s cour t  r ecogni zed t hat  t he j ur y di d not  hear  of  t he 

DNA evi dence not  because t he t r i al  cour t  er r oneousl y excl uded 
i t ,  but  because t he r esul t s di d not  yet  exi st .   St at e v.  Hi cks,  
202 Wi s.  2d 150,  164,  549 N. W. 2d 435 ( 1996) .    
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pr ovi ded by [ t he def endant ] .   At  var i ous t i mes,  t he 
St at e r ef er r ed t o a " mat ch"  bet ween t he hai r s,  t hus 
el evat i ng and hi ghl i ght i ng t he i mpor t ance of  t he hai r  
evi dence t o t he j ur y.  

I d.  at  164.  

 ¶134 On appeal ,  t he St at e at t empt ed t o downpl ay i t s use of  

t he hai r  evi dence at  t r i al  and went  so f ar  as t o di scount  t he 

val ue of  t he evi dence.   I d.  at  165,  166.   Thi s cour t  was not  

per suaded,  st at i ng " a r evi ew of  t he r ecor d l eads us t o t he 

opposi t e concl usi on.   The St at e used t hi s hai r  evi dence 

t hr oughout  t he t r i al  as af f i r mat i ve pr oof  of  [ t he def endant ' s]  

gui l t . "   I d.   I ndeed,  t hi s cour t  not ed t hat  t he St at e 

char act er i zed t he evi dence as " st r ong"  and " power f ul "  i n t he 

t r i al  cour t .   I d.  166- 67.    

¶135 Af t er  det ai l i ng t he St at e' s use of  t he evi dence i n i t s 

c l osi ng ar gument ,  t hi s cour t  concl uded t hat  " [ b] ased on a r evi ew 

of  t he r ecor d,  we si mpl y cannot  say wi t h any degr ee of  cer t ai nt y  

t hat  t hi s hai r  evi dence di d not  i nf l uence t he ver di ct . "   I d.  at  

171.   I n t hi s cour t ' s  v i ew,  t he new DNA r esul t s di d much mor e 

t han mer el y " chi p away"  at  t he St at e' s case,  as t he St at e' s case 

l eaned on t he vi ct i m' s i dent i f i cat i on and asser t i on t hat  no 

bl ack per son had been i n her  apar t ment  i n t wo year s.   I d.   Thi s 

cour t  concl uded t hat  " [ t ] o t he ext ent  t hat  t he j ur y may have had 

quest i ons about  t he accur acy of  [ t he v i ct i m' s]  i dent i f i cat i on,  

t hese quest i ons wer e l i kel y answer ed by t he St at e' s af f i r mat i ve 

use of  t he hai r  evi dence. "   I d.   Ther ef or e,  t hi s cour t  hel d:  

[ T] he r eal  cont r over sy was not  f ul l y  t r i ed i nasmuch 
as:  ( 1)  t he DNA evi dence excl udi ng [ t he def endant ]  as 
t he donor  of  one of  t he hai r  speci mens was r el evant  t o 
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t he cr i t i cal  i ssue of  i dent i f i cat i on;  ( 2)  t he j ur y di d 
not  hear  t hi s  evi dence;  and ( 3)  i nst ead,  t he St at e 
used t he hai r  evi dence asser t i vel y and r epet i t i vel y as 
af f i r mat i ve pr oof  of  [ t he def endant ' s]  gui l t .  

I d.  at  172. 28 

D 

¶136 The St at e at t empt s t o di st i ngui sh t he pr esent  case 

f r om Hi cks on t he f ol l owi ng gr ounds:   ( 1)  i n Hi cks,  t he 

def endant ' s appeal  was on di r ect  appeal  shor t l y af t er  t he 

convi ct i on,  wher eas Ar mst r ong' s appeal  i s  pr emi sed on a 

Wi s.  St at .  § 974. 06 ( 2001- 02)  mot i on f i l ed 20 year s af t er  hi s 

t r i al ;  ( 2)  i n Hi cks,  t her e was no r easonabl e expl anat i on f or  t he 

def endant ' s hai r  t o be i n t he v i ct i m' s apar t ment  unl ess he was 

t her e,  wher e her e Ar mst r ong admi t t ed t o bei ng i n Kamps'  

apar t ment ;  ( 3)  i n Hi cks,  t he pr osecut or  f ocused r epeat edl y on 

t he hai r  evi dence as pr oof  of  gui l t ,  wher eas her e t he pr osecut or  

ar gued t he physi cal  evi dence onl y pr ovi ded an i nf er ence of  gui l t  

whi l e f ocusi ng on al l  t he ot her  evi dence;  and ( 4)  i n Hi cks,  t he 

St at e di d not   have an abundance of  st r ong,  c i r cumst ant i al  

evi dence of  gui l t ,  wher eas her e t he St at e c l ai ms i t  does.   We 

ar e not  per suaded.  

 

 

                                                 
28 Even a casual  r eadi ng of  Hi cks r eveal s how t he di ssent ' s  

di st i l l ed di scussi on of  t hat  case does vi ol ence t o i t s hol di ng.   
Compar e Hi cks,  202 Wi s.  2d at  172 ( f ocusi ng on St at e' s use of  
evi dence asser t i vel y and r epet i t i vel y as af f i r mat i ve pr oof  of  
t he def endant ' s gui l t ) ,  wi t h Roggensack,  J. ,  di ssent i ng,  ¶¶182-
86 ( const r ui ng Hi cks as f ocusi ng on t he def endant ' s t heor y of  
t he case and whet her  new evi dence under mi nes hi s or  her  
def ense) .  
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1 

¶137 Fi r st ,  we have al r eady concl uded t hat  we have i nher ent  

power  t o r ever se a convi ct i on and or der  a new t r i al  i n t he 

i nt er est s of  j ust i ce.   Fur t her ,  t he t i mi ng of  Ar mst r ong' s appeal  

20 year s af t er  hi s convi ct i on i s not  a meani ngf ul  di st i nct i on.   

I t  i s  t r ue t hat  Ar mst r ong' s t r i al  occur r ed l ong bef or e t he 

advent  of  DNA t est i ng.   However ,  we agr ee wi t h Ar mst r ong t hat  i t  

was onl y t hr ough t echnol ogi cal  happenst ance t hat  DNA t est i ng was 

avai l abl e t o t he def endant  i n Hi cks on hi s di r ect  appeal .   

2 

¶138 The St at e' s second di st i nct i on escapes us.   I t  i s  t r ue 

t hat  t he def endant  i n Hi cks c l ai med he was never  i n t he v i ct i m' s  

apar t ment .   However ,  her e,  Ar mst r ong cl ai ms he was not  i n Kamps'  

apar t ment  at  t he t i me of  her  mur der .   The St at e used t he hai r  

evi dence t o pr ove t hat  Ar mst r ong must  have been i n t he apar t ment  

when Kamps was mur der ed.   That  i s,  t he St at e used t he evi dence 

i n exact l y t he same manner  as i n Hi cks,  and,  based on our  

di scussi on bel ow,  t he evi dence was j ust  as damagi ng agai nst  

Ar mst r ong. 29 

 

 

                                                 
29 The di ssent  ar gues t hat  " f i ndi ng hai r  consi st ent  wi t h 

Ar mst r ong' s di d not  under mi ne hi s def ense. "   Roggensack,  J. ,  
di ssent i ng,  ¶186.   Thi s poi nt  i s  absur d.   I f  Ar mst r ong' s def ense 
was t hat  he was not  t her e when Kamps was mur der ed,  t he St at e' s  
af f i r mat i ve and r epet i t i ve use of  t he hai r  evi dence as 
" concl usi ve"  pr oof  t hat  Ar mst r ong was t he mur der er  absol ut el y 
under mi ned hi s def ense.  
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3 

¶139 The St at e' s t hi r d di st i nct i on i s di s i ngenuous.   At  

t r i al ,  t he St at e di d mor e t han si mpl y use t he physi cal  evi dence 

t o est abl i sh an i nf er ence of  gui l t ;  i t  used t he physi cal  

evi dence asser t i vel y and r epet i t i vel y as af f i r mat i ve pr oof  of  

Ar mst r ong' s gui l t .    

¶140 I n c l osi ng ar gument ,  t he St at e pr esent ed i t s case as 

boi l i ng down t o f i ve poi nt s:  

Al l  t he evi dence t hat  we have pr esent ed 
demonst r at es beyond any doubt  t hat  Ral ph Ar mst r ong was 
at  Char i se Kamps'  apar t ment  i n t he ear l y mor ni ng hour s 
of  June 24,  1980,  mur der i ng and sexual l y assaul t i ng 
her .   

.  .  .  .  

 .  .  .  We di v i ded t he evi dence t hat  has been pr esent ed 
at  t hi s t r i al  i nt o f i ve ar eas.   The f i r st  ar ea i s 
t i mes.   The def endant  coul d not  have been at  Char i se 
Kamps'  at  a t i me he sai d he was.   And t he evi dence 
excl usi vel y shows t hat  i t  was i mpossi bl e.   

The second ar ea of  evi dence deal s wi t h t he 
t est i mony of  Ri cci e Or ebi a and Laur a Chaf ee at  134 
West  Gor ham and 120 West  Gor ham and who made cer t ai n 
obser vat i ons t o put  Ral ph Ar mst r ong at  Char i se Kamps'  
apar t ment  af t er  mi dni ght  of  June 24,  1980.  

Ther e was physi cal  evi dence at  t he scene.   
Physi cal  evi dence t o demonst r at e concl usi vel y t hat  
Ral ph Ar mst r ong i s t he per son who mur der ed Char i se 
Kamps.  

Ther e i s al so physi cal  evi dence on Ral ph 
Ar mst r ong t hat  t i es hi m pr eci sel y wi t h t he scene of  
t he cr i me.   That ' s t he t hi r d ar ea.  

The f our t h i s t he def endant ' s i nt er est  i n Char i se 
Kamps t est i f i ed t o by a number  of  wi t nesses and 
gr udgi ngl y admi t t ed by t he def endant .   And evi dence 
ver y c l ear l y on t he eveni ng of  June 23,  1980,  he was 
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wi t h Jane May l at er  i n t he eveni ng when he went  out  
wi t h her  and,  f i nal l y,  when he went  over  t o her  
apar t ment  and he conveni ent l y mur der ed her .  

Fi nal l y,  t her e i s t he i ssue of  t he def endant ' s 
cr edi bi l i t y .   The def endant  got  up her e and l i ed 
t hr ough hi s t eet h.   ( Emphasi s added. )  

 ¶141 Af t er  ar gui ng why Ar mst r ong coul d not  have been wher e 

he cl ai med he was at  t he t i me of  Kamps'  mur der ,  t he St at e 

f ocused on t he physi cal  evi dence:    

You have hear d a l ot  of  descr i pt i on about  t he physi cal  
evi dence t hat  was f ound at  t he scene,  of  peopl e 
descr i bi ng t he body,  about  i t ems of  evi dence t hat  wer e 
col l ect ed at  t he scene,  hai r s,  bl ood sampl es,  anal yses 
conduct ed subsequent  t o t hat .   The pol i ce wer e cal l ed 
t o t he scene at  about  one o' c l ock on June 24,  1980.   
They go t her e.   The f i r st  t hi ng t hey di d was t hey t ook 
pi ct ur es because t hey want ed t o pr eser ve t he scene and 
check t he evi dence af t er war ds.  

¶142 Regar di ng t he hai r s f ound on Kamps'  r obe,  t he St at e 

c l ai med:  

Now,  you have an oppor t uni t y t o see what  t hat  
scene l ooked l i ke r i ght  af t er  Ral ph Ar mst r ong 
commi t t ed t he mur der  ( i ndi cat i ng) . 30  That ' s what  t hey 
saw on t he bed ( i ndi cat i ng) .   Char i se Kamps.   That  was 
Char i se Kamps.   I  want  you t o l ook at  t he smear  mar ks 
on t he l egs.   You can' t  see i t  r eal  wel l  f r om t hi s 
angl e ( i ndi cat i ng) .   You have hear d Of f i cer  Fi sher  
descr i be i t .   You hear d Jane May descr i be i t .   I t  says 
i t  was l i ke f i nger  pai nt s ( i ndi cat i ng) .   So,  Char i se 
Kamps was f ound i n bl ood and f eces and on her  bed wi t h 
t hat  r obe on.   Thi s i s i t  ( i ndi cat i ng)  l y i ng on t op of  
Char i se Kamps'  body.   Two of  t he def endant ' s  hai r s 
wer e on t hi s r obe.   One of  Char i se Kamps'  hai r s r i ght  
t her e acr oss t he body ( i ndi cat i ng) .   

                                                 
30 As not ed above,  t he i ndi cat i ons t he St at e made wer e t o 

cr i me scene phot ogr aphs depi ct i ng Kamps'  body " nude,  l y i ng on 
her  f ace,  wi t h bl ood smear ed on her  back,  but t ocks and t hi ghs. "   
Ar mst r ong,  110 Wi s.  2d at  579.    
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¶143 Regar di ng t he f i ndi ngs of  t r ace amount s of  bl ood 

under neat h Ar mst r ong' s t humbnai l s,  t he St at e mai nt ai ned:  

The def endant ' s f i nger s wer e t est ed down at  t he 
pol i ce st at i on.   J i l l  Wegner  r an t he hemost i cks ar ound 
t he cut i c l es and under  t he t humb and under  t he nai l s 
and ar ound t he cut i c l es of  ever y f i nger  and l o and 
behol d t her e was bl ood under  ever y f i nger nai l ,  ever y 
s i ngl e one.   That  was Char i se Kamps'  bl ood.   ( Emphasi s 
added. )  

¶144 Fi nal l y,  r egar di ng t he semen on Kamps'  r obe,  t he St at e 

ar gued:  

Thi s pi ct ur e shows Char i se Kamps'  r obe.   ( I ndi cat i ng. )   
I t ' s  r i ght  next  t o t he bed.   You hear d t est i mony about  
t hat  r obe.   J i l l  Wegner  per f or med t est s on i t  and she 
l ooked f or  semi nal  mat er i al  and she f ound i t .   Found 
spot s of  i t .   She di d an anal ysi s on t hat .   She was 
t r y i ng t o det er mi ne t he bl ood t ype of  t he per son who 
put  semi nal  f l ui ds on t he r obe.   So,  she anal yzed i t  
and f ound t hat  i t  came f r om a per son wi t h t ype A bl ood 
who secr et ed t hi s bl ood t ype i n hi s body f l ui d,  i n hi s 
semen,  i n hi s sal i va,  i n hi s t ear s.   And she anal yzed 
Ral ph Ar mst r ong' s bl ood and sal i va.   Ral ph Ar mst r ong' s 
a t ype A secr et or .   

¶145 I n r ebut t al ,  t he St at e summed up t he physi cal  ev i dence 

as f ol l ows:  

The physi cal  evi dence on Ral ph Ar mst r ong at  t he scene 
t i es hi m i r r evocabl y t o t he mur der  of  Char i se Kamps.   
That  Ral ph Ar mst r ong was i n t he apar t ment  of  Char i se 
Kamps.   And t hat ' s t hat  cer t ai nt y t hat ' s not  l ess 
i mpor t ant  t hat  t he def endant  i s a l i ar .   ( Emphasi s 
added. )  

¶146 As i n Hi cks,  t he St at e now at t empt s t o downpl ay t he 

s i gni f i cance of  i t s  use of  t he physi cal  evi dence. 31  See Hi cks,  

                                                 

31 The St at e goes so f ar  as t o now ar gue:  

The new DNA evi dence i s,  at  most ,  pr oof  t hat  t he t wo 
head hai r s came f r om an uni dent i f i ed,  unknown per son 
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202 Wi s.  2d at  165.   An exami nat i on of  t he St at e' s c l osi ng 

ar gument ,  however ,  bel i es t he St at e' s asser t i on t hat  i t  mer el y  

used t he evi dence t o est abl i sh an " i nf er ence of  gui l t . "   I ndeed,  

i n st ar k cont r ast  t o Hi cks,  wher e t he St at e ar gued t he hai r s 

" mat ched"  t he def endant s,  t he St at e i n t hi s case went  f ur t her ,  

much f ur t her .   The St at e ar gued t hat  t he physi cal  evi dence 

" concl usi vel y"  demonst r at ed t hat  Ar mst r ong was t he mur der er .   

The St at e ar gued t hat  t her e was no expl anat i on f or  t he hai r  i n 

Kamps'  apar t ment  except  f or  t he f act  t hat  he was t he mur der er .   

And t he St at e ar gued t hat  t he bl ood f ound under neat h Ar mst r ong' s 

nai l s was Kamps'  bl ood. 32   

4 

¶147 Fi nal l y,  t he St at e ar gues i t  had a st r onger  

c i r cumst ant i al  evi dence case agai nst  Ar mst r ong t han i t  di d 

agai nst  t he def endant  i n Hi cks,  i ncl udi ng eyewi t ness t est i mony 

t hat  i dent i f i ed Ar mst r ong as t he man who ent er ed and exi t ed 

                                                                                                                                                             
at  an unknown t i me and i n an unknown manner .   Gi ven 
t he mobi l i t y  of  hai r ,  t he sour ce of  t he t wo hai r s may 
be a per son who was never  even i n Kamps'  apar t ment ,  or  
who was never  t her e unt i l  af t er  t he body was 
di scover ed.   The new DNA evi dence makes i t  pr obabl e 
t hat  t he hai r s ar e s i mpl y not  connect ed t o t he cr i mes 
at  al l .  

 
 The St at e has put  on t he def ense' s hat ,  as t hi s " mobi l i t y  
of  hai r "  i s  pr eci sel y t he ar gument  t hat  Ar mst r ong pr esent ed t o 
t he j ur y i n 1981.   The j ur y di d not  buy i t .    

32 The onl y evi dence t he St at e pr esent ed t hat  ar guabl y 
est abl i shed not hi ng mor e t han an i nf er ence of  gui l t  was t he 
semen evi dence,  as t he St at e not ed i t  came f r om a t ype A 
secr et or  and t hen not ed onl y t hat  Ar mst r ong was such a secr et or .  
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Kamps'  apar t ment  at  t he cr uci al  t i me,  t hat  Ar mst r ong' s al i bi  was 

demol i shed,  t hat  Ar mst r ong made a deposi t  of  money t he day af t er  

Kamps'  mur der  t hat  was si mi l ar  t o an amount  t hat  was mi ssi ng 

f r om Kamps'  apar t ment ,  and t hat  t he j ur y eval uat ed Ar mst r ong' s  

cr edi bi l i t y  i n l i ght  of  t he f act  t hat  he had si x pr i or  

convi ct i ons.   I n l i ght  of  Hi cks,  we ar e not  per suaded t hat  t hi s 

c i r cumst ant i al  evi dence wei ghs heavi l y,  i f  at  al l ,  i n t he 

St at e' s f avor .  

¶148 Regar di ng i dent i f i cat i ons,  Or ebi a saw t he per pet r at or  

f r om some di st ance.   Whi l e Or ebi a vaci l l at ed on mul t i pl e 

occasi ons about  what  he saw ( and al t hough i t  appear s t hat  hi s 

r ecol l ect i on was l at er  r ef r eshed by hypnosi s) , 33 he ul t i mat el y 

r emai ned f i r m t hat  Ar mst r ong was t he per son he saw.  

¶149 By cont r ast ,  i n Hi cks,  t he v i ct i m saw t he per pet r at or  

up- cl ose and i n per son.   Hi cks,  202 Wi s.  2d at  154.   Fr om our  

r eadi ng of  Hi cks,  t her e i s no i ndi cat i on t hat  t he v i ct i m waver ed 

on her  i dent i f i cat i on.   Never t hel ess,  t hi s cour t  st i l l  r ever sed 

because of  t he St at e' s use of  t he hai r  evi dence as af f i r mat i ve 

pr oof  of  gui l t .   Thi s cour t  wr ot e:   " To t he ext ent  t hat  t he j ur y 

may have had quest i ons about  t he accur acy of  [ t he v i ct i m' s]  

i dent i f i cat i on,  t hese quest i ons wer e l i kel y answer ed by t he 

                                                 
33 I n Ar mst r ong,  110 Wi s.  2d at  565- 76,  whi ch was 

Ar mst r ong' s di r ect  appeal ,  t hi s cour t  est abl i shed t he f r amewor k 
f or  det er mi ni ng t he admi ssi bi l i t y  of  hypnot i cal l y r ef r eshed 
r ecol l ect i on and concl uded t hat  t he pr ocedur es used t o 
hypnot i cal l y r ef r esh Or ebi a' s t est i mony wer e not  i mper mi ssi bl y 
suggest i ve.   
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St at e' s af f i r mat i ve use of  t he hai r  evi dence. "   I d.  at  171.   The 

same i s t r ue her e.  

¶150 Regar di ng al i bi  evi dence,  Ar mst r ong has cr af t ed an 

i nt r i cat e ar gument  t o show why t he St at e' s asser t i on t hat  hi s 

al i bi  was i mpossi bl e i s wr ong.   The St at e,  of  cour se,  r ef ut es 

t hi s by not i ng t he j ur y di d not  accept  Ar mst r ong' s expl anat i on 

of  hi s wher eabout s.   However ,  t hi s does not  mi l i t at e agai nst  

Ar mst r ong.  

¶151 I n Hi cks,  t he def endant ,  who l i ved i n t he same 

apar t ment  compl ex as t he v i ct i m and wi t hi n 90- seconds wal ki ng-

di st ance,  coul d not  pr ove he was somewher e el se at  t he t i me of  

t he assaul t s.   I d.  at  154.   He had evi dence t o show t hat  he was 

not  i n t he v i ct i m' s apar t ment  bot h bef or e and af t er  t he 

assaul t s,  but  he coul d not  conf i r m wher e he was dur i ng t he t i me 

of  t he assaul t s f r om 7: 25 a. m.  t o 7: 55 a. m.   See i d.  at  154- 55,  

163.   Never t hel ess,  t hi s cour t  r ever sed because of  t he manner  i n 

whi ch t he St at e used t he hai r  evi dence as af f i r mat i ve pr oof  of  

gui l t .   I d.  at  172.   The St at e has done t he same t hi ng her e.  

¶152 Last ,  wi t h r espect  t o t he deposi t  of  money Ar mst r ong 

made t he mor ni ng af t er  t he mur der  and how such a deposi t  was out  

of  char act er  f or  hi m,  and wi t h r espect  t o t he j ur y ' s assessment  

of  Ar mst r ong' s  cr edi bi l i t y  i n l i ght  of  hi s s i x pr i or  

convi ct i ons,  we cannot  pl ace gr eat  wei ght  on t hi s pr opensi t y and 

char act er  evi dence.   Sur el y i t  adds t o t he St at e' s case,  but  t he 

evi dence can har dl y be cat egor i zed as st r ong ci r cumst ant i al  

pr oof  t hat  r emoves t hi s case f r om t he r eal m of  Hi cks,  i n l i ght  
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of  what  we now know about  how t he hai r ,  semen and bl ood evi dence 

and how i t  was used by t he St at e.    

¶153 Ther ef or e,  we ar e not  per suaded t hat  t he 

c i r cumst ant i al  evi dence pr esent ed by t he St at e di st i ngui shes 

t hi s case f r om Hi cks.   

E 

¶154 Based on a r evi ew of  t he r ecor d,  we si mpl y cannot  say 

wi t h any degr ee of  cer t ai nt y t hat  t he physi cal  evi dence di d not  

i nf l uence t he j ur y ' s ver di ct .   See Hi cks,  202 Wi s.  2d at  171.   

The sol e i ssue i n t he case was one of  i dent i f i cat i on:   whet her  

Or ebi a saw Ar mst r ong ent er  Kamps'  apar t ment  at  t he t i me of  

Kamps'  mur der .   Compar e i d.  at  163.   To bol st er  Or ebi a' s 

i dent i f i cat i on,  t he St at e f l aunt ed power f ul  concl usi ons bef or e 

t he j ur y t hat  t he physi cal  evi dence concl usi vel y  and i r r evocabl y  

est abl i shed Ar mst r ong as t he mur der er .   However ,  t he j ur y was 

pr esent ed concl usi ons based on evi dence t hat  ar e now f ound t o be 

i nconsi st ent  wi t h t he f act s.   The key hai r s on t he bat hr obe bel t  

t hat  was dr aped over  Kamps'  body ar e not  Ar mst r ong' s and t he 

semen f ound on Kamps'  r obe i s not  Ar mst r ong' s.   I n addi t i on,  

t her e i s no i ndi cat i on t hat  any bl ood t hat  may have been on t he 

hemost i cks was t hat  of  Kamps. 34 

                                                 
34 By maki ng t hi s  obser vat i on,  we do not  di sr egar d any of  

t he c i r cui t  cour t ' s  f i ndi ngs.   Cont r a Roggensack,  J. ,  
di ssent i ng,  ¶173.   I nst ead,  we si mpl y r ecogni ze t he l i mi t at i on 
of  t hi s physi cal  evi dence:   Wegner  her sel f  t est i f i ed t hat  she 
coul d not  det er mi ne t he sour ce of  t he human bl ood f ound 
under neat h Ar mst r ong' s f i nger nai l s and bi g t oenai l s,  yet  t he 
St at e ar gued t hat  i t  was i n f act  Kamps'  bl ood.  
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¶155 The j ur y di d not  have an oppor t uni t y t o hear  and 

eval uat e t he DNA evi dence t hat  excl udes Ar mst r ong as t he sour ce 

of  t he hai r s and t he semen.   Thi s i s not  evi dence t hat  t ends t o 

" chi p away"  at  t he accumul at i on of  t he St at e' s evi dence.   

Compar e i d.  at  171.   The DNA evi dence di scr edi t s one of  t he 

pi vot al  pi eces of  pr oof  f or mi ng t he ver y f oundat i on of  t he 

St at e' s case.   I f  t he St at e' s t heor y i s cor r ect ,  t hat  t he semen 

i s f r om t he mur der er  and t hat  t he mur der er ' s hai r s f el l  on t he 

bat hr obe bel t  t hat  was dr aped acr oss Kamps'  body,  t hen t hat  

per son i s not  Ar mst r ong.   To t he ext ent  t he j ur y had doubt s 

about  Or ebi a' s  t est i mony or  t he i nf er ence t o dr aw f r om 

Ar mst r ong' s deposi t  of  money t he day af t er  Kamps'  mur der ,  t hose 

quest i ons wer e l i kel y answer ed by t he St at e' s use of  t he 

physi cal  evi dence.   See Hi cks,  202 Wi s.  2d at  171 ( " To t he 

ext ent  t hat  t he j ur y may have had quest i ons about  t he accur acy 

of  [ t he v i ct i m' s]  i dent i f i cat i on,  t hese quest i ons wer e l i kel y 

answer ed by t he St at e' s af f i r mat i ve use of  t he hai r  evi dence. " ) .   

¶156 The DNA evi dence now excl udes Ar mst r ong as t he donor  

of  cer t ai n physi cal  evi dence t hat  was r el evant  t o t he cr i t i cal  

i ssue of  i dent i t y;  t he j ur y di d not  hear  t hi s evi dence,  and t he 

St at e used t he physi cal  evi dence asser t i vel y and r epet i t i vel y as 

af f i r mat i ve pr oof  of  Ar mst r ong' s gui l t .   Because of  t he af f i ni t y 

bet ween t hi s case and Hi cks,  we r ever se Ar mst r ong' s j udgment  of  

convi ct i on i n t he i nt er est s of  j ust i ce because t he r eal  

cont r over sy was not  f ul l y  t r i ed.   Ther ef or e,  we r emand t hi s 

mat t er  f or  a new t r i al .    
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I I I  

¶157   Bot h par t i es have br i ef ed ar gument s concer ni ng 

whet her  Ar mst r ong i s ent i t l ed t o a new t r i al  because t he DNA 

r esul t s const i t ut e newl y di scover ed evi dence.   Because our  

deci s i on r est s on t he i nt er est s of  j ust i ce,  we decl i ne t o deci de 

whet her  a new t r i al  shoul d be or der ed based on newl y di scover ed 

evi dence. 35  Never t hel ess,  we t ake t hi s oppor t uni t y t o c l ar i f y  

t he pr oper  t est  f or  anal yzi ng newl y di scover ed evi dence.    

                                                 
35 We not e t hat  t her e ar e pr obl ems wi t h t he di ssent ' s 

" mount ai n of  ot her  evi dence i ncr i mi nat i ng Ar mst r ong t hat  i s not  
af f ect ed i n any way by t he DNA t est  r esul t s at  i ssue her e. "   
Roggensack,  J. ,  di ssent i ng,  ¶174.   Her e ar e some of  t hose 
pr obl ems.  

Fi r st ,  t he di ssent  cont ends t hat  t he eyewi t ness t est i mony 
pl aced Ar mst r ong and Ar mst r ong' s  vehi c l e " at  Kamps'  apar t ment  at  
t he t i me of  t he mur der . "   I d.   Act ual l y,  t he best  t he St at e 
coul d det er mi ne was t hat  Kamps was mur der ed anywher e f r om 
mi dni ght  t o 3: 00 a. m.   Thus,  t he evi dence pl aced Ar mst r ong and 
hi s vehi c l e at  Kamps'  apar t ment  bui l di ng ar ound,  not  at ,  t he 
t i me of  t he mur der .  

Second,  t he di ssent  cont ends t hat  t her e was " human bl ood 
ar ound al l  10 of  Ar mst r ong' s f i nger s and on hi s t oes .  .  .  . "   
I d.   Act ual l y,  Wegner ' s hemost i ck t est  r esul t s wer e pr esumpt i ve 
posi t i ves f or  t he pr esence of  bl ood.   Fr om t hi s al one,  Wegner  
coul d not  det er mi ne whet her  t he bl ood was human or  whet her  i t  
was even bl ood i n t he f i r st  i nst ance.   See I . B. 3. c.  i nf r a.   
Wegner  di d t ake scr api ngs f r om under neat h Ar mst r ong' s t humbs and 
bi g t oes and di d det er mi ne t hat  t her e was human bl ood under neat h 
bot h t humbnai l s and bi g t oes.   She di d not  conduct  scr api ngs 
under  t he r est  of  Ar mst r ong' s f i nger s or  t oes.    

Thi r d,  t he di ssent  cont ends t hat  Ar mst r ong' s f ai l ur e t o 
cal l  hi s br ot her  at  t r i al  as a mat er i al  wi t ness t o cor r obor at e 
Ar mst r ong' s t est i mony wei ghs agai nst  Ar mst r ong.   I d.   Thi s i s 
l i t t l e mor e t han bur den shi f t i ng,  and t he di ssent  has not  
expl ai ned how t hi s i s i n anyway pr oper .  
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¶158 Quot i ng St at e v.  Aver y,  213 Wi s.  2d 228,  234,  570 

N. W. 2d 573 ( Ct .  App.  1997) ,  t he cour t  of  appeal s  bel ow set  f or t h 

t he st andar d as f ol l ows:  

Under  [ a newl y di scover ed evi dence]  t est ,  Ar mst r ong 
woul d have t o pr ove,  by c l ear  and convi nci ng evi dence,  
al l  of  t he f ol l owi ng:  

( 1)  The evi dence must  have come t o t he movi ng par t y ' s 
knowl edge af t er  a t r i al ;  ( 2)  t he movi ng par t y must  not  
have been negl i gent  i n seeki ng t o di scover  i t ;  ( 3)  t he 
evi dence must  be mat er i al  t o t he i ssue;  ( 4)  t he 
t est i mony must  not  be mer el y cumul at i ve t o t he 
t est i mony whi ch was i nt r oduced at  t r i al ;  and ( 5)  i t  
must  be r easonabl y pr obabl e t hat  a di f f er ent  r esul t  
woul d be r eached on a new t r i al .  

Ar mst r ong,  Nos.  2001AP2789- CR and 2002AP2979- CR,  unpubl i shed 

sl i p op. ,  ¶32.    

 ¶159 An i ssue i n Aver y was whet her  t he c l ear  and convi nci ng 

st andar d appl i es t o t he r easonabl e pr obabi l i t y  f act or .   The 

def endant  agr eed t hat  t he st andar d of  pr oof  i n a newl y 

di scover ed evi dence cl ai m was " c l ear  and convi nci ng evi dence, "  

but  ar gued t hat  t he st andar d of  pr oof  was i r r el evant  because t he 

f act s wer e undi sput ed i n hi s case.   Aver y,  213 Wi s.  2d at  235.   

                                                                                                                                                             
Four t h,  t he di ssent  st at es t hat  Ar mst r ong' s br ot her  di d not  

f i l e an af f i davi t  wi t h Ar mst r ong' s cur r ent  mot i on f or  a new 
t r i al .   I d.   However ,  t he di ssent  does not  expl ai n how t hi s 
af f ect s whet her  a di f f er ent  r esul t  woul d occur  at  a new t r i al .   
Whi l e such an af f i davi t ,  i f  f i l ed,  woul d be r el evant  t o suppor t  
hi s mot i on,  t he conver se i s not  t r ue.   The st at ement  i s 
i r r el evant .    

Pr oper l y v i ewi ng t he evi dence,  t he di ssent ' s " mount ai n of  
evi dence"  may be l i t t l e mor e t han a mol ehi l l .   See i d.   However ,  
we do not  r each t he i ssue of  whet her  t her e i s a r easonabl e 
pr obabi l i t y  t hat  a di f f er ent  r esul t  woul d be r eached at  a new 
t r i al .  
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The cour t  of  appeal s r ej ect ed t hi s ar gument ,  st at i ng t hat  " [ a]  

f act  f i nder  does not  oper at e i n a vacuum.   Rat her ,  t he f act  

f i nder  necessar i l y  needs a st andar d by whi ch t o measur e whet her  

cer t ai n f act s war r ant  t he r el i ef  sought . "   I d.  at  236.   Thus,  

t he cour t  of  appeal s concl uded t hat  a def endant  must  est abl i sh 

by c l ear  and convi nci ng evi dence t hat  t her e i s a r easonabl e 

pr obabi l i t y  t hat  a di f f er ent  r esul t  woul d be r eached on a new 

t r i al .    

¶160 Ami cus f or  t he I nnocence Pr oj ect  cont ends t he Aver y 

cour t  er r ed by i mposi ng a doubl e bur den on def endant s,  f i r st  

t hat  t her e i s a r easonabl e pr obabi l i t y  of  a di f f er ent  r esul t  and 

t hen second,  t hat  t hat  t her e i s c l ear  and convi nci ng evi dence of  

t hat  r easonabl e pr obabi l i t y .   The I nnocence Pr oj ect  ar gues t hat  

t he " r easonabl e pr obabi l i t y"  f act or  i s i t sel f  a bur den of  

pr oof . 36  We agr ee.  

¶161 I n St at e v.  McCal l um,  208 Wi s.  2d 463,  473,  561 N. W. 2d 

707 ( 1997) ,  t hi s cour t  speci f i cal l y at t ached t he bur den of  pr oof  

of  c l ear  and convi nci ng evi dence onl y on t he f i r st  f our  cr i t er i a 

i n t he newl y di scover ed evi dence.   Thi s cour t  st at ed:  

Fi r st ,  t he def endant  must  pr ove,  by c l ear  and 
convi nci ng evi dence,  t hat :   ( 1)  t he evi dence was 
di scover ed af t er  convi ct i on;  ( 2)  t he def endant  was not  
negl i gent  i n seeki ng evi dence;  ( 3)  t he evi dence i s 
mat er i al  t o an i ssue i n t he case;  and ( 4)  t he evi dence 
i s not  mer el y  cumul at i ve.   I f  t he def endant  pr oves 
t hese f our  cr i t er i a by c l ear  and convi nci ng evi dence,  
t he c i r cui t  cour t  must  det er mi ne whet her  a r easonabl e 

                                                 
36 Al t er nat i vel y,  Ar mst r ong ar gues t hat  we shoul d at  l east  

l ower  t he bur den t o a pr eponder ance of  t he evi dence.  
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pr obabi l i t y  exi st s t hat  a di f f er ent  r esul t  woul d be 
r eached i n a t r i al .  

¶162 I n ot her  wor ds,  t her e need onl y be a r easonabl e 

pr obabi l i t y  t hat  a di f f er ent  r esul t  woul d be r eached i n a t r i al .   

Ther e ar e no gr adat i ons of  a r easonabl e pr obabi l i t y ;  ei t her  

t her e i s one,  or  t her e i s not .   Ther ef or e,  we wi t hdr aw l anguage 

f r om Aver y t hat  concl udes t he r easonabl e pr obabi l i t y  

det er mi nat i on must  be made by c l ear  and convi nci ng evi dence.  

I V 

¶163 I n sum,  we concl ude t hat  Ar mst r ong i s ent i t l ed t o a 

new t r i al  i n t he i nt er est  of  j ust i ce because t he r eal  

cont r over sy was not  f ul l y  t r i ed. . 37  Ther ef or e,  we r ever se t he 

cour t  of  appeal s '  deci s i on and r emand t hi s case t o t he c i r cui t  

cour t  wi t h di r ect i ons t o gr ant  hi s mot i on t o vacat e t he j udgment  

of  convi ct i on and t o or der   a new t r i al .  

By the Court.—The deci s i on of  t he cour t  of  appeal s i s 

r ever sed and t he cause r emanded t o t he c i r cui t  cour t  f or  f ur t her  

pr oceedi ngs consi st ent  wi t h t hi s opi ni on.   

 

 

 

                                                 
37 I n Hi cks,  t hi s cour t  obser ved t hat  " [ t ] her e i s no 

quest i on t hat  t he St at e ver y capabl y and pr of essi onal l y  
pr esent ed i t s case t o t he j ur y. "   I d.  at  172.   We agr ee wi t h 
t hat  sent i ment  her e.   Never t hel ess,  t he i nt er est s of  j ust i ce now 
r equi r e a new t r i al .  
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¶164 PATI ENCE DRAKE ROGGENSACK,  J.  (dissenting).    The 

maj or i t y opi ni on r ever ses t he cour t  of  appeal s deci s i on 

af f i r mi ng t he c i r cui t  cour t ' s  or der  denyi ng Ral ph Ar mst r ong' s 

mot i on t o vacat e hi s j udgment  of  convi ct i on,  and i t  t hen 

concl udes t hat  Ar mst r ong i s ent i t l ed t o a new t r i al .   Maj or i t y 

op. ,  ¶2.   The maj or i t y opi ni on does so based on i t s concl usi on 

t hat  t he r esul t s of  DNA t est s t hat  have been r ecent l y compl et ed 

pr ove t he r eal  cont r over sy was not  f ul l y  t r i ed.   Maj or i t y op. ,  

¶2.   However ,  t he act ual  i ssue i n t hi s case i s whet her  t he DNA 

evi dence,  whi ch i s newl y di scover ed,  cr eat es a r easonabl e 

pr obabi l i t y  of  a di f f er ent  out come at  a new t r i al .   See St at e v.  

McCal l um,  208 Wi s.  2d 463,  474,  561 N. W. 2d 707 ( 1997) .   The 

maj or i t y opi ni on i s abl e t o s i de- st ep our  wel l - est abl i shed 

j ur i spr udence f or  newl y di scover ed evi dence and concl ude t hat  

Ar mst r ong i s ent i t l ed t o a new t r i al  onl y by avoi di ng t he 

cr uci al  anal ysi s of  whet her  t hi s DNA evi dence cr eat es a 

r easonabl e pr obabi l i t y  t hat  a di f f er ent  r esul t  woul d be r eached 

at  a new t r i al .   Because I  concl ude t hat  t hi s evi dence does not  

cr eat e a r easonabl e pr obabi l i t y  t hat  a di f f er ent  r esul t  woul d be 

r eached at  a new t r i al  and because I  concl ude t hat  t he r eal  

cont r over sy,  whet her  Ar mst r ong r aped and mur der ed Char i se Kamps,  

was f ul l y t r i ed i n 1981,  I  r espect f ul l y di ssent  f r om t he 

maj or i t y opi ni on.   Accor di ngl y,  I  woul d af f i r m t he cour t  of  

appeal s.  
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I .   DI SCUSSI ON 

¶165 Ar mst r ong' s c l ai m of  newl y di scover ed evi dence 

suf f i c i ent  t o vacat e hi s convi ct i on i s based on r ecent  DNA 

t est i ng of  t wo hai r s f ound i n Kamps'  apar t ment  and semen st ai ns 

f ound on Kamps'  bat hr obe showi ng nei t her  t he hai r  nor  t he semen 

i s hi s.   DNA t est i ng was not  avai l abl e i n 1981 when Ar mst r ong 

was t r i ed.   

A.  Newl y Di scover ed Evi dence 

¶166 I n or der  t o set  asi de a j udgment  of  convi ct i on,  newl y 

di scover ed evi dence must  be suf f i c i ent  t o est abl i sh t hat  a 

def endant ' s conv i ct i on was a mani f est  i nj ust i ce.   St at e v.  

Kr i eger ,  163 Wi s.  2d 241,  255,  471 N. W. 2d 599 ( Ct .  App.  1991) .   

The t est  f or  det er mi ni ng whet her  t he pr of f er ed evi dence i s 

" newl y di scover ed"  and whet her  i t  meet s t he t est  of  " mani f est  

i nj ust i ce"  has been expl ai ned many t i mes.   The cour t  of  appeal s 

c l ear l y set  out  t he cr i t er i a a def endant  must  meet  i n or der  t o 

over t ur n a convi ct i on based on an al l egat i on of  newl y di scover ed 

evi dence as f ol l ows:  

( 1)  The evi dence must  have come t o t he movi ng par t y ' s 
knowl edge af t er  a t r i al ;  ( 2)  t he movi ng par t y must  not  
have been negl i gent  i n seeki ng t o di scover  i t ;  ( 3)  t he 
evi dence must  be mat er i al  t o t he i ssue;  ( 4)  t he 
t est i mony must  not  be mer el y cumul at i ve t o t he 
t est i mony whi ch was i nt r oduced at  t r i al ;  and ( 5)  i t  
must  be r easonabl y pr obabl e t hat  a di f f er ent  r esul t  
woul d be r eached on a new t r i al .  

St at e v.  Aver y,  213 Wi s.  2d 228,  234,  570 N. W. 2d 573 ( Ct .  App.  

1997)  ( quot at i on omi t t ed) .   I f  a def endant  pr oves t he f i r st  f our  

cr i t er i a set  out  above by c l ear  and convi nci ng evi dence,  t hen 

" t he c i r cui t  cour t  must  det er mi ne whet her  a r easonabl e 
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pr obabi l i t y  exi st s t hat  a di f f er ent  r esul t  woul d be r eached"  at  

a new t r i al .   McCal l um,  208 Wi s.  2d at  473.   The f i r st  f our  

cr i t er i a ar e quest i ons of  f act  t hat  ar e not  cont est ed her e.   See 

i d.  at  473.  

¶167 The f i f t h cr i t er i on set s up a quest i on of  l aw,  i . e. ,  

whet her  t he f act s of  t he case meet  t he l egal  st andar d of  a 

r easonabl e pr obabi l i t y  of  a di f f er ent  out come at  a new t r i al . 1  

I d.   I n assessi ng t hi s l egal  st andar d,  we must  det er mi ne whet her  

t her e i s a r easonabl e pr obabi l i t y  t hat  a j ur y,  l ooki ng at  al l  

t he r el evant  evi dence i n r egar d t o whet her  t he def endant  di d or  

di d not  commi t  t he cr i me,  woul d have r easonabl e doubt  as t o t he 

def endant ' s gui l t .   See i d.  at  474.   Thi s exami nat i on r equi r es 

an assessment  of  al l  t he evi dence t o det er mi ne what  ef f ect ,  i f  

any,  t he newl y di scover ed evi dence woul d be r easonabl y pr obabl e 

t o have on a j ur y ' s ver di ct  at  a new t r i al .   See i d.  

¶168 Par t  of  t he new evi dence pr of f er ed by Ar mst r ong i s DNA 

t est i ng t hat  shows t hat  t wo head hai r s f ound on t he bel t  of  

Kamps'  bat hr obe di d not  come f r om hi m.   One of  t hese hai r s had 

pr evi ousl y been char act er i zed as " consi st ent "  wi t h Ar mst r ong' s 

hai r  and t he ot her  had been char act er i zed as " s i mi l ar "  t o 

Ar mst r ong' s hai r .   At  t r i al ,  Coi l a J.  Wegner ,  t he St at e' s 

                                                 
1 I  woul d appl y t he newl y di scover ed evi dence t est  as i t  

r epeat edl y has been st at ed,  r at her  t han change i t  t o omi t  t he 
r equi r ement  t hat  t he f i f t h cr i t er i on be pr oved by c l ear  and 
convi nci ng evi dence,  as t he maj or i t y opi ni on does.   Maj or i t y 
op. ,  ¶162.   However ,  I  do not  addr ess i t  f ur t her ,  and I  do not  
r equi r e t he f i f t h cr i t er i on t o be met  by c l ear  and convi nci ng 
evi dence i n t hi s di ssent ,  because i t  appear s t hat  t hi s change i n 
t he l aw was i nser t ed,  al bei t  wi t hout  any expl anat i on,  i nt o St at e 
v.  McCal l um,  208 Wi s.  2d 463,  474,  561 N. W. 2d 707 ( 1997) .  
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exper t ,  t est i f i ed about  her  exami nat i on of  ei ght  exhi bi t s t hat  

cont ai ned hai r  sampl es t aken f r om Kamps'  apar t ment .   She 

expl ai ned t hat  t he t est s she r an coul d excl ude donor s of  t he 

hai r ,  but  not  i dent i f y t hem.   When she descr i bed t he hai r  f r om 

ei ght  exhi bi t s,  she expl ai ned t hat  f or  36 of  t he hai r s she coul d 

not  excl ude Kamps as t he donor ,  but  she coul d excl ude Ar mst r ong 

as t he donor .   For  s i x of  t he hai r s, 2 she coul d not  excl ude 

Ar mst r ong as t he donor ,  but  she coul d excl ude Kamps.   Onl y t wo 

of  t he s i x hai r s f or  whi ch Ar mst r ong coul d not  be excl uded as 

t he donor  wer e subj ect ed t o DNA t est i ng.   For  t hi r t een hai r s,  

bot h Kamps and Ar mst r ong wer e excl uded as donor s,  and ni ne of  

t he hai r s she exami ned wer e ani mal  hai r s.   A r evi ew of  Wegner ' s 

t est i mony about  what  she sai d she coul d det er mi ne r el at i ve t o 

t he donor s of  t he hai r  sampl es i s hel pf ul  t o a consi der at i on of  

how i mpor t ant  t hi s newl y di scover ed evi dence i s i n t he cont ext  

of  al l  t he evi dence pr esent ed at  t r i al .   Wegner  t est i f i ed as 

f ol l ows:    

Q:  And what  was t he r esul t  of  t hat  compar i son? 

A:  The head hai r  was consi st ent  i n mi cr oscopi c 
char act er i st i cs wi t h t he st andar d head hai r  f r om 
Mi ss Kamps.   I t  was not  consi st ent  i n mi cr oscopi c 
char act er i st i cs wi t h t he hai r  f r om Mr .  Ar mst r ong.  

Q:  Now l et  me under st and somet hi ng.   Wi t h hai r  
anal ysi s when you say i t  was consi st ent ,  you can 
say t hat  t est i mony or  she cannot  be el i mi nat ed as 
t he sour ce of  t he hai r ? 

                                                 
2 Hai r s f or  whi ch Ar mst r ong coul d not  be excl uded as t he 

donor  wer e f ound i n Exhi bi t  27 ( hai r  t aken f r om t he bel t  of  
Kamps'  bat hr obe) ,  Exhi bi t  29 ( hai r  t aken f r om t he bat hr oom si nk)  
and Exhi bi t  43 ( hai r  t aken f r om bl ood and f ecal - l i ke mat er i al  
near  Kamps'  body) .  
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A:  That  i s cor r ect .  

Q:  And when you say i t  i s  not  consi st ent ,  you ar e 
sayi ng t hat  t hat  per son or  t hat  st andar d i s 
el i mi nat ed as a sour ce of  t he hai r ? 

A:  That  i s cor r ect .  

Q:  So t hi s i s a hai r  or  exami nat i on whi ch onl y 
excl udes a per son,  i t  never  i ncl udes a per son? 

A:  I t  coul d i ncl ude t hem,  but  not  i dent i f y t hem.  

Q:  I t  can' t  i dent i f y t hem? 

A:  No,  s i r .  

Q:  I s t her e any——any met hod what soever  s i mi l ar  t o 
f i nger pr i nt s f or  i dent i f y i ng a gi ven hai r  wi t h a 
gi ven per son wher e you can say wi t h a cer t ai nt y  or  
t o a r easonabl e degr ee of  sci ent i f i c  cer t ai nt y t hat  
t hi s hai r  came f r om t hi s per son? 

A:  I n ni net y- ni ne poi nt  ni ne ( 99. 9%)  per cent  of  t he 
t i me you coul d not  say t hat  a speci f i c  hai r  came 
f r om a speci f i c  i ndi v i dual .  

Wegner  was ver y c l ear  about  t he pr obat i ve val ue of  t he hai r  

anal yses she compl et ed.    

¶169 I n c l osi ng ar gument ,  t he di st r i ct  at t or ney ar gued t hat  

t he hai r s f or  whi ch Ar mst r ong coul d not  be excl uded as a donor  

wer e hi s and t i ed hi m t o Kamps'  mur der .   Ar mst r ong' s at t or ney 

ar gued t hat  t he hai r  anal yses di d not  i dent i f y Ar mst r ong as t he 

donor  of  t he hai r s,  onl y t hat  he coul d not  be excl uded as t he 

donor .   He al so ar gued t hat  Ar mst r ong admi t t ed t o bei ng i n 

Kamps'  apar t ment  ear l i er  i n t he eveni ng of  her  mur der  and 

because hai r s move f r eel y f r om pl ace t o pl ace,  t he pr esence of  

t hose hai r s di d not  show Ar mst r ong commi t t ed t he cr i mes.   He 

sai d t hat  t he movement  of  hai r  was demonst r at ed by t he pr esence 

of  ani mal  hai r s i n Kamps'  apar t ment  when she never  had a pet .   
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¶170 Ar mst r ong al so pr of f er ed DNA t est i ng of  semen sampl es 

f r om Kamps'  bat hr obe t hat  showed t hey came f r om Br i an Di l l man,  

Kamps'  f i ancé,  as newl y di scover ed evi dence.   At  t r i al ,  Wegner  

t est i f i ed t hat  a semen st ai n t hat  was f ound on Kamps'  bat hr obe 

was made by a Type- A secr et or .   She t est i f i ed t hat  bot h 

Ar mst r ong and Di l l man ar e Type- A secr et or s.   Wegner  al so 

t est i f i ed t hat  80% of  t he popul at i on ar e Type- A secr et or s.   I n 

c l osi ng ar gument ,  t he di st r i ct  at t or ney sai d t hat  t he semen 

st ai ns wer e made by a Type- A secr et or  and t hat  Ar mst r ong was a 

Type- A secr et or .   Ar mst r ong' s at t or ney car ef ul l y expl ai ned t hat  

Di l l man and Kamps wer e l over s,  and because Di l l man was a Type- A 

secr et or ,  t he semen was hi s.   He al so r epeat ed Wegner ' s 

t est i mony t hat  80% of  t he popul at i on ar e Type- A secr et or s.   

Ther ef or e,  t he j ur y coul d not  have gi ven t hi s evi dence much 

wei ght  i n r eachi ng i t s ver di ct  t hat  Ar mst r ong r aped and mur der ed 

Kamps.    

¶171 Ther e i s anot her  f act  t hat  bear s on t he t est i mony 

about  semen.   Kamps was r aped anal l y and vagi nal l y wi t h a har d 

obj ect .   Her  i nj ur i es wer e not  caused by bei ng r aped wi t h a body 

par t .   Ther ef or e,  i t  i s  under st andabl e t hat  semen f r om t he 

per pet r at or  of  t hi s cr i me was not  l ef t  at  t he cr i me scene.  

¶172 I t  i s  i mpor t ant  t o keep i n mi nd t hat  t he DNA evi dence 

Ar mst r ong pr of f er s i s not  exoner at i ng evi dence as DNA evi dence 

can somet i mes be.   I nst ead,  t hi s evi dence af f ect s onl y one par t  

of  one of  t he f i ve cat egor i es of  evi dence t he St at e pr esent ed t o 

t he j ur y.   And,  i t  does not  af f ect  Ar mst r ong' s def ense:   t hat  he 

was at  Kamps'  apar t ment ,  but  not  at  t he t i me of  her  mur der .   
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Physi cal  evi dence t hat  was pr esent ed t o t he j ur y i ncl uded 

Ar mst r ong' s f i nger pr i nt  on a bong i n Kamps'  apar t ment ; 3 s i x  

hai r s;  possi bl e connect i on t o t he semen st ai ns on Kamps'  

bat hr obe;  human bl ood ar ound al l  10 of  Ar mst r ong' s f i nger s and 

ar ound hi s t oes,  except  f or  hi s t wo l i t t l e t oes,  and bl ood on 

hi s wat ch;  bl ood smear i ng on Kamps'  body and f ace,  as t hough she 

had been " f i nger - pai nt ed"  wi t h her  own bl ood; 4 Ar mst r ong' s 

deposi t  of  $315 l at er  on t he mor ni ng of  t he mur der ,  when t he 

$400 Ar mst r ong had pai d t o Kamps was mi ssi ng f r om her  apar t ment  

af t er  t he mur der ;  and t he l ack of  a f or ced ent r y i nt o Kamps'  

apar t ment  t he ni ght  of  t he mur der .   The DNA t est  r esul t s do not  

af f ect  most  of  t hi s physi cal  evi dence.    

¶173 The maj or i t y opi ni on i mpl i es t hat  t he t est i mony of  Dr .  

Edwar d Bl ake t hat  he coul d not  det ect  bl ood when he exami ned a 

pi ece of  c l ot h and accompanyi ng sl i des pr epar ed f r om t he 

scr api ngs f r om Ar mst r ong' s t humbs and gr eat  t oes under mi nes 

Wegner ' s t est i mony t hat  she det ect ed human bl ood ar ound al l  

Ar mst r ong' s f i nger s and ar ound most  of  hi s t oes.   Maj or i t y op. ,  

¶95.   However ,  t he c i r cui t  cour t  f ound t hat  Bl ake' s t est i mony i n 

t hi s r egar d was not  cr edi bl e.   Thi s i s a f i ndi ng t hat  we ar e not  

f r ee t o di sr egar d.   Mi cr o- Manager s,  I nc.  v.  Gr egor y,  147 Wi s.  2d 

                                                 
3 Thi s i s t he onl y f i nger pr i nt  of  Ar mst r ong' s f ound i n t he 

apar t ment ,  whi ch i s cur i ous gi ven t hat  Ar mst r ong t est i f i ed t hat  
he dr ank a hal f  gl ass of  or ange j ui ce,  a bot t l e of  beer  and 
pl ayed musi c on Kamps'  t ur nt abl e when he was t her e.  

4 Ms.  Wegner  t est i f i ed t hat  she di d not  check t he bat hr oom 
f or  bl ood because she was not  asked t o do so.   Ther ef or e,  t he 
j ur y hear d no t est i mony about  whet her  t he mur der er  c l eaned up i n 
Kamps'  bat hr oom bef or e l eavi ng t he scene.  
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500,  512,  434 N. W. 2d 97 ( Ct .  App.  1988)  ( t he det er mi nat i on of  a 

wi t ness' s cr edi bi l i t y  i s  f or  t he c i r cui t  cour t ) .   Ther ef or e,  t he 

bl ood evi dence pot ent i al l y  l i nki ng Ar mst r ong t o t he mur der  has 

not  been r ef ut ed by t he def ense,  and r emai ns par t  of  t he St at e' s  

case.    

¶174 I n r ef usi ng t o appl y t he newl y di scover ed evi dence 

t est ,  t he maj or i t y opi ni on i mpr oper l y i gnor es t he mount ai n of  

ot her  evi dence i ncr i mi nat i ng Ar mst r ong t hat  i s not  af f ect ed i n 

any way by t he DNA t est  r esul t s at  i ssue her e:   ( 1)  t he t i me 

evi dence pr esent ed by t he St at e,  showi ng t hat  Ar mst r ong coul d 

not  have been at  Kamps'  apar t ment  bet ween 9: 10 and 9: 30 p. m.  as 

he t est i f i ed at  t r i al  t hat  he was;  ( 2)  Ar mst r ong' s f i nger pr i nt  

i n Kamps'  apar t ment ;  ( 3)  t he eyewi t ness t est i mony t hat  pl aced 

Ar mst r ong' s car  at  Kamps'  apar t ment  at  t he t i me of  t he mur der ;  

( 4)  t he eyewi t ness t est i mony pl aci ng Ar mst r ong at  Kamps'  

apar t ment  at  t he t i me of  t he mur der ;  ( 5)  t he mi ssi ng $400 f r om 

Kamps'  apar t ment  and Ar mst r ong' s deposi t  of  $315 t he next  day; 5 

( 6)  t he l ack of  a f or ced ent r y i nt o Kamps'  apar t ment ,  suggest i ng 

she vol unt ar i l y  l et  i n her  mur der er ;  ( 7)  t he r omant i c i nt er est  

Ar mst r ong had i n Kamps and her  r ebuf f  of  t hat  i nt er est ;  ( 8)  t he 

human bl ood ar ound al l  10 of  Ar mst r ong' s f i nger s and on hi s  t oes 

                                                 
5 Ar mst r ong di d not  ment i on hi s t r i p t o t he bank,  but  

i nst ead sai d t hat  af t er  l eavi ng May' s apar t ment ,  he dr ove ar ound 
i n Br i t t i ngham and James Madi son par ks l ooki ng f or  a sour ce of  
cocai ne bef or e goi ng t o Kamps'  apar t ment .   He t ol d pol i ce t hat  
he got  some cocai ne f r om a " wel l - dr essed"  Af r i can- Amer i can mal e 
who was about  " f i ve- seven,  f i ve ni ne"  wi t h a medi um " af r o"  and 
" a must ache t hat  t ur ns i nt o s i debur ns. "   Ar mst r ong changed t hi s 
det ai l ed st or y af t er  he l ear ned t hat  l aw enf or cement  knew t hat  
he had deposi t ed $315 t he mor ni ng Kamps'  body was di scover ed.  
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and t he bl ood on hi s wat ch;  ( 9)  t he par ki ng t i cket  showi ng 

Ar mst r ong' s car  was not  par ked near  t he back door  of  May' s 

apar t ment  wher e he sai d he ent er ed;  ( 10)  t he t est i mony t hat  

someone was hear d ent er i ng May' s  apar t ment  bui l di ng bet ween 3: 30 

and 5: 00 t he mor ni ng Kamps was ki l l ed;  ( 11)  t he r epet i t i ve l i es 

Ar mst r ong t ol d t o l aw enf or cement  and t o t he j ur y;  ( 12)  t he l ack 

of  t r i al  t est i mony by Ar mst r ong' s br ot her ,  who coul d have 

cor r obor at ed Ar mst r ong' s t est i mony t hat  hi s br ot her  was t he 

sour ce of  t he $315 Ar mst r ong deposi t ed and who coul d have 

ver i f i ed par t  of  Ar mst r ong' s al i bi ;  and ( 13)  t he l ack of  an 

af f i davi t  f r om Ar mst r ong' s br ot her  f or  t hese mot i ons.   The 

maj or i t y opi ni on er r s i n i t s ut t er  di sr egar d of  t hi s mount ai n of  

evi dence.   

¶175 I n r egar d t o t he i ssue of  t i me,  t he maj or i t y opi ni on 

r epeat s Ar mst r ong' s mant r a t hat  he l ef t  hi s apar t ment  i n 

Fi t chbur g at  9: 10 p. m. ,  dr ove t o May' s apar t ment  i n Madi son and 

dr opped her  of f ,  dr ove t o Kamps'  apar t ment ,  spent  about  15 

mi nut es at  Kamps'  apar t ment  dr i nki ng a beer ,  dr i nki ng some 

or ange j ui ce and pl ayi ng musi c and t hen dr ove t o Br ent  Goodman' s 
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house t o buy cocai ne,  ar r i v i ng t her e by 9: 30 p. m. 6  Maj or i t y op. ,  

¶¶22- 24.   Ar mst r ong had t o pl ace hi msel f  at  Kamps'  bet ween 9: 10 

and hi s ar r i val  at  Goodman' s at  9: 30,  i f  he was t o cover  f or  any 

evi dence he may have l ef t  at  Kamps'  apar t ment  at  t he t i me of  t he 

mur der .   However ,  i t  i s  not  possi bl e t o do al l  Ar mst r ong says he 

di d i n t he 20 mi nut es bet ween when he l ef t  hi s  apar t ment  and 

ar r i ved at  Goodman' s.   I  agr ee wi t h t he c i r cui t  cour t  t hat  i f  

t he j ur y had bel i eved Ar mst r ong' s t i me evi dence,  he woul d not  

have been convi ct ed.   

¶176 The maj or i t y opi ni on al so i gnor es how t he i mmedi at e 

and unwaver i ng descr i pt i on of  a car  t hat  mat ched Ar mst r ong' s car  

as t he vehi c l e seen at  Kamps'  apar t ment  at  t he t i me of  t he 

mur der ,  st r engt hens t he eyewi t ness' s i dent i f i cat i on of  Ar mst r ong 

                                                 
6 I n hi s br i ef  t o t hi s cour t ,  Ar mst r ong i ncl udes " Mapquest "  

pr i nt out s showi ng dr i v i ng t i mes,  whi ch he i mpl i es,  show t hat  he 
coul d have done al l  t hat  he al l eges bef or e goi ng t o Br ent  
Goodman' s at  9: 30 p. m.   The St at e pr oper l y obj ect ed t o t hi s 
pr esent at i on as evi dence never  pr esent ed at  t r i al .   However ,  
even usi ng t he t i mes f r om Mapquest ,  i t  i s  not  possi bl e t o do 
what  Ar mst r ong sai d he di d because f r om hi s apar t ment  t o Kamps'  
addr ess,  Mapquest  l i s t s 12 mi nut es;  f r om Kamps'  t o May' s one 
mi nut e and f r om Kamps'  t o Goodman' s 10 mi nut es,  a t ot al  of  23 
mi nut es.   Thi s i s not  t he r out e t hat  Ar mst r ong t est i f i ed he 
dr ove,  i n r egar d t o hi s st op at  Kamps'  bef or e he went  t o 
Goodman' s,  because he sai d he f i r st  dr opped May of f  at  her  
apar t ment  and changed f r om hi s car  t o Kamps'  car .   However ,  even 
addi ng t he number s f r om Mapquest  shows a l apse of  23 mi nut es 
af t er  he l ef t  hi s apar t ment  i n Fi t chbur g,  when he had onl y 20 
mi nut es avai l abl e bef or e Goodman t est i f i ed he was at  hi s house.   
The 23 mi nut es f r om Mapquest  al so i ncl udes no t i me f or  get t i ng 
peopl e i n and out  of  t he car ,  changi ng car s and goi ng i nt o 
Kamps'  apar t ment  f or  15 mi nut es as Ar mst r ong sai d he di d,  comi ng 
out ,  st ar t i ng up t he car  and dr i v i ng t o Goodman' s.   The 23 
mi nut es al so al l ocat es not hi ng f or  al l  t he t r af f i c  l i ght s al ong 
t he r out es shown on t he Mapquest  pr i nt out s.   However  you sl i ce 
i t ,  Ar mst r ong coul d not  have done al l  t hat  he sai d he di d i n 20 
mi nut es.    
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as t he man who dr ove t hat  car  and went  i n and out  of  Kamps'  

apar t ment  t hr ee t i mes af t er  mi dni ght  on t he ni ght  Kamps was 

mur der ed.   The maj or i t y opi ni on di mi ni shes Ri cci e Or ebi a' s 

i dent i f i cat i on of  Ar mst r ong as t he man Or ebi a saw because Or ebi a 

was a r el uct ant  wi t ness and had been hypnot i zed.   However ,  

Or ebi a gave an accur at e descr i pt i on of  Ar mst r ong' s car  l ong 

bef or e bei ng hypnot i zed.   That  descr i pt i on never  changed.  

¶177 The j ur y ' s deci s i on r ef l ect s i t s consi der at i on of  al l  

f i ve cat egor i es7 of  evi dence t he St at e pr esent ed.   I t  cannot  be 

i gnor ed t hat  i f  t he j ur y had bel i eved Ar mst r ong' s t r i al  

t est i mony about  hi s bei ng at  Kamps'  ear l i er  i n t he eveni ng,  

whi l e al so bel i evi ng t he t wo st r ands of  hai r  wer e hi s,  t he j ur y 

woul d have acqui t t ed hi m.   Thi s i s so because t he j ur y was 

of f er ed an expl anat i on of  how Ar mst r ong' s hai r s coul d have 

at t ached t o t he bat hr obe bel t .   As t he cr i me scene phot o shows,  

t he bat hr obe bel t  was pl aced over  Kamps af t er  she was mur der ed 

and smear ed wi t h her  own bl ood.   Ther ef or e,  t hat  bel t  must  have 

been el sewher e i n t he apar t ment ,  wher e i t  coul d easi l y have 

pi cked up t he hai r s t hat  wer e f ound on i t ,  pr i or  t o i t s bei ng 

pl aced on Kamps'  body.   I f  t he j ur y had bel i eved Ar mst r ong,  t hey 

woul d have bel i eved t he expl anat i on Ar mst r ong' s at t or ney 

pr ovi ded.   However ,  t he j ur y saw Ar mst r ong t est i f y.   The j ur y 

di d not  bel i eve hi m.   By r ef usi ng t o appl y t he newl y di scover ed 

                                                 
7 I n or der  t o summar i ze t he evi dence t he St at e pr esent ed,  

t he di st r i ct  at t or ney suggest ed i t  r epr esent ed f i ve cat egor i es:   
t i me evi dence,  t est i moni al  evi dence of  Ri cci e Or ebi a and Laur a 
Chaf ee,  physi cal  evi dence,  t est i moni al  evi dence of  Ar mst r ong' s 
i nt er est  i n Kamps whi ch she r ebuf f ed and Ar mst r ong' s l i es t o 
pol i ce and on t he wi t ness st and.   
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evi dence t est ,  t he maj or i t y opi ni on i gnor es t hat  cr uci al  

cr edi bi l i t y  det er mi nat i on.   

¶178 The St at e pr esent ed an ext r aor di nar y amount  of  

evi dence,  f r om a f i nger pr i nt  t o eyewi t ness i dent i f i cat i on of  

bot h Ar mst r ong and hi s car ,  t o pr ove t hat  Ar mst r ong was Kamps'  

mur der er .   The quest i on t he ev i dence pr esent ed at  t r i al  was,  

" Gi ven t he evi dence bef or e you,  di d Ar mst r ong mur der  Kamps?"   

Taki ng away a pi ece of  evi dence f r om al l  t hat  was pr esent ed i n 

t hi s case does not  change t he ul t i mat e quest i on.   Ar mst r ong 

t est i f i ed t hat  he was i n Kamps'  apar t ment .   Hi s def ense was t hat  

he was not  t her e when she was ki l l ed.   He sai d he was wi t h hi s 

br ot her  f or  par t  of  t he t i me and wi t h May f or  par t  of  i t .   Hi s 

br ot her  di d not  t est i f y and May coul d not  say when he r et ur ned 

t o her  apar t ment .   Evi dence t hat  woul d show he coul d not  have 

been at  Kamps'  apar t ment  when t he eyewi t ness sai d he was woul d 

be si gni f i cant  i n r egar d t o t he r esul t s at  a new t r i al .   The DNA 

evi dence pr esent ed her e does not  af f ect  t he t i me t est i mony and 

t he eyewi t ness t est i mony of  bot h Ar mst r ong' s car  and of  hi m,  

whi ch wer e cr i t i cal  t o hi s convi ct i on.  

¶179 The newl y di scover ed evi dence of f er ed her e i s much 

di f f er ent  i n i t s i mpact  f r om t he evi dence t hat  was pr esent ed i n 

St at e v.  Hi cks,  202 Wi s.  2d 150,  549 N. W. 2d 435 ( 1996) . 8  I n 

Hi cks,  t he quest i on was whet her  Hi cks had ever  been i n t he 

                                                 
8 St at e v.  Hi cks,  202 Wi s.  2d 150,  549 N. W. 2d 435 ( 1996) ,  

was not  ar gued as a newl y di scover ed evi dence case.   Nor  coul d 
i t  have been,  because DNA t est s wer e avai l abl e and known t o 
Hi cks'  at t or ney,  who chose not  t o do t hem f or  what  he bel i eved 
wer e t act i cal  r easons.  
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vi ct i m' s apar t ment .   Ther e wer e onl y t wo pi eces of  evi dence 

t y i ng hi m t o t hat  apar t ment  at  t r i al ,  one of  whi ch was l at er  

di spr oved.   The i mpact  of  t he evi dence i n Hi cks i s a f ar  cr y 

f r om t he i mpact  of  t he DNA evi dence Ar mst r ong pr of f er s because 

of  t he over whel mi ng amount  of  evi dence t hat  was pr esent ed t o t he 

j ur y i n Ar mst r ong' s case.   Accor di ngl y,  I  concl ude t hat  t he 

newl y di scover ed DNA evi dence does not  make i t  r easonabl y 

pr obabl e t hat  a di f f er ent  r esul t  woul d be r eached.  

B.  Real  Cont r over sy Not  Ful l y Tr i ed 

¶180 I nst ead of  appl yi ng t he newl y di scover ed evi dence t est  

as I  have above,  a t est  t hat  Ar mst r ong f ai l s t o pass,  t he 

maj or i t y r ever ses Ar mst r ong' s j udgment  of  conv i ct i on on t he 

t heor y t hat  t he r eal  cont r over sy was not  f ul l y  t r i ed.   Maj or i t y 

op. ,  ¶156.   I n doi ng so,  t he maj or i t y opi ni on mi sappl i es our  

pr ecedent  and equat es t he i dea of  t he " mat t er  not  bei ng f ul l y 

t r i ed"  wi t h new sci ent i f i c  i dent i f i cat i on pr ocedur es i n a way 

t hat  t hr eat ens t o r eopen convi ct i ons st at ewi de ever y t i me a 

sci ent i f i c  i mpr ovement  occur s,  r egar dl ess of  t he l ack of  a 

pr obabl e ef f ect  on t he i ssues under l y i ng t he j ur y ' s ver di ct .   

Because t he f act s of  t hi s case do not  meet  t he cr i t er i a 

necessar y t o r ever si ng a convi ct i on under  our  l ong- st andi ng 

j ur i spr udence r egar di ng t he r eal  cont r over sy bei ng f ul l y t r i ed,  

I  woul d not  r ever se t he cour t  of  appeal s on t hi s basi s.  

¶181 The abi l i t y  of  t hi s cour t  t o set  asi de a convi ct i on 

t hr ough t he use of  our  di scr et i onar y- r ever sal  power s has of t en 
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been di scussed. 9  I n St at e v.  Schumacher ,  144 Wi s.  2d 388,  424 

N. W. 2d 672 ( 1988) ,  we i dent i f i ed t wo avenues f or  i t s use:   when 

t he r eal  cont r over sy has not  been f ul l y t r i ed and when t her e has  

been a mi scar r i age of  j ust i ce.   I d.  at  400.   The pr oper  anal ysi s 

of  a mot i on t o set  asi de a convi ct i on based on our  

di scr et i onar y- r ever sal  power s was car ef ul l y l ai d out  i n 

Schumacher  and many cases si nce t hen.  

[ U] nder  t he " r eal  cont r over sy not  f ul l y  t r i ed"  
cat egor y,  t wo di f f er ent  s i t uat i ons wer e i ncl uded:   ( 1)  
Ei t her  t he j ur y was not  gi ven an oppor t uni t y t o hear  
i mpor t ant  t est i mony t hat  bor e on an i mpor t ant  i ssue i n 
t he case,  or  ( 2)  t he j ur y had bef or e i t  t est i mony or  
evi dence whi ch had been i mpr oper l y admi t t ed,  and t hi s  
mat er i al  obscur ed a cr uci al  i ssue and pr event ed t he 
r eal  cont r over sy f r om bei ng f ul l y t r i ed.  

Under  t he second pr ong of  t he di scr et i onar y-
r ever sal  st at ut e,  t he " mi scar r i age of  j ust i ce"  pr ong,  
t he case l aw made cl ear  t hat ,  i n or der  t o gr ant  a 
di scr et i onar y r ever sal  under  t hi s pr ong,  t he cour t  
woul d have t o concl ude t hat  t her e woul d be a 
subst ant i al  pr obabi l i t y  t hat  a di f f er ent  r esul t  woul d 
be l i kel y on r et r i al .    

I d.  at  400- 01 ( c i t i ng St at e v.  Wyss,  124 Wi s.  2d 681,  741,  370 

N. W. 2d 745 ( 1985) ) .   As we expl ai ned i n Schumacher  and have 

r epeat ed many t i mes si nce,  " t hi s br oad di scr et i onar y- r evi ew 

power  .  .  .  i s  .  .  .  t o be used spar i ngl y,  and onl y i n 

except i onal  c i r cumst ances. "   Schumacher ,  144 Wi s.  2d at  407 

( c i t i ng St at e v.  Cuyl er ,  110 Wi s.  2d 133,  141,  327 N. W. 2d 662 

( 1983) ) .  

                                                 
9 Our  di scr et i onar y power  t o r ever se j udgment s ar i ses f r om 

bot h st at ut e and common l aw.   Vol l mer  v.  Luet y,  156 Wi s.  2d 1,  
13,  456 N. W. 2d 797 ( 1990) .   
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¶182 The maj or i t y opi ni on seems t o r el y on a bel i ef  t hat  

t he hai r  t est i mony " obscur ed a cr uci al  i ssue, "  t her eby 

pr event i ng t he r eal  cont r over sy f r om bei ng f ul l y t r i ed.   

Maj or i t y op. ,  ¶115.   I t s di scussi on f ocuses mai nl y on Hi cks.   

Maj or i t y op. ,  ¶¶117- 35.   The maj or i t y opi ni on bases i t s deci s i on 

on what  i t  char act er i zes as t he " st r i k i ng s i mi l ar i t i es"  bet ween 

Hi cks and t he pr esent  case.   Maj or i t y op. ,  ¶116.    

¶183 I  do not  agr ee t hat  Hi cks and t he pr esent  case ar e 

s i mi l ar .   I nst ead,  as I  expl ai n bel ow,  t he t wo cases ar e 

di ssi mi l ar  i n al l  r espect s t hat  ar e mat er i al  t o whet her  t he r eal  

cont r over sy was f ul l y t r i ed.   I n Hi cks,  t he i ssue t he maj or i t y 

opi ni on t ur ned upon was whet her  Hi cks'  c l ai m t hat  he had never  

been i n t he v i ct i m' s apar t ment  was f ul l y t r i ed due t o Hi cks'  

at t or ney choosi ng not  t o pur sue DNA t est i ng of  hai r s r ecover ed 

t her e.   Hi cks,  202 Wi s.  2d at  163- 64.    

¶184 Hi cks'  pr esence i n t he v i ct i m' s  apar t ment ,  or  t he l ack 

of  hi s pr esence,  was pi vot al  t o t he case because Hi cks i s an 

Af r i can- Amer i can and t he vi ct i m sai d t hat  no ot her  Af r i can-

Amer i can mal e had been i n her  apar t ment  except  t he per pet r at or  

of  t he cr i me.   I d.  at  155.   Fi ve Af r i can- Amer i can hai r s wer e 

f ound i n t he v i c t i m' s apar t ment .   I t  was t he St at e' s t heor y at  

t r i al  t hat  al l  f i ve hai r s came f r om t he same per son:   t he 

per pet r at or .   I d.  at  165.   I t  was Hi cks'  def ense " t hat  he had 

never  been i n [ t he v i ct i m' s]  apar t ment  and coul d not  have been 

t he sour ce of  hai r s t hat  wer e f ound t her e. "   I d.  at  163.   

Al t hough DNA t est i ng was avai l abl e at  t he t i me of  Hi cks'  t r i al ,  
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hi s t r i al  counsel  chose not  t o have t he hai r  evi dence DNA 

t est ed.   I d.  at  155.    

¶185 Af t er  Hi cks'  convi ct i on,  DNA anal ysi s was per f or med on 

t he hai r  speci mens.   The r esul t s obt ai ned f r om some of  t he 

speci mens wer e i nconcl usi ve,  but  on t wo speci mens,  Hi cks was 

r ul ed out  as t he sour ce of  t he DNA.   I d.  at  156.   Ther ef or e,  t he 

f ol l owi ng syl l ogi sm was set  up:   i f  al l  t he hai r  came f r om t he 

same per son,  t he hai r s wer e f r om an Af r i can- Amer i can,  and t he 

onl y Af r i can- Amer i can who had been i n t he v i ct i m' s apar t ment  was 

t he per pet r at or  of  t he cr i me,  t hen Hi cks coul d not  have been t he 

per pet r at or .   Accor di ngl y,  we concl uded t hat  t he i ssue of  

whet her  Hi cks had been i n t he v i ct i m' s apar t ment  was not  f ul l y  

t r i ed and Hi cks was ent i t l ed t o a new t r i al .   I d.  at  171- 72.  

¶186 I n t he pr esent  case,  as i n Hi cks,  hai r  r ecover ed f r om 

t he cr i me scene was i ncul pat or y of  t he def endant  at  t he t i me of  

t r i al ,  and some of  i t  was l at er  pr oved not  t o be t he 

def endant ' s.   However ,  t her e t he s i mi l ar i t y t o Hi cks ends.   

Ar mst r ong sai d he had been i n Kamps'  apar t ment .   Ther ef or e,  

f i ndi ng hai r  consi st ent  wi t h Ar mst r ong' s di d not  under mi ne hi s  

def ense.   The t i me evi dence and t he eyewi t ness i dent i f i cat i ons 

of  hi s car  and of  hi m at  Kamps'  apar t ment  dur i ng t he t i me when 

she was mur der ed under mi ned hi s def ense ext ensi vel y.    

¶187 Ther e i s anot her  poi nt  t hat  bear s ment i oni ng wi t h 

r egar d t o t he DNA evi dence at  i ssue her e.   What  was pr esent ed at  

t r i al  was not  " f al se evi dence, "  a char act er i zat i on of  

Ar mst r ong' s t hat  t he cour t  of  appeal s pi cked up.   St at e v.  

Ar mst r ong,  Nos.  2001AP2789 and 2002AP2979,  unpubl i shed sl i p op. ,  
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¶37 ( Wi s.  Ct .  App.  May 27,  2004) .   Wegner ' s t est i mony about  her  

anal yses of  t he hai r  sampl es expl ai ned t hat  Ar mst r ong coul d not  

be excl uded as t he donor  of  s i x hai r s by t he t est s t hat  she r an.   

She al so expl ai ned t hat  t hose t est s coul d not  i dent i f y a hai r ' s  

donor .   Ther e was not hi ng " f al se"  about  t hi s t est i mony.   I t  

accur at el y descr i bed t he capabi l i t y  of  t he t est s she conduct ed 

r el at i ve t o t he hai r s anal yzed.   That  t her e ar e mor e accur at e 

DNA t est s now avai l abl e does not  change t he capabi l i t y  of  

Wegner ' s t est s or  cause her  t est i mony about  t hem t o become 

" f al se. "  

¶188 I n t he pr esent  case,  t he maj or i t y opi ni on s t at es,  

" Fi r st  t he j ur y di d not  hear  i mpor t ant  DNA evi dence t hat  bor e on 

an i mpor t ant  i ssue of  t he case. "   Maj or i t y op. ,  ¶115.   Of  cour se 

t he j ur y di d not  hear  t he DNA ev i dence.   I t  di d not  exi st  at  t he 

t i me of  t he t r i al .   Li kewi se,  t he exper t  t est i mony r egar di ng t he 

hai r s f ound i n Kamps'  apar t ment  was pr oper l y admi t t ed at  t he 

t i me of  t he t r i al .   I t  st r ai ns t he meani ng of  " f ul l y  t r i ed"  t o 

suggest  t hat  Ar mst r ong' s case was not  f ul l y  t r i ed because t he 

sci ent i f i c  bases f or  physi cal  evi dence set  f or t h i n t he t r i al  

wer e onl y st at e- of - t he- ar t  at  t he t i me of  t he t r i al ,  but  not  

st at e- of - t he- ar t  at  pr esent .   Us i ng t he maj or i t y ' s st andar d,  t he 

r eal  cont r over sy can never  be f ul l y t r i ed because sci ent i f i c  

advances i n evi dence gat her i ng and anal ysi s wi l l  cont i nue t o 

i mpr ove.   The maj or i t y opi ni on' s expl anat i on of  how t he DNA 

evi dence f i t s i nt o t he t heor y t hat  t he r eal  cont r over sy was not  

f ul l y  t r i ed shows t he f al l acy i n usi ng t hat  t est  and i s an 

addi t i onal  r eason why t he pr oper  avenue t o handl e cases wher e 
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new evi dence i s obt ai ned i s,  as I  have expl ai ned above,  t he 

newl y di scover ed evi dence t est .   The newl y di scover ed evi dence 

t est  i s  best  sui t ed t o anal yzi ng t he new evi dence i n t he cont ext  

of  i t s  i mpact  on al l  t he ot her  evi dence pr esent ed at  t r i al .   

Ther ef or e,  f or  t he f or egoi ng r easons,  I  r ej ect  t he use of  

di scr et i onar y r ever sal  under  t he r ubr i c of  t he r eal  cont r over sy 

not  f ul l y  t r i ed.  

I I .   CONCLUSI ON 

¶189 Accor di ngl y,  because I  concl ude t hat  t he DNA evi dence 

does not  cr eat e a r easonabl e pr obabi l i t y  t hat  a di f f er ent  r esul t  

woul d be r eached at  a new t r i al ,  and because I  concl ude t hat  t he 

r eal  cont r over sy,  whet her  Ar mst r ong r aped and mur der ed Char i se 

Kamps,  was f ul l y t r i ed i n 1981,  I  r espect f ul l y di ssent  f r om t he 

maj or i t y opi ni on.  

¶190 I  am aut hor i zed t o st at e t hat  Just i ces JON P.  WI LCOX 

and DAVI D T.  PROSSER j oi n t hi s di ssent .  
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